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TESTIMONIALS

TESTIMONIALS
VARD has delivered a broad range of highly specialized vessels in 2017. Together with our
customers we have developed and built state-of-the-art vessels and solutions for the oil and
gas industry, fisheries and the aquaculture business.

Muninn
A Fish Feed Barge of VARD 8 52 design, delivered from Vard Aukra to Laxar Fiskeldi.

Salmon farming is a growing industry in Iceland, and it is important for us to consider all aspects
that will drive further development in the industry, and the selection of equipment is one of the key
elements we are looking at.
Together with VARD, we focused on efficient, safe and sustainable fish farming, developing a fish
feed barge and a service vessel designed to support the daily work and maintenance of the fish farm
installation. Both have commenced operations in Iceland since the delivery, providing an excellent
work environment for the crew.
The cooperation between Laxar Fiskeldi and VARD has been successful and we are pleased to have
chosen their products for our facilities.
Helgi G. Sigurðsson
CEO of Laxar Fiskeldi
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Barys
A Module Carrier Vessel of VARD 9 28 design, delivered from Vard Braila to Kazmortransflot.

On behalf of Kazmortransflot I wish to thank VARD for their professionalism, dedication, profound
leadership qualities and shipbuilding expertise in the construction and delivery of the module
carrier vessels Barys, Berkut and Sunkar. With these deliveries VARD has contributed to developing
and strengthening the fleet of the Republic of Kazakhstan.
The cooperation between Kazmortransflot and VARD stands as a positive example of successful
interaction within the framework of the important “Future Growth Project” of Tengizchevroil, and
I’m certain our collaboration will enrich both companies and serve as a solid foundation for future
promising projects and big achievements.
We hope for a continuous, fruitful, and mutually beneficial cooperation focused on the progressive
development within shipbuilding and shipping in our countries.
Marat Ormanov

General Director of Kazmortransflot “NMSC” LLP
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CEO LETTER

CEO LETTER

Dear Valued Shareholders,
Through more than 25 years in VARD
and the shipbuilding industry, I have
experienced several changes in our core
markets. Each downturn has been met
with unique strategies by VARD, and
we have emerged from the challenges
stronger and more robust than before.
Unfortunately, the last years’ downturn
in the offshore market has been longer,
deeper and more demanding than former
declines, and we have also in 2017 been
affected by low activity and restructuring
processes in the oil and gas industry.
The foundation of VARD’s recent strategy
is to diversify into engineering- and
technology-intensive vessels in new
market segments and geographies. This
has been a fruitful business plan for the
company, increasing our order book to a
higher level than 2015 and 2016. The order
book today comprises 48 newbuildings, in
addition to maintenance and conversion
of vessels, and other assignments within
ship design, equipment and solutions.
While remaining a major global designer
and shipbuilder of specialized vessels and
solutions for the Energy sector, VARD also
continues to grow its presence in the focus
areas we call Adventure, Seafood and
Security. Order intake in 2016 and 2017
testify the trust achieved in new markets.
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One highly appreciated milestone achieved
in 2017 was the contract of the research
expedition vessel for Rosellinis Four-10.
Developed in close cooperation with the
customer, the vessel is tailor-made with
the objective of developing knowledge
and sustainable solutions to address the
oceanic environmental challenges. We
built the first vessel for this shipowner
about 30 years ago, and we are excited
and humbled to be chosen as the trusted
partner in this unique project. Another key
milestone was the contract for the very
first electric hybrid cruise icebreaker with
LNG propulsion for PONANT. This is a
really exciting project for us, as VARD
has a deep experience in icebreaking
technology. Over generations, we have
built several highly advanced vessels
developed for operations in polar areas.
Strong health, safety and environmental
(HSE) practices are foundations for
VARD’s operations.“Vision Zero”, our step
change aspiration since 2005, aims to
avoid any mishaps, for both people and
the environment. Over years, our efforts
on safety have increased, and our strong
HSE results have been recognized in
the industry. But, after the year-end, we
experienced the worst imaginable, with a
fatality in Romania in January 2018. One
of our colleagues at Vard Tulcea passed
away in a tragic accident at the shipyard.
Our thoughts go to his family and friends.
We have taken several steps to reinforce
safety measures, to get back to our

positive HSE trend throughout all locations
in the company.
I am proud of VARD employees’
enthusiasm and effort in the transition
to new markets, and the value-driven
focus in all of what we do. Our core
values, Craftsmanship, Salesmanship
and Fellowship, are our strongest tools
to build trust with all our stakeholders,
and to succeed during demanding times.
Going forward, we will continue our
strategic focus in diversified markets, on
innovations and further improvements.
VARD is well positioned in a growing
expedition cruise market, and we have
strengthened our position in fisheries and
aquaculture. We also see positive signs
of recovery in medium to long-term in the
broader oil and gas industry, but we know
there are still many challenges ahead of
us. As one team, we will do our best to
build a strong and sustainable company
for the future.
Thank you for your continued support
and trust in VARD.

Sincerely,

Mr. Roy Reite

Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,
VARD’s global presence with nine
strategically located shipyards and several
specialized subsidiaries in four continents
allows VARD to collaborate closely with
its wide network of partners and gain
proximity to customers all over the world.
The Company’s strength is enhanced by
its links to Fincantieri Group, which shares
the same philosophy in always placing
our clients at the center of our attention,
wherever their business is located and
run.
VARD has over years, experienced several
cyclical changes in its markets, and again,
the company has proven the ability to
quickly turn around, and gain new
business opportunities. Backed by its
impressive and proud shipbuilding
history, VARD’s determination to stake
out the course in new markets has been
supported by an intrinsic attitude to create
and enhance value for the clients’ business
plans by implementing innovative
solutions for the entire value chain.

VARD’s track record in delivering
innovative solutions is the result of a
clear strategy aimed at building safe,
cost-effective and user-friendly vessels
in which performance is complemented
by integration of the hull and systems
combined with an extended smart use
of digitalization.
In addition, VARD can leverage on the
synergy and cross-fertilization of the
best practice and solutions between
the Company and Fincantieri in order
to deliver unique and bespoke products
highly valued by the ship owners.
Determined to remain the best partner
to our customers, we are constantly
extending our interaction with them
from the very early design stage to after
ship delivery, making available our asset
integrity maintenance tools and
competences during the entire operating
life of the vessel.

some I particularly value: the passion, the
creativeness, the transparency and the
pride of my colleagues working in a great
team towards a common goal of creating
opportunities and long-term values for all
our stakeholders.
I deeply respect the strengths and unique
shipbuilding know-how built over
generations, and I am honored to be a
part of VARD’s team.
On behalf of the Board of Directors, I
would like to thank our shareholders and
clients for your confidence in VARD.

Sincerely,

Mr. Giuseppe Coronella
Chairman of the Board

Among the outstanding professional skills
and attributes of the VARD team, there are
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Giuseppe Coronella
Chairman of the Board and
Non-Executive Director

Mr. Roy Reite
Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director

Mr. Vittorio Zane
EVP and Executive Director

Mr. Coronella was appointed chairman of
the board and non-executive director of the
Company in 2016. He is head of the offshore
business unit of FINCANTIERI S.p.A.

Mr. Reite is the chief executive officer
and serves as executive director of
VARD. He has served as president of
the Company since 2001.

Experience: Mr. Coronella joined Fincantieri

Experience: Mr. Reite was yard director
at Vard Søviknes from 1999 to 2001, and
assumed various positions as project
manager, production manager and
technical manager from 1990 to 1995. He
was also a business consultant at Intentia
International AS from 1995 to 1999.

Mr. Zane is executive vice president and
has served as executive director of VARD
since 2014. He is responsible for VARD’s
cruise vessel segment, strategic planning
and the basic design process and
development.

in 1990 in the design/engineering department,
and moved to the project management
department in 1999, becoming project
manager for cruise shipbuilding projects in
2001. From 2006, he led the ship repair and
conversion business systems development
department. In 2010, he was appointed head
of the offshore business development project,
and has headed the offshore business unit
since its establishment in 2012. Prior to
joining Fincantieri, Mr. Coronella started his
career at Ideal Standard in Germany and at
Esso in Italy.

Other board positions: Mr. Coronella is

president of the Italian offshore industries
association “Polo Offshore,” and a member
of the American Bureau of Shipping National
Committee in Italy.

Qualifications: Degree in Mechanical
 ngineering from the University of Palermo,
E
Italy.
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Other board positions: Mr. Reite is
presently the vice chairman of the board
of Norway-based bank Sparebanken Møre
and member of the board of Fjordlaks AS.
Qualifications: Master of Science degree
from the Norwegian University of Science
and Technology.

Experience: From 2005 to 2014, Mr. Zane
held senior positions at FINCANTIERI
S.p.A., where he was first appointed as
head of group financial planning and
control, before rising through the ranks
to senior executive vice president of
Fincantieri - VARD Coordination and
Development.
Prior to that, Mr. Zane was a consultant
at McKinsey & Company from 2002 to
2005. He started his career in 1996 as an
engineer at Mining Italiana S.p.A. before
joining Saipem in 1998.
Qualifications: Engineering degree from
the Università degli Studi di Trieste, and a
Master of Business A
 dministration degree
from SDA Bocconi, Italy.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Claudio Cisilino
Non-Executive Director

Mr. Sung Hyon Sok
Independent Director

Mr. Keen Whye Lee
Lead Independent Director

Mr. Cisilino was appointed non-executive
director of the company in 2016. He
serves as senior vice president new
building Italy of the merchant ships
business unit of FINCANTIERI S.p.A.

Mr. Sok serves as an independent
director of the Company. Mr. Sok is also
the managing director of BDF Holdings
Pte. Ltd.

Mr. Lee serves as the lead independent
director of the Company. Mr. Lee is the
managing director of Strategic Alliance
Capital Pte. Ltd.

Experience: Mr. Sok started his career
in Goodmorning Shinhan Securities Co.
Ltd. between 1987 and 1998. Thereafter,
he was vice president of ICAP (Singapore)
Pte. Ltd. before joining REFCO (Singapore)
Pte. Ltd. in 2005. Additionally, Mr. Sok was
president of World Hawk Eyes Advisor
Pte. Ltd. from 2005 to 2007 and senior
vice president of AM Fraser Securities
Pte. Ltd. from 2007 to 2009. From 2009 to
2016, he was managing director of Money
Werks Capital Pte. Ltd.

Experience: Prior to founding Strategic
Alliance Capital Pte. Ltd. in 1997, Mr. Lee
was managing director of Rothschild
Venture Asia Pte. Ltd. from 1990 to 1997,
and associate director of Kay HianJames
Capel Pte. Ltd. from 1987 to 1990.
He was also an investmentmanager of
the Government of SingaporeInvestment
Corporation from 1981 to 1985.

Experience: Mr. Cisilino joined
Fincantieri in 2007 in the M&A and
business development department and
became head of financial controlling in
2009, before being appointed vice
president of financial planning and
control of the Fincantieri group in 2011.
In 2017 he joined the merchant ships
business unit, where he assumed his
current role beginning of 2018.
From 2005 to 2007, Mr. Cisilino worked
as a consultant at The Boston Consulting
Group. Prior to that, he had started his
career as a consultant mainly in the fields
of corporate reorganization and supply
chain optimization.
Qualifications: Degree in Managerial
Engineering from the University of
Udine, Italy, and completed the Business
Essentials Program at Babson College,
Wellesley MA, United States.

Qualifications: Master of Science in
Finance from the University of Lancaster,
United Kingdom and a Master in Business
Administration degree from the University
of Hull, United Kingdom.

09

Other board positions: Mr. Lee is director
of various companies, including public
companies listed on the SGX-ST such as
Ntegrator International Ltd and Santak
Holdings Limited.
Qualifications: Master in Business
Administration degree from the
Harvard Graduate School of Business
Administration, United States.
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Mr. Roy Reite
Chief Executive Officer
and Executive Director

Mr. Geir Ingebrigtsen
EVP and Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Stig Bjørkedal
EVP Equipment and Solutions

Mr. Vittorio Zane
EVP and Executive Director

Mr. Reite is the chief executive
officer and serves as executive
director of VARD. He has served
as president of the Company
since 2001.

Mr. Ingebrigtsen has served as
chief financial officer for VARD
since 2015.

Mr. Bjørkedal oversees the
Equipment and Solutions
business in VARD since 2015,
and has been the managing
director of Vard Electro
since 2016.

Mr. Zane is executive vice
president and has served as
executive director of VARD
since 2014. He is responsible
for VARD’s cruise vessel
segment, group procurement,
strategic planning and the
basic design process and
development.

Experience: Mr. Reite was yard
director at Vard Søviknes from
1999 to 2001, and assumed
various positions as project
manager, production manager
and technical manager from
1990 to 1995. He was also a
business consultant at Intentia
International from 1995 to 1999.
Qualifications: Master of
Science degree from the
Norwegian University of
Science and Technology.

Experience: Mr. Ingebrigtsen
first joined the Company
in 2011 as group chief
accountant, before being
promoted to the position of
group chief controller and
deputy chief financial officer
of VARD in 2014.
Prior to that, he was vice
president of finance for
Opplysningen AS, where he
worked from 2007 to 2010.
Mr. Ingebrigtsen first started
his career with PwC in 1997,
and stayed with the company
till 2007, when he left in the
position of senior manager.
Qualifications: Bachelor’s
degree in Economics from
Sør-Trøndelag State College
(HiST) and State Authorized
Public Accountant based on
a degree from Norwegian
School of Economics (NHH).
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Experience: Prior to his
current roles, Mr. Bjørkedal
was the executive vice
president for business
development and strategy
in VARD from 2006 and vice
president of deck machinery at
Rolls-Royce Marine in Norway,
from 2001 to 2006.
Mr. Bjørkedal has extensive
management experience,
having served in different
positions in various maritime
companies from 1993 to 2000,
including Vard Piping,
Skipsteknisk and Ulstein
Brattvaag.
Qualifications: Bachelor’s
degree in Naval Architecture
from the University of Møre og
Romsdal in Ålesund, Norway,
and a Master of Management
degree from BI Executive
School in Oslo, Norway.

Experience: From 2005 to
2014, Mr. Zane held senior
positions at Fincantieri, where
he was first appointed as head
of group financial p
 lanning and
control, before rising through
the ranks to senior executive
vice president of Fincantieri
- VARD Coordination and
Development.
Prior to that, Mr. Zane was
a consultant at McKinsey &
Company from 2002 to 2005.
He started his career in 1996
as an engineer at Mining
Italiana before joining
Saipem in 1998.
Qualifications: Engineering
degree from the Università
degli Studi di Trieste, and
a Master of Business
Administration degree from
SDA Bocconi, Italy.



Mr. Magne Håberg
EVP Sales and Marketing

Mr. Magne O. Bakke
EVP and Chief
Operating Officer

Mr. Mauro Leboffe
EVP Romanian Operations

Mr. Håberg heads sales
and marketing in VARD. In
addition, he have an overall
responsibility for Vard Design
and the aquaculture business.

Mr. Bakke is the head of
shipyard operations at VARD
and oversees the Norway
and Vietnam operations.

Mr. Leboffe was appointed
executive vice president for
Romanian operations in 2017.

Experience: Mr. Håberg first
joined VARD as a project
manager at Vard Langsten in
2000, and became senior vice
president overseeing the sales
and marketing department at
VARD in 2004. Between 1995
and 2001, Mr. Håberg held
several positions as senior
project engineer at Aker
Maritime, where he was
responsible for different
projects within the offshore
oil and gas industry.
Prior to that, Mr. Håberg
acquired a wealth of
experience within the offshore
oil and gas business, having
taken on key engineering
roles in Smedvig Drilling from
1990 to 1994, and with Wilh.
Wilhelmsen from 1982 to 1989.

Experience: Previously,
Mr. Bakke was director at
the Vard Søviknes yard from
2005 to 2009. Between
1984 and 2005, Mr. Bakke
gained in-depth and broad
experience in different
business areas in the Aker
Group, including Offshore Oil
and Gas Field Development
and Drilling.
Qualifications: Bachelor of
Science in Marine Technology
from the Aust-Agder State
College of Engineering,
Norway.

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT TEAM
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Experience: Mr. Leboffe
has 35 years’ experience in
the shipbuilding industry
in various positions as yard
director at three different
shipyards, Head of operations
in Fincantieri’s naval vessel
divisions, and coordination of
production and planning in
the cruise division.
Through his broad experience
in Fincantieri Mr. Leboffe
has acquired a complete
and global view of the entire
shipbuilding process in
various important business
segments.
Qualifications: Degree in
Naval Engineering from the
University of Genova, Italy.

Qualifications: Diploma
in Engineering from the
Ålesund Maritime College,
Norway.
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SHAREHOLDING AND
CORPORATE STRUCTURE

Fintecna S.p.A.
(Italy)

Other shareholders
(free float)

71.6%

FINCANTIERI
S.p.A.
(Italy)

100%

Fincantieri
Oil & Gas S.p.A.
(Italy)

81.3%

Vard Holdings
Limited
(Singapore)

28.4%
Other shareholders
(free float)

18.7%

100%
Vard Shipholding
Singapore Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)

Note: 		Simplified shareholding structure. Does not include
dormant subsidiaries, minority shareholdings and
non-core businesses. In case of split ownership
within the group, only major shareholders are
shown. Shareholding structure as at 20 March 2018.
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Vard RO
Holding SRL
(Romania)

Vard Tulcea SA
(Romania)

SHAREHOLDING AND CORPORATE STRUCTURE

Vard Braila SA
(Romania)

Vard Engineering
Constanta SRL
(Romania)
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Vard
Promar SA
(Brazil)

Vard Singapore
Pte. Ltd.
(Singapore)

Vard
Design AS
(Norway)

100%

Vard Group AS
(Norway)

Vard
Vung Tau Ltd.
(Vietnam)

51%

Vard Design
Liburna Ltd.
(Croatia)

Vard Marine Inc.
(Canada)

Vard Marine
US Inc.
(United States)

Vard
Electro AS
(Norway)

Vard Electro
Tulcea SRL
(Romania)

Vard Electro
Braila SRL
(Romania)

Vard Electro
Brazil (Instalações
Elétricas) Ltda.
(Brazil)

Vard
Piping AS
(Norway)

Vard Electrical
Installation and
Engineering Pvt.
Ltd. (India)

Vard Electro
Italy S.r.l.
(Italy)

Vard Electro
Canada Inc.
(Canada)

Vard
Accommodation
AS (Norway)

Vard
Accommodation
Tulcea SRL
(Romania)

Vard Aqua
Sunndal AS
(Norway)

Vard Aqua
Scotland Ltd
(United Kingdom)

Vard Aqua Chile SA
(Chile)

Seaonics AS
(Norway)

Industrial Control
Design AS
(Norway)

CDP Technologies
AS
(Norway)

Seaonics Polska
sp. z o.o.
(Poland)

CDP Technologies
Estonia OÜ
(Estonia)

96%
96%

56%

Vard Offshore
Brevik AS
(Norway)

Vard Engineering
Brevik AS
(Norway)

92%

Vard Engineering
Gdansk sp. z o.o.
(Poland)
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KEY FINANCIALS

Revenue
(NOK million)

8,603

6,000

7,894

9,000

11,155

KEY FINANCIALS

12,923

12,000

11,307

15,000

3,000
0

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

INCOME STATEMENT
EBITDA and EBITDA margin

800

8%

686

600

6%

400
200

4%
168

163

2%

(321) 2.1% 1.9%
(2.8)%

0

3.3%

429
6.1%

VARD reported consolidated revenues of NOK 8.60 billion for the financial year 2017
(FY2017), up 9% from NOK 7.89 billion in financial year 2016 (FY2016). From the second
half of 2017, the yards in Romania and Vietnam enjoyed higher activity levels, compared
to 2016, due to rapid progress on Module Carrier Vessels (MCV) projects for Topaz Energy
and Marine and Kazmortransflot, and the ongoing construction on all six expedition cruise
vessels contracted in 2016.		
		
VARD registered positive EBITDA* (before restructuring cost) of NOK 163 billion (FY2016:
NOK 168 million positive). FY2017 EBITDA before restructuring costs was impacted by
NOK 54 million due to the reassessment of the net realisable value (NRV) of vessels held
in inventory. As a result, the EBITDA margin decreased from 2.1% in FY 2016 to 1.9% in
FY 2017. VARD registered restructuring cost of NOK 33 million for FY2017 (FY2016:
NOK 105 million), which includes termination benefits and statutory payments for
temporary redundancies, mainly in Norway and Brazil.		
		
The Group recorded a net loss of NOK 238 million for FY2017, compared to a loss of
NOK 197 million for FY2016. Of the FY2017 loss, NOK 233 million was attributable to
equity holders of the Company.

(400)

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

EBITDA (NOK million)
EBITDA margin (%)

Profit (loss) for the period
2,000
(NOK million)
1,500

1,000
500
0

300

50 (1,292)(197) (238)

(500)
(1,000)
(1,500)

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Summary Statement of Income
Amounts in NOK milion

2017

2016

Revenue

8,603

7,894

163

168

EBITDA margin (%)

1.9%

2.1%

Restructuring cost

(33)

(105)

(221)

(205)

(91)

(142)

(106)

41

(47)

(58)

Profit (loss) before tax

(244)

(159)

Profit (loss) for the period

(238)

(197)

(5)

(34)

(233)

(163)

EBITDA* before restructuring cost

Depreciation, impairment and amortization
Operating profit (loss)
Net financial income / (cost)
Share of result from associates

Non-controlling interest
Profit (loss) attributable to equity holders of the Company
* Earnings before Interest (but including Interest on Construction Loans), Tax, Depreciation and Amortization.
VARD ANNUAL REPORT 2017 



KEY FINANCIALS

15

BALANCE SHEET
Construction loans
(NOK million)
10,000

0

5,652

2,000

4,707

4,000

5,248

7,663

6,000

9,435

8,000

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Loans and borrowings,
non-current (NOK million)

600

1,045

900

1,049

1,204

1,200

1,200

1,500

673

Total assets increased by 10% from NOK 13.52 billion at the end of 2016 to NOK 14.92 billion
at the end of 2017.		
		
The increase in total assets is largely due to an increase in current assets, from
NOK 9.63 billion at the end of 2016 to NOK 10.75 billion at the end of 2017. Cash and cash
equivalents were improved by NOK 88 million and other working capital assets increased
by NOK 1.03 billion. The increase in other working capital assets is the result of an increase
in construction work in progress assets generated by the high activity levels in Romania
and Vietnam.		
		
Total current liabilities increased from NOK 9.36 billion at the end of 2016 to
NOK 10.61 billion at the end of 2017. The increase in current liabilities is mainly due
to an increase of construction loans and of trade payables due to the higher production
volumes compared to the previous year.		
		
The Group’s total non-current assets increased marginally year-on-year, while total
non-current liabilities increased by 19% from NOK 1.87 billion as at 31 December 2016
to NOK 2.22 billion as at 31 December 2017, primarily due to the extension of the slot
reservation fee received from FINCANTIERI related to the multi-year production program
for FINCANTIERI entered into during 2016, and the increase of the negative fair value of the
non-current derivatives.		

300
0

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Summary Balance Sheet
Amounts in NOK milion

2017

2016

Non-current assets

4,175

3,892

810

722

9 939

8 904

Total assets

14,924

13,518

Total equity

2,093

2,295

Loans and borrowings, non-current

1,045

1,049

Other non-current liabilities

1,175

819

Construction loans

5,652

5,248

Other current liabilities

4,959

4,107

Total liabilities

12,831

11,223

Total equity and liabilities

14,924

13,518

Cash and cash equivalents
Other current assets
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Cash and cash equivalents
(NOK million)

The Group registered negative cash flow from operating activities of NOK 27 million
for FY2017, compared to a net positive of NOK 764 million for FY2016, largely due to
movements in working capital as a result of the increased activity on projects during
the period.		
		
Cash flow used in investing activities was NOK 343 million for FY2017, up from
NOK 311 million for FY2016. Investments in property plant and equipment during
2017 were mainly related to the expansion of facilities at Vard Tulcea.		
		
For FY2017, the Group had a positive cash flow from financing activities of
NOK 467 million, compared to NOK 587 negative million in FY2016. NOK 208 million
of the FY2017 repayments were related to amortization of long-term loans and
borrowings.		
		
As a result of the above, combined with movements in restricted cash and the effects
of currency translation differences on cash and cash equivalents, the Group registered
a net increase in cash and cash equivalents of NOK 88 million for FY2017, from
NOK 722 million to NOK 810 million.		

3,000
2,400
1,800 1,745

2,002

1,200

919

600
0

722 810

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Restricted cash
Non-restricted cash

Net cash 1)
(NOK million)
1,500
1,000
500
0

767
392
(1,115)(770)(1,107)

(500)
(1,000)
(1,500)

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Cash and cash equivalents less
sum of short-term and long-term
interest bearing liabilities, excluding
construction financing.
1)

Summary Statement of Cash Flow
Amounts in NOK milion

2017

2016

Cash flows from / (used in) operating activities

(27)

764

Cash flows from / (used in) investing activities

(343)

(311)

Cash flows from / (used in) financing activities

467

(587)

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

97

(134)

Effects of currency translation differences

(7)
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Cash and cash equivalents excluding restricted cash at the beginning of the financial period

618

720

Restricted cash at the end of the financial period

102

104

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial period

810

722
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Of the 20 contracts signed in 2017, 15 vessels and barges were in fisheries and the
aquaculture business. In addition, two ferries, two expedition cruise vessels, and one
research expedition vessel were signed in 2017. The order intake confirms VARD’s
successful efforts to diversify and enter into new market.

15,000 14,174

6,000
3,000
0

10,572

9,450

3,594

8,283
20 vessels

9,000

27 vessels

12,000

16 vessels

The aggregated value of new orders, including variation orders, repair and conversion,
and equipment sales, was NOK 8.3 billion, down from NOK 10.6 billion in 2016. New
order intake during 2017, in terms of vessels, was 20 vessels, down from 27 vessels
in 2016 – which was the highest in five years. The average value per vessel increased
slightly.

(NOK million)

6
vessels

At the end of 2017, VARD’s order book stood at NOK 13.2 billion, up from NOK 12.6 billion
a year earlier. The order book comprised 48 vessels, seven more than at the end of the
previous year, and included 37 vessels of VARD’s own design.
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Order intake

15 vessels

ORDER BOOK DEVELOPMENT

ORDER BOOK DEVELOPMENT

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Order book
(NOK million)
24,000

VARD continues to develop new opportunities in the expedition cruise vessel market
through heightened focus on design and innovation. In particular, during the year, VARD
secured a contract for the design and construction of one expedition cruise vessel; and
in the last quarter of 2017, a contract for the design and construction for an electric
hybrid luxury cruise icebreaker.
At the end of 2017, the order book included 16 vessels and barges within fisheries
and aquaculture, 12 MCVs, eight expedition cruise vessels, eight offshore vessels,
two ferries, one research expedition vessel, and one Liquefied Petroleum Gas carrier
(LPG). Geographically, the number of the vessels in the order book increased for VARD’s
shipyards in Norway and Europe.

20,000 19,356
17,743
16,000
12,000

13,227
12,647
10,230

8,000
4,000
0

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

32 vessels are to be delivered from the Group’s Norwegian yards, nine from Romania,
four from Vietnam and three from Brazil.
During 2017, 13 vessels were delivered from VARD shipyards – five from Vietnam, four
from Romania, three from Norway, and one from Brazil. The deliveries comprised eight
MCVs, four Offshore Subsea Construction Vessels (OSCV) and one LPG carrier.

Order book by customer segment

As at 31 December 2017







PSV: 3
OSCV: 5
MCV: 12
Cruise: 8
Other: 20

Order book by customer domicile






Asia and Australia: 15 vessels
Norway: 15 vessels
Other Europe: 15 vessels
South America: 3 vessels

Order book by yard location






Norway: 32 vessels
Romania: 9 vessels
Vietnam: 4 vessels
Brazil: 3 vessels
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VESSELS DELIVERED

VESSELS DELIVERED
During 2017, VARD delivered 13* vessels from our shipyards across the world.

2

1

3

5

4

1. Kreuz Challenger, 2. Topaz Kama, 3. Topaz Chu, 4. Barys, 5. Skandi Búzios.

OFFSHORE SUBSEA CONSTRUCTION VESSELS
Skandi Búzios
Skandi Vinland
Far Superior
Kreuz Challenger

824
834
838
839

TechDof Brasil
DOF
Farstad Shipping
Kreuz Subsea

VARD 3 05
VARD 3 08
VARD 3 17
VARD 3 17

Vard Søviknes
Vard Langsten
Vard Vung Tau
Vard Søviknes

Offshore Subsea Construction and Pipelay Vessel
Offshore Subsea Construction Vessel
Subsea/IMR Vessel
Offshore Diving Support and Construction Vessel

WBDC
VARD 9 28
VARD 9 28

Vard Promar
Vard Braila
Vard Braila

LPG Carrier
Module Carrier Vessel
Module Carrier Vessel

OTHER SPECIALIZED VESSELS
Gilberto Freyre
Barys
Berkut

EP 05 Transpetro
852
Kazmortransflot
853
Kazmortransflot

* VARD delivered in addition 4 vessels and barges within fisheries and aquaculture segment.
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6

7

10

8

11

9

12

13

6. Gilberto Freyre, 7. Topaz Belaya, 8. Far Superior, 9. Topaz Don, 10. Skandi Vinland, 11. Topaz Amur, 12. Topaz Ishim, 13. Berkut.

Topaz Ishim
Topaz Amur
Topaz Belaya
Topaz Don
Topaz Kama
Topaz Chu

855
860
861
862
863
866

Topaz Energy and Marine
Topaz Energy and Marine
Topaz Energy and Marine
Topaz Energy and Marine
Topaz Energy and Marine
Topaz Energy and Marine

VARD 9 21
VARD 9 21
VARD 9 21
VARD 9 21
VARD 9 21
VARD 9 21

Vard Tulcea
Vard Vung Tau
Vard Vung Tau
Vard Vung Tau
Vard Vung Tau
Vard Tulcea

Module Carrier Vessel
Module Carrier Vessel
Module Carrier Vessel
Module Carrier Vessel
Module Carrier Vessel
Module Carrier Vessel
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

1

2

3

1. Vard Marine’s design was recognized at the International Workboat Show with the award “Boat of the year”. 2. From the naming ceremony of the MCVs in
Vard Vung Tau, for Topaz Energy and Marine. 3. Vard Brevik delivered a universal transfer system to Connect LNG.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS
Awards
Two Vard Marine designed multi-purpose
support vessels for Harvey Gulf
International Marine was recognized as
“Boat of the Year” at the International
Workboat Show in New Orleans.

Shipbuilding milestones
Skandi Búzios, an offshore subsea
construction and pipelay vessel, was
delivered from Vard Søviknes to TechDof
Brasil in April, and commenced its 8-year
charter with Petróleo Brasileiro S.A.
(Petrobras) as scheduled. The vessel, of
VARD 3 05 design, was designed and built
specifically for installation of umbilicals,
flexible flowlines and risers in Brazil.
Far Superior, a subsea and IMR vessel,
was delivered from Vard Vung Tau to
SolstadFarstad in March 2017. To be
operated by TechnipFMC Norge, the vessel
of VARD 3 17 design, was purpose-built
to conduct light construction work,
inspection, maintenance, repair and
other subsea-related activities.
Eight module carrier vessels were
delivered throughout the year. Two of
VARD 9 28 design were delivered from
Vard Braila to Kazmortransflot. Vard
Vung Tau delivered four, and Vard Tulcea
delivered two, all of VARD 9 21 design,
to Topaz Energy and Marine.
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The first expedition cruise vessel for
PONANT departed from Vard Tulcea
in December 2017, to be outfitted and
completed at Vard Søviknes. Marking
the entry of VARD in this new market,
the vessel is also the first cruise-hull
to arrive at Vard Søviknes.
The diving support vessel Kreuz
Challenger was delivered from Vard
Søviknes to Singapore-based Kreuz
Subsea. The vessel of VARD 3 17 design is
capable of undertaking light construction
as well as subsea engineering and
installations, and inspection, repair and
maintenance projects.

Business development
Far Sun, owned by SolstadFarstad
underwent upgrades with the installment
of batteries at Vard Brattvaag. The new
SeaQ® Energy Storage System developed
by Vard Electro will ensure further
reductions in environmental impact and
operating costs, and increase security
in terms of spinning reserve, response
time as well as higher redundancy. Vard
Electro was responsible for the entire
project, which included engineering, steel
prefabrication, installation, integration,
testing and commissioning. The SeaQ®
Energy Storage System will be installed
on several vessels, scheduled for delivery
in 2018 and 2019.

Vard Electro realized the SeaQ® Bridge
concept launched at the Nor-Shipping
exhibition in 2015, with the installation
of a fully developed bridge onboard two
offshore construction vessels, and one
stern trawler vessel in 2017. SeaQ® Bridge
represents a new level of integration for
various types of vessels. It is designed
with the operator in mind and organized
to achieve a clean and efficient workspace
with focus on ease of operation, safety and
ergonomics.
VARD has strengthened its position in
the aquaculture market through the
streamlining of operations at Vard Aukra
and integration of the aquaculture
equipment business Vard Aqua (formerly
Storvik Aqua). The Group also introduced
new solutions for the aquaculture industry.
Kokusai Cable Ship Co. Ltd in Japan
awarded Vard Design a contract for the
design of a cable lay vessel of VARD 9 01
design. The vessel will be built at Colombo
Dockyard, and be tailor-made for efficient
installation and repair of subsea telecom
cables. VARD designed and built its first
cable layer of VARD 9 01 design in 2014.
The new vessel for operations in the
Japanese market is a further evolution
of this vessel, with additional capacity
and power cable installation features.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS
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5

6

4

4. VARD secured a contract for the design and construction of a research expedition vessel. 5. From the Aqua Nor trade fair and exhibition in
Trondheim, Norway. 6. The new SeaQ® Energy Storage System mounted onboard Far Sun at Vard Brattvaag.

Several repair, maintenance and
modification projects were conducted at
the Norwegian yards throughout the year.
At Vard Brattvaag, AQS Njord and AQS
Balder, two offshore construction vessels
owned by AQS, were refitted for the
aquaculture industry. The Norwegian
yards also carried out repairs,
maintenance and conversions on a
large number of vessels.
The universal transfer system for
Connect LNG, a groundbreaking floating
solution for Liquefied Natural Gas (LNG)
transfer between ship and shore was
delivered from Vard Brevik. Compared to
ordinary quays, the new transfer system
will make loading and unloading
operations easier, more accessible and
less expensive. Vard Brevik led the entire
construction project, with assistance from
Vard Offshore Brevik and Vard Electro
in Brevik.

Order book
Biotech- and fishing company Aker
BioMarine awarded VARD a contract
for the design and construction of a
krill fishing vessel. Delivered from
Vard Brattvaag, the vessel will be specially
developed for sustainable fishing
operations in Antarctica and equipped
with a bio-refinery capable of processing
raw krill material. The new vessel, of

Vard 8 10 design, is scheduled for delivery
in 2018.
Rosellinis Four-10, a company owned by
Norwegian industrialist Kjell Inge Røkke
and his family, awarded VARD a contract
for the design and construction of a
research expedition vessel. Expected to
enter service in 2020, the highly
specialized vessel will be custom made
for worldwide research and expedition
activities, and will be one of the most
advanced research vessels in the world.
The vessel will be delivered from Vard
Brattvaag, and will employ Vard Electro’s
SeaQ® Energy Monitoring System,
SeaQ® Energy Storage System and a
Battery Monitoring System, in addition
to a high-end scientific winch package
developed by Seaonics.
Coral Expeditions, Australias longest
established and most awarded
expedition cruise operator, appointed
VARD a contract to build its fourth
expedition cruise ship. The vessel is
specially designed for small-ship
expedition cruises to remote destinations
in the regions of Asia-Pacific. Developed
by Vard Design in close cooperation
with Coral Expeditions, the ship will be
delivered from Vard Vung Tau in 2019.

In line with VARD’s strategy of expanding
the product range, the company entered
into contracts for the design and
construction of seven stern trawlers
for four Icelandic ship owners: BergurHuginn, Utgerdarfelag Akureyringa,
Gjögur and Skinney-Thinganes. The
vessels, measuring 29 by 12 meters, will
be constructed and outfitted by Vard Aukra
in Norway and delivered in 2019.
Cermaq Norway, one of Norway’s major
food producers, entered into contracts
with VARD for the design and construction
of two offshore fish farming operation
platforms. The new platforms are of VARD
8 54 design, and specially designed for fish
farming operations in harsh environments.
PONANT, appointed VARD to design
and construct the first electric hybrid
cruise icebreaker with LNG propulsion.
In collaboration with PONANT, Stirling
Design International and Aker Arctic,
VARD will develop the state-of-the-art
electric hybrid cruise vessel, specially
designed to take passengers to polar
destinations such as the true geographic
North Pole, the Weddell Sea, the Ross
Sea and Peter I Island. With dual-fuel
propulsion, high-capacity batteries and
LNG storage onboard, the Polar Class 2
icebreaker will fulfill the highest
standards for environmentally friendly
and safe operations.
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THE VARD SERIES
CONTENT

ENERGY
A broad range of specialized
vessels for oil and gas
and emerging offshore
energy industries

SELECTED DELIVERIES:

Offshore Subsea Construction Vessel
for DOF
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Offshore Subsea Construction and
Pipelay Vessel for TechDof Brasil

Subsea/IMR Vessel
for SolstadFarstad

CONTENT
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The SeaQ® Bridge represents a new level of integration for the bridge onboard any vessel type. VARD offers customers flexibility, with a broad range of
customizations based on the customer’s needs.

DESIGN ORDER:

Offshore Diving Support and
Construction Vessel for Kreuz Subsea

Cable Lay Vessel
for Kokusai Cable Ship Co Ltd
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THE VARD SERIES

ADVENTURE
Luxury expedition cruise vessels
designed for adventures in polar
and exotic environments

RECENT ORDERS:

Luxury Polar Expedition Cruise Vessel
for PONANT
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Expedition Cruise Vessel
for Coral Expeditions

Research Expedition Vessel
for Rosellinis Four-10

The SeaQ® Bridge represents a new level of integration for the bridge onboard any vessel type. VARD offers customers flexibility, with a broad range of
customizations based on the customer’s needs.

UNDER CONSTRUCTION:

Luxury Expedition Cruise Vessel
for Hapag-Lloyd

Luxury Expedition Cruise Vessel
for PONANT
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CONTENT
THE VARD SERIES

SEAFOOD
Bespoke vessels and
solutions for the fisheries and
aquaculture industries designed
for efficiency and
sustainability

SELECTED ORDERS:

Offshore Fish Farming Operation
Platform for Cermaq Norway
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Krill Fishing Vessel
for Aker BioMarine

Live Fish Transportation Vessel
for Hofseth Aqua

CONTENT
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The SeaQ® Bridge represents a new level of integration for the bridge onboard any vessel type. VARD offers customers flexibility, with a broad range of
customizations based on the customer’s needs.

SELECTED DELIVERIES:

Stern Trawlers for Bergur-Huginn,
Utgerdarfelag Akureyringa, Gjögur and
Skinney-Thinganes

Fish Farm Operation and Maintenance
Platform for Marine Harvest

Stern Trawler
for HAVFISK (2018)

VARD ANNUAL REPORT 2017

28

CONTENT
THE VARD SERIES

SECURITY
Vessels built to secure and
monitor seas and coastal waters

DELIVERED DESIGN:

Offshore Patrol Vessel
for Irish Naval Service
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Offshore Patrol Vessel
for Irish Naval Service

CONTENT

29

The SeaQ® Bridge represents a new level of integration for the bridge onboard any vessel type. VARD offers customers flexibility, with a broad range of
customizations based on the customer’s needs.

DESIGN ORDERS:

Hydrographic Research Vessel
for South African Navy

Antarctic Resupply Vessel
for Armada de Chile

Offshore Patrol Cutter
for US Coast Guard
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW

OPERATIONAL REVIEW
VARD operates nine strategically located shipbuilding facilities on four continents, and serves
the global maritime industry with innovative products and services through a network of highly
specialized subsidiaries.

HEADQUARTERS

• Vard Group (Norway)

REGISTERED OFFICE

• Vard Holdings (Singapore)

SHIPYARDS
Europe
• Vard Aukra (Norway)
• Vard Braila (Romania)
• Vard Brattvaag (Norway)
• Vard Brevik (Norway)
• Vard Langsten (Norway)
• Vard Søviknes (Norway)
• Vard Tulcea (Romania)
Asia
• Vard Vung Tau (Vietnam)
South America
• Vard Promar (Brazil)

Norway
VARD’s core shipbuilding operations in
Norway were still affected by the cyclical
downturn in the offshore industry. Despite
positive order book development in 2016
and 2017, the utilization level in Norway
continued to face a challenging time
throughout the year. While workload in
engineering and procurement remains
high, yard utilization will gradually
increase when hulls from Romania arrive
in 1Q and 2Q 2018. To compensate for
the low volume of shipbuilding activities,
VARD carried out conversion, repair and
maintenance work across a broad range of
vessels, including coast guards, fisheries
and offshore vessels, during the year.
Vard Brattvaag had a busy start to the
year, completing two light construction
vessels for Topaz Energy and Marine.
The yard also participated in the
concept development and commenced
engineering on a krill fishing vessel
for Aker BioMarine, and one research
expedition vessel for Rosellinis Four-10,
a long-standing partner of the Group
since the 1980s. At the end of the year Vard
Brattvaag was engaged in the installation
of Vard Electro’s SeaQ® Energy Storage
System onboard a platform supply vessel,
resulting in an upgrade of the vessel to
“Battery Power” notation. The yard is
also preparing for upcoming battery
installations.
Vard Brevik was hit the hardest by the
downturn in 2015 and 2016. Fortunately,
in 2017, the yard successfully secured
contracts for the construction of two LNG
powered car- and passenger ferries for
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Torghatten Nord. These projects will have
a positive effect on the yard utilization
in 2018. At the same time, Vard Brevik
continued to pursue new business
opportunities related to LNG technology.
In 2017 the yard delivered a Universal
Transfer System, a ground-breaking
floating solution for LNG transfer between
ship and shore, to Connect LNG.
At Vard Langsten, the previously
announced maintenance program for the
Norwegian Coast Guard is ongoing. In
the third quarter of 2017, the same yard
completed a comprehensive upgrade
and lengthening project for a fishing
trawler. The yard has one pelagic trawler
under construction for Research Fishing
Company, a family-owned enterprise
located on the Shetland Islands. The
vessel will be built, equipped and
completed in Norway, and delivery is
scheduled from Vard Langsten in the
third quarter of 2018.
VARD’s cooperation with PONANT secures
Vard Søviknes with work until scheduled
delivery in 2021. Contracts for the design
and construction of a total of six luxury
expedition cruise vessels, in addition to
one electric hybrid cruise icebreaker with
LNG propulsion, have been signed with the
French cruise company. The icebreaker
contract bears testament to the Group’s
strong expertise in icebreaking technology
and known ability to build highly advanced
vessels for operations in polar areas.
While the hull will be built at Vard Tulcea
in Romania, delivery is scheduled from
Vard Søviknes, Norway, in the second
quarter of 2021. During the fourth
quarter Vard Søviknes installed a new
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VARD’s global presence
Europe

6,927 employees

North America
116 employees

Asia

784 employees

South America
1,345 employees

Employees wordwide
9,172 employees

flat-top tower crane at the yard, as well
as completed a stern trawler for HAVFISK
that was delivered in January 2018.
VARD continues to strengthen its position
within fisheries and aquaculture market
through the streamlining of operations at
Vard Aukra. The yard has experienced a
positive growth in order intake, and had
a total of 14 vessels and barges under
construction at year-end.
In the course of 2017, several Norwegian
yards experienced temporary lay-offs due
to low utilization, and resources were
shared between the yards to reduce the
need for temporary layoffs. Overall, the
Group expects yard utilization in Norway to
gradually improve with the arrival of hulls
from Romania during first and second
quarter of 2018.
Despite the challenging environment,
the Norwegian yards recorded notable
achievements, ending the year with a solid
order book of 32 vessels. During the year,
the yards also collectively delivered three
vessels in addition to four deliveries within
the aquaculture sector, and secured an
order intake of 19 vessels.

Romania
Both the Romanian yards, Vard Tulcea and
Vard Braila, continued to record very high
workloads during the year. VARD continues
to undertake management initiatives to
increase headcount and stabilize the
manning base in Romania. Vard Tulcea
launched the hull of the first luxury
expedition cruise vessel for PONANT

which is to be completed at Vard Søviknes.
The yard is progressing well with the
construction of the remaining five
expedition cruise vessels contracted in
2016. The yard also successfully launched
and delivered a 9,500 tons hull section
to Fincantieri, and delivered its first two
MCVs to Topaz Energy and Marine at the
end of the year.
The investment program initiated at Vard
Tulcea in 2016, including the installation
of a new panel line, the expansion of the
building berth, and dredging of the harbor
basin close to the yard, cumulated in the
installation of a new gantry crane in
2017. These investments were made to
accommodate larger vessels and hull
sections, and secure sufficient capacity
to cater to increasing demand.
Vard Braila delivered the first two vessels
of the series of MCVs to Kazmortransflot
during the third quarter, while the last
vessel in the series was delivered in
January 2018, completing the series of
three.
The two yards still had eight MCVs under
construction for Topaz Energy and Marine
at end of fourth quarter 2017, of which
two already delivered to the client in the
beginning of 2018.

SPECIALIZED SUBSIDIARIES
Europe
Vard Accommodation (Norway)
Vard Accommodation Tulcea (Romania)
Vard Design (Norway)
Vard Design Liburna (Croatia)
Vard Electro (Norway)
Vard Electro Braila (Romania)
Vard Electro Tulcea (Romania)
Vard Electro Italy (Italy)
Vard Engineering Brevik (Norway)
Vard Engineering Constanta (Romania)
Vard Engineering Gdansk (Poland)
Vard Offshore Brevik (Norway)
Vard Piping (Norway)
CDP Technologies (Norway)
CDP Technologies Estonia (Estonia)
Industrial Control Design (Norway)
Seaonics (Norway)
Seaonics Polska (Poland)
Vard Aqua Sunndal (Norway)
Vard Aqua Scotland (United Kingdom)
Asia
Vard Electrical Installation and
Engineering (India)
Vard Shipholding (Singapore)
Vard Singapore (Singapore)
South America
Vard Electro Brazil (Brazil)
Vard Aqua Chile (Chile)
North America
Vard Electro (Canada)
Vard Marine (Canada)
Vard Marine (United States)

Vietnam
Significant progress was achieved at
VARD’s Vietnamese shipyard in Vung Tau
during the course of 2017. Operations
remain stable and the yard enjoyed a
healthy utilization rate and was able to
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1. A de-lice vessel under construction at Vard Aukra. 2. The first module for the pelagic trawler arrived Vard Langsten. The vessel will be built, equipped and
completed in Norway, 3. The Luxury Expedition Cruise Vessel for PONANT, departing Vard Tulcea for final outfitting at Vard Søviknes in Norway.

Employees by country
As at 31 December 2017

1,373

make full use of its facilities that were
upgraded and expanded during the
preceding phases of low activity.
A total of five vessels were delivered from
Vard Vung Tau in 2017, comprising one
offshore subsea construction vessel to
SolstadFarstad and four MCVs to Topaz
Energy and Marine.

5,480

In 2017, VARD also secured a contract
to design and construct an expedition
cruise vessel for Coral Expeditions of
Australia. This marked a new and valuable
partnership for the Group, as well as Vard
Vung Tau’s entry in the passenger vessel
market. The construction of the cruise
vessel is progressing well and according
to plan, with delivery on track for the first
quarter of 2019.

Romania

As at 31 December 2017, the yard’s order
book stood at four vessels, which includes
one cruise vessel and three MCVs.

Norway

Brazil

74
Other Europe

Italy, United Kingdom, Croatia,
Poland and Estonia

In line with the continued global downturn in offshore oil and gas, coupled
with country-specific constraints, Vard
Promar faced a lack of new orders in 2017,
resulting in low utilization especially in the
early stages of production. Hence, it was
necessary to continue the rightsizing of
the yard in order to minimize cost.
Vard Promar delivered one LPG carrier to
Transpetro in October 2017. Good progress
was also recorded on the Pipelay Support
Vessels (PLSV) under construction for
Dofcon Navegação (DOF and TechnipFMC)
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as well as the sixth LPG carrier for
Transpetro. The first PLSV is nearing
completion and has finalized a successful
sea trial, and remains on track for delivery.
Vard Promar ended the year with three
vessels in its order book, which are all
in advanced stages of outfitting and
commissioning. While the yard currently
focuses on the outfitting and
commissioning of projects, it continues to
actively pursue leads to secure additional
work to improve capacity utilization in all
stages of production.
With the acquisition of the remaining
4.85% stake in Vard Promar, VARD gained
100% control over the operations at the
yard in 2017, which further highlights
VARD’s continued commitment to the
Brazilian market.

Equipment and Solutions
Specialized subsidiaries in VARD are
offering products and services to the
global maritime industry outside of VARD’s
core shipbuilding portfolio, in addition to
serve the Group’s own yards.
With its SeaQ® Energy Storage System,
Vard Electro is establishing a solid position
within hybrid battery solutions. The first
system was installed in 2016 onboard
Olympic Energy. In 2017 Vard Electro was
responsible for the hybridization of one
of the PSVs designed and built by VARD
for its long-time client SolstadFarstad.
Vard Electro also secured contracts of
the battery installation for gas-electric
hybrid ferries – two of them to be built
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4
4. Two MCVs for Kazmortransflot at quayside in Vard Braila.

at Vard Brevik, and another three at an
external yard.

well prepared to welcome new projects
in 2018.

Following the launch of the SeaQ® Bridge
at the 2015 Nor-Shipping exhibition, Vard
Electro has successfully installed and
tested the new bridge solution onboard
two offshore vessels and one fishing
vessel in 2017, with additional deliveries
ongoing. The new SeaQ® Bridge solution
is designed to increase efficiency in the
day-to-day operations of the vessel, while
maintaining an ergonomically and safe
work environment for the operator. The
flexible solution can be tailor-made to
meet customer requirements and
represent the forefront in current
integrated bridge design.

Vard Piping in Norway collaborated on
the commencement of pipe works for
the expedition cruise vessels under
construction in Vard Tulcea. To enhance
the competence on “non-metallic pipes”
and prepare for the finalization of the
pipeline systems after the hulls of
expedition cruise vessels are delivered
to Norway, employees of Vard Piping
have been posted to Vard Tulcea for
familiarization of the new piping materials.

Opportuities are growing for Vard Electro
as it, through the close collaboration
with Vard Marine in Canada, extended its
market reach to a new region. As well as
entering a new industry, by working closely
with Vard Aukra to develop new products
for the aquaculture industry.
Vard Accommodation undertakes project
management and installation works of
almost the entire interior set-up for two
expedition vessels under construction for
Hapag-Lloyd, and for specific areas in the
expedition cruise vessels for PONANT. In
addition, Vard Accommodation has been
contracted to perform interior design work
at the krill fishing vessel to be outfitted
by Vard Brattvaag, and procure material
deliveries to the Australian expedition
cruise vessel to be built by Vard Vung
Tau. During the course of the year, Vard
Accommodation has strengthened its
team with several new employees and is

Seaonics is a specialized subsidiary
providing equipment and solutions used in
subsea construction, reservoir exploration,
module handling and well intervention, on
research vessels and in ocean trawling.
In 2017 Seaonics successfully secured
contracts for various types of equipment
for research vessels within fisheries and
aquaculture. They will also deliver
equipment for the research expedition
vessel to Rosellinis Four-10.

Ship design
Our main design office, Vard Design, is
located in the city of Ålesund, Norway.
Since being established in 2000 the
company has developed close to 200 ship
designs. The VARD series is divided into a
line of strong ship designs within platform
supply vessels, anchor handling tug supply
vessels, offshore subsea construction
vessels, offshore renewables, passenger
vessels, fishing vessels, service vessels
and barges for aquaculture, and other
specialized vessels.

Employees by country
As at 31 December 2017

784
Asia
Singapore, Vietnam and India

1,345
South America
Brazil and Chile

116
North America
United States and Canada
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OPERATIONAL REVIEW
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1. MCV for Topaz Energy and Marine under construction at Vard Vung Tau. 2. A Pipelay Support Vessel under construction at Vard Promar. 3. The new gantry
crane installed at Vard Tulcea, as a part of the investment program initiated in 2016.

VARDs order book in 2017 compiled of 48 vessels, including 37
developed by Vard Design in Norway.
Due to the success within new markets, Vard Design has
increased its number of employees within the disciplines of
concept and basic design.
Vard Marine has a long history of providing naval architecture and
marine engineering services in North America, and its portfolio
of coast guard and patrol vessels includes reference projects
world-wide. Vard Marine achieved several milestones during the
year, including the delivery of ship design for Harvey Gulf’s two
large capacity Multi-Purpose Support Vessels (MPSVs), and the
launch of the first of three Offshore Fisheries Science Vessels
(OFSVs) built under the National Shipbuilding Strategy (NSS).
Vard Marine has also delivered ship design to two ferries from
Turkey to Seaspan Ferries, and their engineers in Vard Vung Tau
has successfully completed the first design projects. The Vard
Marine designed USCG Offshore Patrol Cutter design passed its
initial critical design review, marking a major step towards
construction.
Vard Marine retains a strong focus on sustainability, and has
commenced a mid-life refit of the BC Ferries spirit class
ferries to use dual-fuel (diesel and LNG) power. It also provided
assistance to the development of the new IMO Polar Code, and
continues to provide guidance to stakeholders on how to
implement regulatory requirements.
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Aquaculture
The aquaculture sector continues to be a bright spot for the
Group, as it continually develops business opportunities in
this new market. Vard Aukra strengthened its position in the
aquaculture market, through a number of contract awards.
Working closely with its customers, VARD develop vessels, fish
farming technology and solutions to help build sustainable and
efficient operations – inshore, offshore, at sea and on land.
The numerous orders have provided an impetus following the
streamlining of operations at Vard Aukra, now positioned to
serve the aquaculture industry, and the integration of Vard Aqua,
formerly known as Storvik Aqua. At Aqua Nor in August 2017,
VARD stepped up the marketing efforts to position its product
offerings in the aquaculture industry and highlight its
innovative edge to the market. VARD’s newly developed and
launched FishSense software system for feeding and
monitoring, service and logistics improves utilization of fish
feed and increases profitability for its customers. The system
is already implemented on VARD’s fleets and barges.
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SUSTAINABILITY AND SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
VARD has a strong commitment towards Health, Safety and Environment (HSE) throughout
the organization. With initiatives firmly supported by the top management, all employees and
subcontractors are regularly trained and equipped with the latest knowledge to ensure local
HSE compliance.

This commitment is also reflected in the three core values at VARD, namely;
Craftsmanship, Fellowship and Salesmanship.
Craftsmanship
We take pride in delivering
high quality products
and services.

Fellowship
We truly care about
the individual,
team and society.

Salesmanship
Customer satisfaction is
everyone’s responsibility.

Safety observations
reported and handled
16,000
12,000

15,575
14,933
13,383

11,684

10,196

8,000
4,000
0

2013 2014 2015 2016* 2017*

Active approach towards HSE
HSE initiatives are an integrated part of VARD’s business. The company as a whole keeps
proactively up-to-date with international best practices to ensure the safety of its global
workforce. This proactive approach contributed to an outstanding HSE performance and
an all-time low incident rate in 2017.
In 2005, we introduced our ambitious “Vision Zero”. This company-wide effort is aimed at
avoiding any mishaps, for our people as well as the environment. In 2017, VARD did not
have any fatalities at its workplaces, and continues to see a positive trend in employee
compliance with, and regard for, safety rules. However, there is no room for complacency
when it comes to HSE and VARD remains vigilant.

Accidents
400
300
200
100
0

289

309

272
180
90

2013 2014 2015 2016* 2017*

* Reflecting lower activity level at
the shipyards.

We have strict key performance indicators (KPIs) related to safety across the yards.
VARD’s HSE training emphasizes the importance of using the right protective gear at
all times and of working according to our safety rules. Our safety procedures are
continuously updated, especially in areas concerning protective equipment and the
adaption of preventive behavior for workplace safety.
We have a clear company-wide commitment to HSE. In order to monitor and maintain a
consistent and transparent view of the Group’s HSE performance, all daily HSE routines
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Waste management progress
Percentage of waste recycled

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

73%

89%

91%

91%

96%

are reported by all locations through the software management
tool “Synergi”. The information received through “Synergi” also
lays the foundation for several internal campaigns that aim to
raise awareness of current HSE related topics at specific
locations.
At all VARD shipyards, it is mandatory for management to
adhere to HSE initiatives, and to encourage a proactive culture
of reporting incidents and safety observations to promote a safer
working environment.
In terms of contingency planning, a framework of scenario-based
notification procedures and individual checklists for all members
of the emergency response and executive management teams
have been established. In addition, individual plans for dealing
with all forms of emergencies, and assisting with next-of-kin
handling are readily in place, to ensure VARD’s preparedness.
It is with this all-encompassing array of HSE practices that
VARD is able to become the industry’s leader in safety practices,
and has contributed to our goal of avoiding fatal mishaps while
maintaining a low rate of personal injuries and incidents across
our global locations.

Environmental sustainability
With three shipyards already certified under ISO 14001, VARD
continues to explore new ways in which to improve its current
practices to minimize the impact of its operations on the
environment, particularly with regards to waste management,
noise abatement, emissions reduction and the construction of
eco-friendly vessels.
VARD has come a long way since 2011, when a comprehensive
waste management framework was implemented. VARD continues
to register improvements year-on-year, and the goal now is to
reach an even higher number in the years to come. To ensure
this VARD continues to improve its waste management, and
promotes an open and active dialogue on environmental issues
with its employees, authorities, local communities, clients and
other stakeholders in addition to conducting regular and routine
inspections.
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In 2017 the percentage of recycled waste reached an all-time
high, improving from an already impressive 91% in 2016 to a
staggering 96% in 2017.
Being a member of the Confederation of Norwegian Enterprises’
NOx-Fund, whose primary objective is to reduce nitrogen oxide
(NOx) emission, VARD continues to explore new initiatives to reduce
emissions. One development is the Group’s investment in shore
power systems. These systems contribute to reducing exhaust
emissions during new build of commissioned ships as well as
during the maintenance and preservation of vessels in lay up.
In 2016 the Norwegian Environment Agency introduced
requirements to revisit the state of certain landfills. In VARD’s
case, there were three relevant yard areas; Vard Brattvaag,
Vard Langsten and Vard Søviknes. All measures required by the
Norwegian Environment Agency with regard to landfill cleanup
have been followed up by our entities. We may see further
measures in these seabed sediments, but no specific new
requirements have been raised during 2017.

Employees
We have experienced a continued downturn in the offshore
market, but there are positive signs of recovery in the medium
and long-term in the broader oil and gas industry. Despite
the difficult situation, the relationship between management,
employees and union representatives was generally positive
and constructive.
Rightsizing at Vard Promar in Brazil continued during the year
due to the lack of work in early stages of vessels under
construction.
The coordinated change program continued to be carried
out among the VARD units in North West Norway. It received
significant funding from NAV Møre og Romsdal (the regional
department for the Norwegian Labour and Welfare
Administration). The funding came from a targeted program
aimed at strengthening competence in companies under strain
from its restructuring efforts. Through the program, VARD was
able to address its manning issues effectively, as well as take
on a more diversified range of new orders.



The program also contributed to the development in Vard Design
of additional know-how enabling the Group to enter new and
diversified segments increasing the innovation pace, and enabling
the company to grow in competences and skilled resources
numbers. For other Group companies such as Vard Electro, the
program has also been beneficial, supporting entry into new
geographical markets and segments, and contributing to the
development of new product solutions. Additionally, a selection
of specialized subsidiaries, such as Vard Engineering Brevik,
Seaonics and Industrial Control Design, successfully secured
similar funding for separate projects.

Training and development
VARD has been an Erasmus program partner for some time.
The Erasmus program was established in 1987 with the purpose
of making Europe as an attractive place for higher education
through exchange programs for students within the EU and EEA.
Through a collaboration between VARD, Haram Vidaregåande
Skule (Haram High School) in Brattvåg and an Italian High School,
twelve students from Brattvåg traveled to Italy in 2017. In addition
to experiencing traditional Italian culture and social customs,
students received valuable working experience within cruise ship
building at Fincantieri’s yard in Monfalcone.
VARD commenced with compulsory training on HSE related
matters, through e-learning. The main focus in Romania has
been on defining and enhancement of various skills in order
to prepare both yards for the increased demand for skilled
workers on the back of an increasing workload. Vard Tulcea and
the local Chamber of Commerce, which focuses on the worker
selection process and the professional training of new welders,
have continued their partnership. Also, focus on safety and job
induction for the new Vietnamese employees in Romania were
a priority, with material in Vietnamese provided by colleagues at
Vard Vung Tau.
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Social responsibility
VARD has a long tradition of contributing to society through
funding and organizing activities in the communities we touch.
These are a selection of the activities carried out by various
VARD locations throughout 2017. In Vietnam, VARD contributed
with financial aid in the aftermath of massive floods and tropical
storms. At Vard Promar, the employees participated in a Solidarity
Christmas action, where employees sent gifts requested by
children in letters to Santa Claus. VARD also participated in a
network run by the Brazilian government agencies (Dream Learn
Work) to assist students with an annual financial contribution
to provide them with the possibility to obtain qualifications for
employment. In Norway, VARD has long traditions in supporting
the local communities through sponsoring of activities including
sports team and local children’s music corps.

VARDs Sustainability Report 2017
The Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), also known as the
Global Goals, are a universal call to action to end poverty, protect
the planet and ensure that all people enjoy peace and prosperity.
For VARD and our motivated employees this invitation to tackle
what is not one, but in fact, a great aggregate of challenges
is energizing. We share a common goal of further developing
solid sustainable solutions that bring value to our customers,
employees, owners, the environment, and society as a whole.
With the United Nations (UNs) Sustainability Goals and our own
values as our navigation marks, VARD is fully committed to taking
an active role in preventing climate change. We will in the course
of 2018 publish a separate Sustainability Report, describing some
of the ways in which we align our activities, efforts and ambitions
with the UN’s Sustainability Development Goals.

Vard Vung Tau in Vietnam continued training activity to enhance
the local team’s competency levels. Vietnamese employees
carried out several training initiatives in areas ranging from
orientation to leadership, soft skills, HSE initiatives, legal
frameworks and technical and quality matters.
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RISK MANAGEMENT
Well-functioning risk management becomes critical in order to maintain stable operations
during times of rapid change and heightened uncertainty. VARD’s risk management is focused on
the areas of market risk, operational risk, financial and regulatory risk, and human resources risk.

Market risk
Guided by a project-based business
model, VARD’s performance is dependent
on maintaining an order book of projects
with an adequate risk-return profile.
Headwinds in the shipbuilding sector and
the oil and gas industry, which is typically
volatile and cyclical in nature, could have
material adverse effects on VARD’s order
book. As such, it is vital for the Group to
actively manage market risk in order to
minimize volatility in its order book. More
importantly, new order intake must, over
time, match revenues in order to secure
a stable and sustainable business.

counterparty risk. Risks are still inherent
in the existing offshore project portfolio,
and the Group has postponed delivery
of some projects amid ongoing financial
restructurings of clients in the offshore
segment. Amidst the uncertainties, VARD
continued to work closely with the various
stakeholder groups, to achieve a win-win
situation for related parties while striving
to minimize the financial losses to the
Group.
To further manage risk, VARD continues
to invest in efforts to create new revenue
streams and develop technical and
commercial opportunities in new markets.

Despite the continued downturn in the
offshore-related vessels market, VARD
successfully managed its market risk
by playing up its diversification strategy,
which has begun to bear fruit. Through
leveraging on the Group’s strengths and
aligning its design, sales and marketing
efforts towards new market segments,
VARD was able to expand its project
portfolio in these segments and ended
the year with a total of 48 vessels in its
order book.

Operational risk

Aside from the threat to new order intake,
the downturn in the oil and gas industry
also increased the Group’s exposure to

To address operational risks, VARD adopts
a stringent risk management framework,
which forms the guiding principle behind
the Group’s project management process.
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Fixed-price contracts are the norm in the
shipbuilding industry, and shipbuilding
contracts are typically agreed up to three
years prior to a vessel’s expected delivery.
It is, therefore, the Group’s responsibility
to ensure that all contract terms are
satisfied, and that variables such as
cost of labor, materials, machinery and
equipment are effectively managed
throughout the project lifespan.

The ability to calculate and manage the
complexity of all project components and
stages, including man-hours, scheduling
and workload has been key for the Group
to succeed in its shipbuilding operations.
The slowdown in new contracts awarded
within the traditional offshore industry
affected the Group’s order book, which in
turn impacted the workload at the yards.
At present, the workload varies across
the various yards. The yards in Brazil
and Norway continued to face low
workloads, while the yard in Romania
experienced a very high workload,
which required a significant increase
in headcount. To ensure operationally
efficiency, it was important for VARD to
manage the additional costs incurred as
a result of suboptimal capacity utilization.
This was done through prudent resource
planning and using all available tools to
minimize excess direct and indirect cost.
As VARD continues to strengthen its
foothold in new market segments, the
Group’s risk management will continue
to proactively assess the newly identified
operational risks, which could potentially
impede VARD’s business operations
throughout the value chain. The Group
is focused on improving the company’s
capabilities and capacity to handle the
newly acquired orders.



Financial and regulatory risk
The business of ship design and
shipbuilding is highly capital-intensive,
and heavily dependent on the access to
financing, both on the shipowner’s and the
shipyard’s side. In addition, the payment
model which typically entails two tranche
payments, one during the design and
construction phase, and another during
the delivery phase, highlights the need for
VARD to gain access to large construction
loans to support the ongoing projects.
As such, VARD proactively conducts due
diligence on its customers and projects
prior to contract signing, thereby
minimizing the risk of defaults and
safeguarding the Group’s financial health.
Besides securing large bank loans, the
large and complex projects also require
guarantee facilities, which refers mainly
to the advance payments received from
clients, payments owed to suppliers and
the shipyard’s contractual performance,
and typically comprise a combination of
corporate and bank guarantees. These
guarantees are crucial in supporting
VARD’s operating business, especially
when operating in a volatile business
environment.
Having business operations around
the world also exposes the Group to
transactional currency risk. Given that
the main currency for VARD’s cost base
is NOK, a long-term change in the NOK
relative to other relevant currencies will
impact VARD’s cost position. The risk is
considerably higher for the Group’s
operations in Brazil, due to existing longterm financing arrangements in Brazil.
As such, to address this risk, VARD aims
to hedge all transactional currency risk
under a consistent hedging policy.

2017 also witnessed the continued
downturn in the offshore industry and
this continued to impact the availability
of financing, as banks and financial
institutions reduced or withdrew their
support for certain projects or market
segments. VARD addressed this risk
by diversifying the Group’s banking
relationships and continued to apply a
prudent cash management approach, to
ensure sufficient levels of working capital
financing for the Group. In addition, VARD
acknowledged the importance of building
trust with the financial community in
securing construction loan financing,
guarantees and foreign exchange lines,
and continues to work closely with GIEK,
the Norwegian Guarantee Institute for
Export Credit, to assist both its clients in
the cruise vessel market and to obtain
export finance, as well as having GIEK
participate on construction loan financing
with the commercial banks.
As VARD operates in multiple jurisdictions,
including emerging economies, the
Group is also subject to regulatory risk.
VARD previously faced a tax claim from
Brazilian authorities due to the transfer
pricing of goods and services delivered
from the Group’s Norwegian subsidiaries
to Vard Niterói. Though, as announced in
December 2017, the Brazilian Authorities
canceled the tax assessment, this incident
continues to serve as a reminder of the
inherent regulatory risks. Irrespective of
the jurisdiction that the Group operates
in, VARD strives to minimize regulatory
risk through seeking the best tax and legal
advice that are also in compliance with
local laws and regulations.
The difficult political and economic context
and complex regulatory environment in
Brazil, still represents a challenge to the
Brazilian operation.
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Human resources risk
Given the complexity of the shipbuilding
process, the shipbuilding industry is
heavily reliant on the availability of skilled
personnel. VARD has successfully built up
substantial know-how over the years and
has made significant efforts to ensure that
the technical know-how are transferred
from project to project and across
shipyards. Managing human resources
risk is key in the current industry downturn,
as the Group faces an increased risk of
losing key talents and expertise, which
will be challenging and costly to rebuild
when the industry picks up again. VARD
manages this risk by maintaining a core
number of key talent at each yard, as well
as implementing temporary layoffs to
reduce the effects of fluctuating capacity
utilization.
Most of our employees are members of
trade unions, and VARD acknowledges the
importance of maintaining a cooperative
relationship with these unions. By doing
so, the Group is well positioned to secure
early involvement and establish an open
and constructive dialogue with all internal
stakeholders concerning issues related to
the workforce and its development.
The Group’s entry into new market
segments also meant that there is a
demand for new skillsets. In 2017, VARD
stepped up its business diversification
efforts, which included the targeted
development of new capabilities through
retraining, new hiring, and increased
cooperation with Fincantieri. By instilling
a learning culture and encouraging
know-how transfer within the Group,
VARD minimized the risks of steep
learning curves for the execution of
projects in new market segments.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS
Our work with Investor Relations in 2017 focused on rebuilding trust with the investment
community by transparently communicating both risks and opportunities.

Total shareholder composition
As at 31 December 2017

A year of profound changes
In 2017, VARD established a foothold in diverse new markets for specialized vessels,
and reaffirmed its already strong position in others. Though the Company already
embarked on its diversification strategy in 2016, it remains mindful that there may still
be investors and analysts who are unfamiliar with some of these market segments.

 Substantial Shareholder

(Fincantieri Oil&Gas): 79.7%

 Private and small investors: 17.6%
 Institutional investors: 2.4%
 Other: 0.3%

Institutional shareholdings
by geography

VARD secured a total of 20 new contracts during the year, including the design and
construction of the world’s most advanced research and expedition vessel, the first
electric hybrid cruise icebreaker with LNG propulsion, and two LNG powered carand passenger vessels, reflecting VARD’s focus on sustainability and green energy.
The Group also expanded its reach in the cruise segment with a contract for the first
expedition cruise vessel to be built at its Vietnam yard.
In the fisheries and aquaculture market, VARD is mobilizing resources and developing
capacity and capabilities to meet the demand for various types of vessels. During the
course of the year, the Group signed contracts for the design and construction of a krill
fishing vessel, a pelagic trawler and a live fish transportation vessel, crowned by an
order for seven stern trawlers in the fourth quarter. These are supplemented by service
vessels and offshore fish farming platforms in the steadily growing order book within this
segment.
In the offshore sector, the focus during 2017 was on delivery of vessels and continued
risk reduction in a still challenging market. In total, four Offshore Subsea Construction
Vessels (OSCVs) were successfully delivered to clients in Brazil, Europe and Asia.
Importantly, VARD also delivered eight Module Carrier Vessels (MCVs) during the
year from its yards in Vietnam and Romania.
Throughout the year, VARD continuously updated investors and other financial
stakeholders on its prospects in the new market segments, through commentary in
its quarterly reports and presentations, and new contract announcements made during
the year.

Timely and transparent communications
 North America: 49.0%
 Asia: 41.0%
 Europe: 10.0%
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Notwithstanding the dynamic changes undertaken by the Group, VARD remains
committed to engaging investors and the broader financial community through the
sharing of material corporate developments in an open, accurate, timely and transparent
manner.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

To ensure timely dissemination of material disclosures, VARD
maintains a dedicated Investor Centre, www.vard.com/investor,
within its website where the investing community can access
the latest news and financial information. The Group promptly
publishes press releases and announcements via Singapore
Exchange’s online portal, SGXNET, prior to distribution to
international newswires, financial and local media, analysts and
other members of the investing community. As part of the Group’s
online communications, an email alert service is also available
for investors to receive the announcements in a timely manner.
The Group also conducts quarterly and yearly results briefings
via teleconference so as to directly engage investors of VARD, and
the general investing community. The senior management also
comes to Singapore to meet shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting. Meanwhile, a team of investor relations professionals
is in place in Singapore all year round to engage shareholders,
analysts and media. The email addresses and telephone contact
numbers of the Company’s investor relations staff are also
available in the Investor Centre.
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All investors are important to VARD, regardless of the size of their
shareholdings, and the Company will maintain its commitment
towards corporate governance and transparent communication
with the investing community as a whole.

Delisting proposal
During the fourth quarter of 2017, VARD and Fincantieri Oil &
Gas S.p.A jointly announced a delisting proposal presented by
Fincantieri to the board of directors of VARD. As part of the
delisting proposal, Citigroup Global Markets Singapore made
an exit offer, for and on behalf of Fincantieri, to acquire all the
issued ordinary shares in VARD. The delisting proposal process is
currently ongoing.

Shareholder composition
At the end of the first quarter 2017, the voluntary cash offer by
Fincantieri Oil & Gas S.p.A for all outstanding shares in VARD
– launched late in 2016 – closed, with Fincantieri controlling
74.5% of VARD’s share capital.
As a consequence, both the aggregate number of shareholders
and the shareholder composition changed substantially during
the year. By the end of 2017, Fincantieri held 79.7% of shares,
compared to 55.6% a year earlier. The holdings of institutional
investors, on the other hand, declined from 12.4% to just 2.4%
during the same time period. The support from private and small
shareholders remained comparatively strong, with their portion
of shareholdings declining from 30.2% to 17.6%.
Six luxury expedition cruise vessels under construction for PONANT.
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OUTLOOK
Branching out into diversified market segments has strengthened VARD’s
prospects and made it more resilient to the cyclical nature of shipbuilding.

Following the ambitious strategy launched
in 2016, VARD has seen good progress in
its business development efforts in several
new market segments. The Company’s
innovative culture, mutually beneficial
synergies with Fincantieri, know-how
transfer and the ability to seize new
market opportunities have been primary
drivers of this incremental success.
VARD’s core market for offshore and
specialized vessels catering to the oil
services industry continues to be weak,
though we see positive signs of recovery
in the medium- and long-term within the
broader oil and gas industry. Risks are still
inherent in the existing offshore project
portfolio, and the Group has postponed
delivery of some projects amid ongoing
financial restructurings of clients in the
offshore segment.
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The shift within the order book – which
began already in 2016, with more than half
the order book value being attributable to
expedition vessels, and the majority of the
vessels on order coming from segments
outside VARD’s traditional market
– continued to expand throughout 2017.
At the end of the year, the order book
comprised 48 vessels, including vessels
for the cruise business, fisheries and
aquaculture and energy business.

functionality and innovation into design, an
expertise VARD has specifically cultivated
for years. The orders for such vessels from
French cruise company PONANT, German
cruise company Hapag-Lloyd, Australian
expedition cruise company Coral
Expeditions, and Rosellinis Four-10,
owned by the Norwegian industrialist
Kjell Inge Røkke and his family, have
established VARD’s standing in the
industry.

VARD is now well positioned in the growing
expedition cruise market, where there are
opportunities to construct highly specialized
vessels heading to exotic destinations
such as the Arctic and Antarctica. With
high expectations for quality standards
and state-of-the-art facilities, ship owners
will look for experienced shipbuilders with
the ability to incorporate technology,

Prospects in the fisheries and aquaculture
market look promising, as we continue
to actively reach out to our clients. As
global demand for farmed fish surges,
the thriving aquaculture market will
continue to be characterized by intense
competition. To increase the Company’s
competitive power, VARD focuses on
developing new sustainable solutions

OUTLOOK

to deliver value to customers. Having won
several key contracts during the year,
VARD is well placed to build on its strong
industry reputation by showcasing its
innovative prowess and global shipbuilding
capacities in these projects. VARD has
dedicated its Vard Aukra yard together
with the equipment provider Vard Aqua to
form a strong player within aquaculture.
VARD has a proven record as a highquality shipbuilder, serving diversified
markets with a broad range of vessels.
Through the integration, we have
strengthened our offering and stepped
up our commitment within aquaculture.
As part of its push for a zero-emission
maritime industry by 2050, Norway is in
the midst of a government-led drive to
replace old ferries operating in the fjords
to environmentally friendly ones.

This green shift is also reflected in the oil
and gas industry’s focus on chartering
fuel-efficient and green vessels for
operations in the North Sea. Being able
to offer an established series of allelectric and hybrid vessels with green
technologies, such as the SeaQ® Energy
Storage System, VARD is poised to capture
new business from the region’s ongoing
hybridization of vessels. Customers are
placing their trust in the Group’s expertise
and have returned to install performanceboosting energy storage systems in
vessels previously built by VARD.
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and aquaculture markets, and within
other highly specialized vessels. Drawing
momentum from the encouraging
results so far, VARD will continue to build
economies of scale with its parent group
Fincantieri, and continue to develop skills,
relationships and experience along the
shipbuilding value chain. Initiatives will
be undertaken to streamline production,
reduce operating costs, and to achieve
operational efficiency gains, in order to
reinforce VARD’s competitive position for
the future.

VARD has built a more diversified and
robust business by targeting multiple
market segments, and has witnessed
several important milestones in the
implementation of its new strategy,
particularly in the cruise, fisheries
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
The directors and management of Vard Holdings Limited (the “Company”) are committed to high standards of corporate
governance and have adopted the principles set out in the Code of Corporate Governance 2012 (the “Code”) which forms part of
the Continuing Obligations of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”). Where there
are deviations from the Code, appropriate explanations are provided.

THE BOARD’S CONDUCT OF AFFAIRS
The principal functions of the Board are:
1) providing entrepreneurial leadership and approving board policies, corporate strategies, key operational initiatives, financial
objectives of the Group and monitoring the performance of management;
2) overseeing the processes for evaluating the adequacy of internal controls, risk management, financial reporting and
compliance;
3) ensuring the Group’s compliance with laws, regulations, policies, directives, guidelines and internal code of conduct;
4) approving the nomination of directors and appointment of key personnel;
5) approving annual budgets, major funding, investments, divestment proposals and monitoring operations;
6) approving the remuneration packages for the Board and key executives;
7) ensuring accurate, adequate and timely reporting to, and communication with shareholders; and
8) assuming the role for the satisfactory fulfilment of social responsibilities of the Group.
The Board has adopted a charter setting out rules and procedures for its self-governance. Certain functions have been
delegated by the Board to three main sub-committees (Audit, Nominating and Remuneration Committees), which operate
under clearly defined terms of reference. The Chairman of the respective committees reports the outcome of committee
meetings to the Board.
Matters that are specifically reserved for the full Board to decide are those involving a conflict of interest for a substantial
shareholder or a director, material acquisitions and disposal of assets, corporate or financial restructuring and share
issuances, dividends and other returns to shareholders and matters that require Board approval.
The Board conducts scheduled meetings on a quarterly basis. Ad-hoc meetings are held where necessary, to address
significant issues. Where expedient, board meetings are held by way of teleconference, which is permitted by the Constitution of
the Company. The attendance of the directors at meetings of the Board and Board Committees for FY2017 is as follows:
			
Name of Directors
Board

Audit
Committee (“AC”)

Remuneration
Committee (“RC”)

Nominating
Committee (“NC”)

No. of
meetings

Attendance

No. of
meetings

Attendance

No. of
meetings

Attendance

No. of
meetings

Attendance

Giuseppe Coronella

7

7

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Roy Reite

7

7

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Vittorio Zane

7

6

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

1

1

Claudio Cisilino

7

6

7

7

2

2

N/A

N/A

Sung Hyon Sok

7

7

7

7

2

2

1

1

Keen Whye Lee

7

7

7

7

2

2

1

1

N/A: Not Applicable

Upon joining the Board, a director is provided with an orientation to familiarize him with the Group’s business, operations and
the relevant regulations and governance requirements.
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The Company adopts a policy whereby directors are encouraged to request further explanation, briefings or informal discussion
on any aspect of the Group’s operations or business issues from management. During the financial year, the directors received
training on regulatory updates including briefings on fundraising options available to listed companies in Singapore. The
directors are also informed of new updates in the requirements of the SGX-ST, Companies Act or other regulations/statutory
requirements from time to time. They are encouraged to participate in seminars and training p
 rogrammes in connection with
their duties, funded by the Company. The directors have open invitations to visit the Group’s operating facilities to enable them
to obtain a better perspective of the business and to enhance their understanding of the Group’s operations.

BOARD COMPOSITION AND GUIDANCE
The Board presently consists of six directors and the Board considers this number to be appropriate for the current scope of
operations of the Group. Messrs Keen Whye Lee and Sung Hyon Sok are non-executive independent directors. Mr. Roy Reite is
an executive director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Mr. Vittorio Zane is also an executive director of the
Company. The other members of the Board, Mr. Giuseppe Coronella and Mr. Claudio Cisilino, are non-executive
non-independent directors. Mr. Giuseppe Coronella is the Chairman of the Board of Directors. Mr. Keen Whye Lee is the Lead
Independent Director.
The background of each director is set out on pages 8 and 9. None of the directors are related to one another. The Board
comprises directors with a broad range of commercial experience including expertise in shipbuilding industry, financial, capital
and investment management. Together, they bring a wide range of expertise, technical skills and relevant experience to the
Group. There is sufficient independent element on the Board. This is to ensure that there is effective representation for
shareholders and issues of strategy, performance and resources are fully discussed and examined to take into account
long-term interest of shareholders, employees, customers, suppliers and the industry in which the Group conducts its
business.
Mr. Keen Whye Lee as the Lead Independent Director, leads and co-ordinates the activities of the independent directors. He is
the principal liaison on board issues between the independent directors and the Chairman.
On 13 November 2017, Fincantieri Oil & Gas S.p.A., the parent company of Vard Holdings Limited, presented a proposal to the
Board of Directors of the Company, to seek the privatization of the Company by way of a voluntary delisting from SGX-ST. In view
of this development, the Company has not yet implemented Guideline 2.2(d) of the Code which requires that independent
directors should make up at least half of the Board where the Chairman is not an independent director. The composition of the
Board will be re-assessed in due course.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) are separate and the positions are held by separate persons
who are not related. There is a division of responsibility between the Chairman and the CEO. The Chairman leads the Board and
bears responsibility for the workings of the Board of Directors, the governance process of the Board of Directors, scheduling
Board meetings and setting the Board meeting agenda in consultation with the CEO. The Chairman reviews most Board papers
before they are presented to the Board of Directors and ensures that Board members are provided with adequate and timely
information.
The CEO is the most senior executive in the Group and is responsible for strategic goals and day-to-day management of the
Group.

BOARD MEMBERSHIP
The Nominating Committee (“NC”) comprises three directors, namely Mr. Sung Hyon Sok (Chairman of the NC), Mr. Keen Whye
Lee and Mr. Vittorio Zane. Mr. Sung Hyon Sok and Mr. Keen Whye Lee are independent directors.
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The scope and responsibilities of the NC include:
1) identifying, reviewing and recommending candidates for nomination for appointment and reappointment of directors, senior
executive staff and the members of the various committees;
2) reviewing the Board structure, size and composition and making recommendations to the Board with regard to any
adjustments that are deemed necessary;
3) reviewing the strength and assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole;
4) determining on an annual basis the independent status of directors;
5) deciding whether or not a director is able to and has been adequately carrying out his duties as a director of the Company,
particularly when he has multiple board representations;
6) overseeing the management, development and succession planning of the Group; and
7) identifying training and professional development programs for directors.
The NC assessed and recommended to the Board, the directors to be re-elected pursuant to the Company’s Constitution at the
Annual General Meeting.
The NC determines the independence of directors annually in accordance with the guidelines set out in the Code and is of the
opinion that the Board is able to exercise objective judgment on corporate affairs independently and that the Board’s
decision-making process is not dominated by any individual or small group of individuals. Although the directors have multiple
listed-company board representations and/or other principal commitments, the Board has considered and is satisfied that
each of them is able to and has adequately carried out his duties as a director of the Company.

BOARD PERFORMANCE
The NC evaluates the performance of the Board and the committees annually based on objective performance criteria. The
performance evaluation is aimed at giving directors an opportunity to gauge their effectiveness individually and collectively. It
also helps to ensure continual improvement in the Board’s decision-making process as it provides a benchmark by which
future performance can be measured.

ACCESS TO INFORMATION
Management provides all directors with Board/Board Committee reports prior to the respective meetings. As a general rule,
papers on specific subjects are sent to the Board in advance and are issued, where possible, in a timely manner to enable the
directors to obtain further explanations where necessary so that they are adequately informed prior to the meetings. Amongst
others, the report provides information on the Company’s performance, financial position and prospects.
The Company Secretary attends all Board and Board Committee meetings. The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring
that procedures are followed and that the Company has complied with the requirements of the Companies Act and all other
rules and regulations that are applicable to the Company. Directors have independent access to the Company Secretary at all
times.

PROCEDURES FOR DEVELOPING REMUNERATION POLICIES
LEVEL AND MIX OF REMUNERATION
The Remuneration Committee (“RC”) comprises three directors, namely Mr. Sung Hyon Sok (Chairman of the RC), Mr. Keen
Whye Lee and Mr. Claudio Cisilino. Mr. Sung Hyon Sok and Mr. Keen Whye Lee are independent directors.
The RC’s responsibilities include:
1) recommending a framework of executive remuneration for the Board and key executives; and
2) reviewing and recommending to the Board the remuneration packages and terms of employment of the CEO and senior
executives of the Group.
There is a formal and transparent procedure for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors. No director is involved
in deciding his own remuneration. In addition to the RC’s responsibilities as stated above, the RC is also responsible for
reviewing and recommending to the Board, the remuneration packages for all directors, taking into account the current market
circumstances and the need to attract directors of experience and good standing.
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As part of its review, the RC will cover all aspects of remuneration including but not limited to directors’ fees, salaries,
allowances, bonuses, shares and benefits-in-kind.
The RC and the Board are of the view that the remuneration of the directors is adequate but not excessive in order to attract,
retain and motivate them to run the Company successfully.
Non-executive directors including the Chairman have no service contracts. The CEO’s contract, which commenced on 
1 October 2010, has no fixed term. His service contract contains non-competition and non-solicitation clauses, which are
binding on him for a period of 6 months and 12 months respectively after the cessation of his employment with the Company.
The Company does not use contractual provisions to allow the Company to reclaim incentive components of remuneration from
executive directors. The executive directors owe a fiduciary duty to the Company. The Company should be able to avail itself to
remedies against the executive directors in the event of such breach of fiduciary duties. The variable component paid to key
executives is moderate, and in line with the practice in the country of operation. Currently, there is no requirement to institute
contractual provisions in service agreements of the executives to reclaim incentive components of remuneration paid to the
executives.
The CEO’s remuneration package includes pension contributions. It also includes a discretionary bonus to be determined by
the RC and recommended to the Board.

DISCLOSURE OF REMUNERATION PAID TO DIRECTORS AND KEY EXECUTIVES

A breakdown showing the level and mix of each individual director’s remuneration paid for FY2017 (in percentage terms) is as
follows:
					Other
Name of Director
Remuneration1)
Fees2) (%)
Salary3) (%)
Bonus3) (%)
Benefits4) (%)

Total (%)

Roy Reite

S$839,000

0%

80%

15%

5%

100%

Giuseppe Coronella

S$200,000

100%

0%

0%

0%

100%

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Nil

Claudio Cisilino

S$66,000

100%

0%

0%

0%

100%

Keen Whye Lee

S$85,000

100%

0%

0%

0%

100%

Sung Hyon Sok

S$66,000

100%

0%

0%

0%

100%

Vittorio Zane5

1
2
3
4
5

Rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars.
Director’s fees received from the Company are subject to approval by shareholders as a lump sum at the AGM.
Salary relates to FY2017. Bonus disclosed in relation to FY2016 paid in 2017.
Other benefits are inclusive of allowances and pensions.
Mr. Vittorio Zane is seconded to VARD and his remuneration is paid by Fincantieri and reimbursed by VARD.

The RC ensures that the remuneration package of employees related to executive directors and controlling shareholders of the
Group are in line with the Group’s staff remuneration guidelines and commensurate with their respective job scope and level
of responsibilities. The aim of the RC is to motivate and retain such executives and ensure that the Group is able to attract the
best talent in the market in order to maximize shareholders’ value.
The table below shows the range of gross remuneration (in percentage terms) of the top five executives (executives who are not
directors) (the “Top Five Executives”):
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			Other
Remuneration band & name of executives
Salarya) (%)
Bonusa) (%)
Benefitsb) (%)

Total (%)

S$250,000 to S$499,999		
Magne Bakke

93%

4%

3%

100%

Magne Håberg

85%

12%

3%

100%

Stig Bjørkedal

97%

0%

3%

100%

Geir Ingebrigtsen

88%

10%

2%

100%

100%

0%

0%

100%

Mauro Leboffec)

a Salary relates to FY2017. Bonus disclosed in relation to FY2016 paid in 2017.
b Other benefits are inclusive of allowances and pensions.
c Mr. Mauro Leboffe is seconded to VARD and his remuneration is paid by Fincantieri and reimbursed by VARD.

The aggregate amount of termination, retirement and post-employment benefits that may be granted to the executive directors
and the Top Five Executives is S$2,043,041. Non-executive directors are not entitled to such benefits. The total remuneration
paid to the Top Five Executives in FY2017 amounted to S$1,606,073.
Mr. Magne Reite, father of Mr. Roy Reite, Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, is an employee of the Group,
whose remuneration exceeded S$50,000 during the financial year ended 31 December 2017. His remuneration was in the band
of S$100,000 to S$150,000.

ACCOUNTABILITY
The results and other relevant information on the Company, are disseminated via SGXNET and are also available on the
Company’s website at www.vard.com.
In presenting the periodic announcement of the results, the Board aims to provide shareholders with a balanced and
comprehensible assessment of the Group’s performance, financial positions and prospects on a quarterly basis.
To enable the Board to fulfill its responsibilities, management reports are made available regularly to all the directors that
include updates on the performance of the Company and all its subsidiaries. The management is accountable to the Board and
the Board is accountable to shareholders.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee (“AC”) comprises three directors, namely Mr. Keen Whye Lee (Chairman of the AC), Mr. Claudio Cisilino
and Mr. Sung Hyon Sok. Mr. Keen Whye Lee and Mr. Sung Hyon Sok are independent directors.
The principal responsibilities of the AC include:
1) recommending to the Board of Directors the external auditors to be nominated, and approving the compensation of the
external auditors. It also reviews the scope and results of the audit, its cost-effectiveness, and the independence and
objectivity of the external auditors;
2) reviewing with management, the significant risks or exposures that exist and the steps management have taken to manage
such risks to the Company, and with the external auditors the audit plan and areas of audit focus;
3) reviewing with the Chief Financial Officer and external auditors at the completion of the full year financial results of the
Group:
a) any significant findings and recommendations of the external auditors together with management’s responses thereto;
b) evaluation of the system of internal controls;
c) the external auditors’ reports;
d) the assistance given by management and the staff of the Company to the external auditors, including any concerns
		 encountered during the course of audit;
e) interested person transactions (“IPTs”) falling within the scope of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual;
4) reviewing quarterly and full year financial statements for submission to the Board for its approval;
5) considering legal and regulatory matters that may have a material impact on the financial statements, related exchange
compliance policies and reports received from regulators.
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Minutes of the AC meetings are submitted to the Board for its information and review. To create an environment for open
discussion on audit matters, the AC meets with the external auditors and with the internal audit team, without the presence of
management, at least once a year. The AC assesses changes in accounting standards and issues that have an impact on the
financial statements with the Auditors.
The AC assesses the independence of the external auditors annually. The aggregate amount of fees paid to the external
auditors of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2017 was NOK 10 million.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND INTERNAL AUDIT
The Board believes in the importance of maintaining a sound system of internal controls to safeguard the interests of
shareholders and the Company’s assets. The Board has approved a set of internal controls that set out approval limits for
expenditure and transactions to be incurred in the ordinary course of business including hedge transactions.
In performing its functions, the AC:
a) had full access to and assistance of the management and the discretion to invite any director and executive officer to attend
its meetings;
b) had been given reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its functions properly; and
c) had the express powers to conduct or authorize investigation into any matters within its terms of reference.
Based on the report of the internal and external auditors, information furnished by management and observations made, the
Board, in concurrence of the AC, is of the view that the existing internal controls and risk management systems are adequate
and effective in addressing financial, operational, compliance and information technology risks. In addition, the Board
recognizes that no cost-effective internal control system will preclude all errors and irregularities, as a system is designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can provide only reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement and loss.
The Board is cognizant of the importance of internal audit, and the Company has during 2017 planned and, supported by the
internal audit function of its parent company, carried out internal audit activities, concluding with a report with specific
recommendations for further improvements to be implemented. The Audit Committee is of the view that the internal audit
team has adequate resources to perform its functions and has to the best of its ability, maintained its independence from the
activities that it audits.
For the financial year under review, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer have provided assurance to the
Board that the financial records of the Company have been properly maintained and the financial statements give a true and
fair view of the operations and finances and that an effective risk management and internal control system has been put in
place.

WHISTLE-BLOWING POLICY
Management has put in place a whistle-blowing policy, whereby employees and any other persons may, in confidence, raise
concerns about possible improprieties on matters of financial reporting or other matters. The objective for such arrangement
is to ensure independent investigation of such matters and for appropriate follow-up action.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
GREATER SHAREHOLDER PARTICIPATION
Major developments on the Company and its business operations are communicated to shareholders via SGXNET and are also
available on the Company’s website at www.vard.com. The Company does not practise selective disclosure. Price sensitive
information is first publicly released before the Company meets with any group of investors or analysts.
Quarterly and annual results are released on SGXNET within the mandatory period.
All shareholders of the Company will receive the Annual Report of the Company and notice of AGM within the mandatory
period. The notice of AGM is also advertised in a prominent newspaper. The Constitution of the Company permits a shareholder
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to appoint one or two proxies to attend and vote in his stead. Relevant Intermediaries which provide nominee or custodial
services may appoint more than two proxies. The Company has not amended its Constitution to provide for absentee voting
methods, which call for elaborate and costly implementation of a foolproof system, the need for which does not arise presently.
As recommended by the Code, all resolutions at general meetings will be voted by poll.
Each item of special business included in the notice of the general meetings is accompanied, where appropriate, by an
explanation for the proposed resolution. Separate resolutions are proposed for each separate issue at the meeting.
The Chairmen of the Board Committees are present and available to address questions relating to the work of their respective
Board Committees at general meetings. Shareholders are given the opportunity to air their views and ask directors,
management and external auditors questions regarding the Company.
In view of the financial performance of the Company, and cash preservation and financing of operations being a focus area, no
dividend has been proposed for FY2017.

DEALINGS IN SECURITIES
The Company has adopted an internal Code of Best Practices on Securities Transactions (“Code”) to provide guidance to its
officers with regard to dealings in the securities of the Company in compliance with principles of Rule 1207(19) of the Listing
Manual of the SGX-ST.
In general, officers are encouraged to hold shares in the Company but the listed issuer and its officers are prohibited from
dealing in shares:
• in the period commencing two weeks before the announcement of the quarterly financial results or one month before the
announcement of the financial statements of the financial year, as the case may be, and ending on the dates of the
announcement of the relevant results.
• at any time while in possession of price-sensitive information.
Directors and employees are expected not to deal in the Company’s securities on short-term considerations and to observe
insider trading laws at all times. All senior managers of the Company are required to notify their dealings in the Company’s
shares within two market days of transaction.

INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS (“IPT”)
The Company has adopted an internal policy in respect of any transaction with interested person and has set out the
procedures for review and approval of the Company’s IPTs.
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The aggregate value of the transactions conducted during the financial year are as follows:
		
		
		
		
		
		
		
		
		
		

Aggregate value of all
interested person
transactions during the
financial year under review
(excluding transactions
less than S$100,000 and
transactions conducted
under shareholders’
mandate pursuant to
Rule 920)

Aggregate value of all
interested person
transactions conducted
under shareholders’
mandate pursuant
to Rule 920 (excluding
transactions less than
S$100,000)

		

NOK

NOK

Fincantieri Group			
Secondment of personnel to VARD

-

7,826,631

Supply of consultancy service to VARD

-

1,988,213

Five-year rental agreement of barge from FINCANTIERI

-

165,196,500

Contract for manufacturing and outfitting of a ship-part to FINCANTIERI

-

895,394,209

Contract for delivery of accommodation package from Marine Interiors SPA

-

537,297,230

Contract for delivery of naval architecture and marine engineering services to FMG LLC

-

22,673,250

Slot reservation agreement
Total

-

239,807,500
1,870,183,533

MATERIAL CONTRACTS
There were no material contracts involving the interests of any director or controlling shareholder of the Company, not being
contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business, entered into by the Company during the period under review, except
as disclosed in the audited financial statements.

OTHERS
The Company and its Singapore-incorporated subsidiary are audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. Significant
foreign-incorporated subsidiaries are audited by other member firms of PricewaterhouseCoopers International Limited
(PwCIL).
Associated companies are audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers AS, Ernst & Young AS, BDO AS, Deloitte AS, Revisjonsselskapet
AS, Solvang Revisjon AS and AT ADLER Pte. Ltd.
The Company is in compliance with Rules 712 and 715 of the Listing Manual.
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT
The directors present this statement to the members of the Company together with the audited financial statements for the
financial year ended 31 December 2017. The consolidated financial statements have been presented on the basis described in
Note 2 to the audited financial statements.

1. DIRECTORS

The directors in office at the date of this statement are as follows:
Mr. Giuseppe Coronella, Chairman
Mr. Roy Reite, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
Mr. Vittorio Zane, Executive Director
Mr. Claudio Cisilino, Non-Executive Director
Mr. Keen Whye Lee, Lead Independent Director
Mr. Sung Hyon Sok, Independent Director
In the opinion of the directors:
a) the statement of financial position of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group as set out on
pages 62-115 are drawn up as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and of the Group as at 
31 December 2017 and the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the financial year
covered by the consolidated financial statements; and
b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and
when they fall due.

2. DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

According to the register kept by the Company for the purposes of Section 164 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (the “Act”),
particulars of interests of directors who held office at the end of the financial year (including those held by their spouses and
infant children) in shares, debentures, warrants and share options in the Company and in related corporations (other than
wholly-owned subsidiaries) are as follows:
						
Name of Directors and corporation
in which interests are held
Mr. Giuseppe Coronella
Intermediate Holding Company – FINCANTIERI S.p.A.
- Number of shares

Holdings at
beginning of the year

Holdings at
end of the year

11,000

11,000

Mr. Claudio Cisilino
Intermediate Holding Company – FINCANTIERI S.p.A.
- Number of shares

12,000

8,000

Mr. Vittorio Zane
Intermediate Holding Company – FINCANTIERI S.p.A.
- Number of shares

8,800

8,800

Except as disclosed in this report, no director who held office at the end of the financial year had interests in shares,
debentures, warrants or share options of the Company, or of related corporations, either at the beginning of the financial year,
or at the end of the financial year.
As at 21 January 2018, Mr. Claudio Cisilino was interested in 4,000 shares of FINCANTIERI S.p.A. There were no other
changes in any of the above mentioned interests in the Company between the end of the financial year and 21 January 2018.
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3. ARRANGEMENT TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Neither at the end of, nor at any time during the financial year, was the Company a party to any arrangement whose objects
are, or one of whose objects is, to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of
shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

4. SHARE OPTIONS

a) Options to take up unissued shares
During the financial year, there were no options granted to take up unissued shares of the Company.
b) Options exercised
During the financial year, there were no shares of the Company issued by virtue of the exercise of an option to take up
unissued shares.
c) Unissued shares under option
At the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company under option.

5. AUDIT COMMITTEE

The members of the Audit Committee at the date of this report are:
• Mr. Keen Whye Lee (Chairman), Lead Independent Director
• Mr. Sung Hyon Sok, Independent Director
• Mr. Claudio Cisilino, Non-Executive Director
The Audit Committee performs the functions specified in Section 201B of the Act, the SGX Listing Manual and the Code of
Corporate Governance.
In performing its functions, the Audit Committee met with the Company’s auditors to discuss the scope of their work, the
results of their examination and evaluation of the Company’s internal accounting control system.
The Audit Committee also reviewed the following:
• assistance provided by the Company’s officers to the external auditors;
• the scope and results of the internal audit procedures;
• quarterly financial information and annual financial statements of the Group and the Company prior to their submission to
the directors of the Company for adoption; and
• interested person transactions (as defined in Chapter 9 of the SGX Listing Manual).
The Audit Committee has full access to management and is given the resources required for it to discharge its functions. It has
full authority and the discretion to invite any director or executive officer to attend its meetings. The Audit Committee also
recommends the appointment of the external auditors and reviews the level of audit and non-audit fees.
The Audit Committee is satisfied with the independence and objectivity of the external auditors and has recommended to the
Board of Directors that the auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, be nominated for reappointment at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting of the Company.
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6. INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have indicated their willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

____________________
Mr. Giuseppe Coronella
Chairman of the Board and Non-Executive Director

____________________
Mr. Roy Reite
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director		

22 March 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS
OF VARD HOLDINGS LIMITED

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our Opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Vard Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) and the statement of financial position of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 (“the Act”) and Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (“FRSs”) so as to give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group and the financial position of the Company as at
31 December 2017 and of the consolidated financial performance, consolidated changes in equity and consolidated cash flows
of the Group for the financial year ended on that date.

What we have audited
The financial statements of the Company and the Group comprise:
• the statements of financial position of the Group and of the Company as at 31 December 2017;
• the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
• the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
• the consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the year then ended; and
• the notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

Basis for Our Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) Code of
Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA Code.

Our Audit Approach
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the
accompanying financial statements. In particular, we considered where management made subjective judgements; for
example, in respect of significant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that
are inherently uncertain. As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls,
including among other matters consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that represented a risk of material
misstatement due to fraud.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial
statements for the financial year ended 31 December 2017. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.
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Key audit matters

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

1. Contract revenue recognition using the percentage-of-completion method
,
,
• Obtained an understanding of the status of the work-in-progress
contracts and the project contingencies and risks associated with
those customer contracts;
• Evaluated the effectiveness of management’s control over the
preparation and revision to the budgeted total costs, and the
recording of the actual costs;
• Assessed the reliability of management’s estimates of the
budgeted total costs by comparing these against the actual costs;
• Tested, on a sample basis, the actual material and subcontractor
costs incurred to suppliers’ invoices and project job sheets,
• Tested, on a sample basis, the basis of overhead allocation;
• Performed, on a sample basis, inspection of job sites and
performed physical verification of the existence of the
work-in-progress hulls; and
• Recomputed the revenues and costs recognized for the year and
traced these to the accounting records.

Refer to Note 2D Construction Contracts, 3H, 3M
and 24 to the financial statements.
Revenue from construction contracts amounted to
NOK 8,328 million, representing 96.8 % of the
Group’s total revenue for the financial year ended
31 December 2017.
Revenue from construction contracts is recognized
based on the stage of completion of the
construction contract (the “POC” method), which is
measured generally by reference to contract costs
incurred to date, as compared to the estimated
total costs for the contracts.
The revenue from construction contracts using the
POC method is key to our audit because of the use
of significant management judgements to estimate
the total contract costs that could arise, including
uncertainties occurring during the execution of the
projects.

Based on our audit procedures, we found management’s
judgements in relation to estimating the total costs in respect of the
construction contracts to be appropriate.

2. Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment in Brazil
,
,
Refer to Note 2D Impairment assessment of goodwill
and property plant and equipment, 3D, 3I and 4 to the
financial statements.
The Group owns shipyards, plant and machinery
used in shipbuilding activities. As at 31 December
2017, the carrying value of the property, plant and
equipment relating to the shipbuilding activities in
Brazil was NOK 1,022 million, representing 6.8% of
the Group’s total assets.
In Brazil, the Group continue to experience an
overall market downturn and demanding
operations. Management has performed an
impairment assessment, including analyzing the
recoverable amount of the yard assets in Brazil.
Based on the impairment test, no impairment
charge was required to be recorded.
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• Assessed the competence and objectivity of the independent
valuation advisor;
• Involved our valuation specialist to assess the reasonableness of
valuation techniques and assumptions applied by the
independent valuation advisor supporting the estimated fair value
of yard assets;
• Ascertained that the independent valuation advisor had adequate
and precise knowledge about the assets that they valued;
• Assessed the reasonableness of significant assumptions related
to yard assets valued based on our knowledge of the business
and the industry;
• Recomputed selected calculations of estimated fair values of
yard assets; and
• Corroborated applied market data assumptions to other external
sources.
Based on our audit procedures, we found management’s
assumptions in relation to the fair value less cost of disposal
calculation to be reasonable.
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,

The impairment assessment was significant to our
audit because of the significant judgements made
in the valuation techniques and assumptions
applied when calculating the recoverable amount
of the assets.
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3. Recoverability of work-in-progress balances for customers in the offshore sector
,
,

Refer to Note 2 D Construction Contracts, 3H, 3M
and 15 to the financial statements.
The downturn in the offshore sector has had a
significant impact on the customers in the offshore
sector. With the challenges faced by the industry,
certain customers have requested for deferral of
delivery dates of the vessels under construction.
This could impact the recoverability of the
work-in-progress balances.
As at 31 December 2017, the construction
work-in-progress balance, including the offshore
sector, was NOK 6,537 million.
In estimating the recoverability, management
considered the financial condition of their
customers, and whether the work-in-progress may
be recovered through alternative transactions in
the event that the customers were to be unable to
take delivery.

• Evaluated management’s assessment of the risk of customers
defaulting on the contracts, and corroborated these with our
understanding of the industry, facts and circumstances
applicable to the individual contracts, as well as publicly available
information that would be relevant to understand the financial
position of the customers;
• Where requests have been received for deferral of the delivery
dates, reviewed the appropriateness of continued recognition of
revenue and associated margin as construction contracts; and
• Assessed management’s estimation of the recoverability of the
work-in-progress, with reference to possible alternatives in the
market, should the customers be unable to take delivery of the
vessels.
Based on the audit procedures performed, we found management’s
judgment on the recoverability of the work-in-progress to be
appropriate.

We focused on this area because of the complexity
of facts and circumstances and the inherent
judgment required in assessing whether the
customers will be able to fulfil their contractual
obligations and take delivery of the vessels.
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Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all the sections of the annual report,
but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the
provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide
a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorized use or disposition; and transactions are
properly authorized and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and
to maintain accountability of assets.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by management.
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• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiary
corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions
of the Act.
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Maurice Loh Seow Wee.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants
Singapore, 22 March 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
(All amounts in NOK millions unless otherwise stated)

ASSETS

Note

2017

Group

2016

Non-current assets			
Property, plant and equipment
4
2,629
2,555
Intangible assets
5
477
475
Investment in subsidiary
6
Investment in associates
7
192
222
Other investments
8
12
19
Interest-bearing receivables, non-current
9
581
473
Non-current derivatives
31
28
Other non-current assets
10
158
38
Deferred tax assets
11
126
82
Total non-current assets		
4,175
3,892
Current assets
Inventories
14
2,100
1,949
Construction WIP in excess of prepayments
15
6,537
5,594
Trade and other receivables
16
834
801
Current derivatives
31
84
53
Other current assets
10
62
161
Interest-bearing receivables, current
9
322
289
Cash and cash equivalents
17
810
722
Assets classified as held for sale
32
57
Total current assets		
10,749
9,626
Total assets		
14,924
13,518

Company
2017
2016

3,518
3,518

2,983
2,983

92
1
93
3,611

112
7
3
122
3,105

4,138
(1,411)
450
3,177
3,177

4,138
(1,411)
375
3,102
3,102

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Paid up capital
18
Restructuring reserve
18
Other reserves
18
Retained earnings
18
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company		
Non-controlling interests
12
Total equity		

4,138
(3,190)
(841)
1,961
2,068
25
2,093

4,138
(3,190)
(877)
2,194
2,265
30
2,295

Non-current liabilities						
Loans and borrowings, non-current
19,31
1,045
1,049
Deferred tax liabilities
11
89
109
Non-current derivatives
31
168
32
Other non-current liabilities
20
831
582
Provisions, non-current
21
87
96
Total non-current liabilities		
2,220
1,868
Current liabilities
Loans and borrowings, current
19,31
Construction loans
19,31
Prepayments in excess of construction WIP
15
Trade and other payables
22
Current derivatives
31
Income tax payable		
Provisions, current
21
Other current liabilities
23
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale 32
Total current liabilities		
Total liabilities		
Total equity and liabilities		

872
5,652
715
2,051
363
51
98
809
10,611
12,831
14,924

443
5,248
763
1,636
591
85
141
404
44
9,355
11,223
13,518

431
1
2
434
434
3,611

2
1
3
3
3,105

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.					
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(All amounts in NOK millions unless otherwise stated)

Note
Revenue
24,30
Materials and subcontract costs		
Salaries and related costs
25,35
Other operating expenses
26
Depreciation, impairment and amortization
4,5
Restructuring cost
13
Operating profit/(loss)		

2017
8,603
(5,601)
(2,298)
(541)
(221)
(33)
(91)

Financial income
27
Financial costs
27
Net		

233
(339)
(106)

Group

2016
7,894
(5,049)
(2,162)
(515)
(205)
(105)
(142)
323
(282)
41

Share of results of associates, net of tax
7
(47)
(58)
Profit/(loss) before tax		
(244)
(159)
				
Income tax expense
28
6
(38)
Profit/(loss) for the year		
(238)
(197)
Other comprehensive income/(loss)				
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:			
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations		
(22)
(404)
Net fair value change in cash flow hedge		
56
(49)
Income tax on other comprehensive income
28
4
93

Items that may not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Share of other comprehensive income in associated companies
7
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income tax		
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year		

(2)
36
(202)

(102)
(462)
(659)

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to:			
Equity holders of the Company		
(233)
Non-controlling interests
12
(5)
Profit/(loss) for the year		
(238)

(163)
(34)
(197)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:		
Equity holders of the Company		
Non-controlling interests
12
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year		

(444)
(215)
(659)

(197)
(5)
(202)

Earnings/(loss) per share (expressed in NOK)			
Attributable to Equity holders of the Company				
Basic
29
(0.20)
(0.14)
Diluted
29
(0.20)
(0.14)
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.				
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4,138

(3,190)

163

2,194

2,265

4,138

(3,190)

392

139

-

2,319

3,798

(837)

2,961

Total
equity

(238)
36
(202)
2,093

2,295

Total
equity

4,138

(3,190)

(87)
(87)
163

(38)

(1,002)
(1,002)
(1,002)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.					

Transactions with owners
Equity Subsribed by non-controlling shareholders
Effects of business combinations
Total transaction with owners
At 31 December 2016

2,194

(1,089)
(1,089)
2,265

22
1,060
1,082
30

22
(29)
(7)
2,295

Comprehensive income									
Loss for the year
(163)
(163)
(34)
(197)
Other comprehensive income/(loss)
(142)
(177)
38
(281)
(181)
(462)
Total comprehensive income/(loss)
(142)
(177)
(125)
(444)
(215)
(659)

At 1 January 2016

Noncontrolling
interests

						
							
Total equity
Other reserves
							attributable
Group			
Currency
Fair			
to equity
Paid up
Restructuring
translation
value
Other
Retained
holders of
capital
reserve
reserve
reserve
reserve
earnings
the Company

(233)
(233)
1,961

(5)
(5)
25

(1,002)

Comprehensive income					
Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income/(loss)
(4)
40
Total comprehensive income/(loss)
(4)
40
At 31 December 2017
4,138
(3,190)
159
2

30

Noncontrolling
interests

(233)
36
(197)
2,068

(1,002)

(38)

At 1 January 2017

							
Total equity
Other reserves
							attributable
Group			
Currency
Fair			
to equity
Paid up
Restructuring
translation
value
Other
Retained
holders of
capital
reserve
reserve
reserve
reserve
earnings
the Company

(All amounts in NOK millions unless otherwise stated)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
(All amounts in NOK millions unless otherwise stated)

Note

Operating activities
Profit (loss) before tax		
Adjustments for:
Net interest expense		
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment, net		
Unrealized foreign exchange gain/loss		
Depreciation, impairment and amortization		
Change in pension assets and liabilities		
Other non-cash items in the statement of comprehensive income		
Share of results of associates		
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital		

2017

Group

2016

(244)

(159)

48
3
(102)
221
1
90
47
64

42
(193)
205
17
58
(30)

Inventories		
(205)
(129)
Construction work in progress		
(844)
5,921
Proceeds from construction loans		
1,410
3,296
Repayment of construction loans		
(1,089)
(7,414)
Other working capital assets		
(203)
975
Other working capital liabilities		
991
(1,814)
Provisions		
(52)
25
Cash generated from/(used in) operations		
72
830
				
Interest received		
34
36
Interest paid		
(60)
(77)
Income tax paid		
(73)
(25)
Cash flows from/(used in) operating activities		
(27)
764
Investing activities				
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment		
2
19
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiary		
7
Purchase of property, plant and equipment		
(317)
(245)
Purchase of intangible assets		
(25)
(45)
Issuance of new non-current interest bearing receivables		
(3)
Proceeds from repayment of non-current interest bearing receivables		
6
Proceeds from repayment of short-term interest-bearing receivables		
5
Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquried
32
(1)
(32)
Acquisition of equity interest in associates		
(11)
Increase in ownership interest in subsidiaries		
(14)
Cash flows used in investing activities		
(343)
(311)

Financing activities
Proceeds from loans and borrowings		
825
44
Repayment of loans and borrowings		
(358)
(615)
Transactions with non-controlling interests
32
(16)
Cash flows from financing activities
19
467
(587)
		
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents		
97
(134)
Effects of currency translation difference on cash and cash equivalents		
(7)
32
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year		
618
720
		
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year		
708
618
Restricted cash at end of financial year		
102
104
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year including restricted cash
17
810
722
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES
(All amounts in NOK millions unless otherwise stated)

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements.
The financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 22 March 2018.				
												

1 Corporate information
GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company (Registration No. 201012504K) is a company incorporated in Singapore. The address of its registered office is at
Six Battery Road #10-01, Singapore 049909									
									
The financial statements of the Group as at and for the year ended 31 December 2017 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group” and individually as “Group entities”) and the Group’s interest in associates.
The principal activities of the Company during the financial year are mainly that of an investment holding company. The
Company also provides support services to its subsidiaries, including the provision of performance and repayment guarantees
on the construction contracts. A list of its subsidiaries is given in Note 36 to the financial statements. 				
					 							

2 Basis of preparation
(A) STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (FRS).

(B) BASIS OF MEASUREMENT

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as otherwise described in the notes
below.

Going concern basis

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, since the directors have verified that there are
no financial, operating or other types of indicators that might cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to meet its
obligations in the foreseeable future and particularly within the 12 months from the end of the reporting period.

(C) FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY

The Company’s functional currency is the Norwegian Kroner (NOK). The financial statements of the Group and the statement
of financial position of the Company are presented in Norwegian Kroner (NOK) and all amounts have been rounded to the
nearest million, unless otherwise stated. 									

(D) USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRSs requires the management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of the accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses. Actual results may ultimately differ from these estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision to accounting estimates are accounted
for in the period in which the estimates are revised and any future periods affected.				
Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material
adjustment within the next financial year are included in the following notes:					

Contruction contracts

The Group uses the percentage-of-completion (POC) method to account for construction work in progress. The use of this
method requires the Group to estimate the stage of completion of contract activity and also estimate the outcome of a
contract at each reporting date. Revenue recognition depends on variables such as development in steel prices, cost of other
factor inputs, extent of calculated contingencies, developments in projects and shipyard capacity and efficiency.
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The scope of variation orders and acceptance of claims by customers may affect revenue estimates. Uncertainties about
revenue estimates will also be affected by the Group’s previous experience from similar construction projects. Generally,
there are greater uncertainties related to revenue estimates of new constructions, new designs and new yards. Events,
changes in assumptions and management’s judgement will affect recognition of revenue in the current period.		
Based on the current ongoing work to reduce the significant counterparty risk in the offshore project portfolio, and the
current status of negotiations ongoing, management’s assessment as of 31 December 2017 is still that it is probable that the
economic benefits from the construction contracts will flow to the Group. When arriving at this conclusion, management is
also considering the possibilities of reconfiguring or rebuilding the vessels for other purposes.			
The Group has currently three construction projects ongoing at the Brazilian yard, Vard Promar. During 2017 the yard was able
to successfully deliver two vessels, and hence effectively reducing the overall operational risk. While the production
environment still remains challenging and management considers the estimates as more uncertain than those related to other
construction projects in the Group, the remaining projects are rapidly reaching delivery reducing the risks in estimating the
final results of the said projects compared to the previous year.

Impairment assessment of goodwill and property plant and equipment

In accordance with FRS, the recoverability of the carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed annually or more frequently when
there is an indication of a possible impairment. Goodwill is tested for impairment at the lowest level (cash-generating unit
“CGU”) within the entity at which management assesses, directly or indirectly, the return on the investment that includes such
goodwill. The recoverable amount of a CGU is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows of the cash generating unit are discounted to their present value. The calculations
require the use of estimates and assumptions relating to cash flows and discount rates.					
Generally, there will be uncertainties related to cash flow estimates. The degree of uncertainty will depend on certainty of the
order backlog and market development, uncertainties in prices related to different factor inputs and to what extent the prices
are hedged. Events, changes in assumptions and the management’s judgement will affect the evaluation of the recoverable
amounts of the cash-generating units. The carrying amount of goodwill is disclosed in Note 5 to the financial statements. 		
Because of the continued challenging market conditions and historical operating losses at Vard Promar, impairment indicators
have been identified for property, plant and equipment. At the Brazilian yard an impairment test has been performed for the
carrying amount of all property plant and equipment (31 December 2017: NOK 1,022 million). The recoverable amount has been
estimated based on a fair value less costs of disposal. The fair value of the property, plant and equipment was determined by an
external, independent valuation advisor using methodology in compliance with the principles of the standards of the
International Valuation Standards Committee (IVSC). This methodology included a cost method (depreciated replacement cost
method) in combination with a market approach for certain assets within the equipment and machinery asset category. The
recoverable amount assessed by the appraiser as of 31 December 2017 is higher than the book value of the property, plant and
equipment by NOK 117 million. The fair value measurement of the property, plant and equipment has been categorized as a
Level 3 fair value measurement in the FRS 113 fair value hierarchy based on the use of unobservable inputs in the valuation
technique. Management and the independent appraiser has assumed that the asset types (customized) Machinery and
equipment, floating dock, buildings and improvements constitutes on unit. Inputs to the valuation models include the remaining
useful life of the assets, estimated cash price of replacing the asset, budgets and an assumption of continuity of use.
In prior years the Group has estimated the recoverable amount based on a value in use calculation. Due to the persisting
uncertainties and risks in the future order intake due to the current market situation in Brazil, the Group has considered more
reliable to assess the recoverable amount using the fair value less cost of disposal effective from 2017.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income tax in several jurisdictions. Considerable judgement is required when determining the
global allocation of income taxes. The Group has many transactions and calculations where the final outcome may be
uncertain. The Group accounts for its expected tax liabilities based on estimates. When final outcomes differ from the
original estimations, the deviations in the estimations will affect the tax expense and provision in the period in which the
r

e-estimation is made. 									
			
The tax claim received by Vard Niterói SA in previous years was cancelled during 2017. Further infomation is given in
Note 37. 									
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Deferred tax assets relating to losses carried forward are recognized when it is probable that the losses carried forward
may be utilized. The evaluation of probability is based on historical earnings, expected future margins and the size of order
backlog for the relevant entity. Any deviations in the probability evaluation will affect the deferred tax asset amount. The
carrying amount of deferred tax balances is disclosed in Note 11.
						
						

Provisions

The provision for warranties is based on estimates from known and expected warranty work and contractual obligations for
further work to be performed after completion. The warranty expense incurred could be higher or lower than the p
 rovision
made. The carrying amount and movements in provision for warranties are detailed in Note 21.			
Other significant provisions relate to legal proceedings and environmental clean-up costs whose bases of the estimates
and movements are detailed in Note 21 and Note 37 respectively.							

Property, plant and equipment

The Group reviews the residual values and useful lives of property, plant and equipment at each reporting date in a
 ccordance
with the accounting policy in Note 3(d). The estimation of the residual amount and useful lives involves significant
judgement.

Inventories

Following the termination of two shipbuilding contracts during 2015 and the reclassification of the vessel previously under
construction for Harkand during 2016, the inventories includes two vessels within work in progress and one vessel within
finished goods. The Group measures inventories at the lower of cost and net realizable value, where the net realizable value
is the estimated selling price less the cost of completion and selling expenses. At 31 December 2017 the value of the vessels
was reassessed to align the book value with the net realizable value and a loss of NOK 54 million was recognized. The
estimated net realisable value of the assets is based on different tangible scenarios to sell the vessels as well on ship broker
valuations reports obtained.
		

Changes in accounting policies

With effect from 1 January 2017, the Group and the Company have adopted all the new and revised Financial Reporting
Standards (FRSs) and Interpretations of FRSs (INT FRSs) that are relevant to its operations and are effective for annual
periods beginning on 1 January 2017. The adoption of the new or revised FRSs and INT FRSs did not result in any significant
changes to the accounting policies of the Group and the Company, and has no material effect on the amounts reported for
the current or prior periods.											
				

3 Significant accounting policies
(A) BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. Control is when the group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The Group takes into
consideration potential voting rights that are currently exercisable.
The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:
- the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus
- the recognized amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus
- if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity interest in the acquiree, over the
net recognized amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
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When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognized immediately in profit or loss.
		
The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such
amounts are generally recognized in profit or loss.								
Any contingent consideration payable is recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent consideration is
classified as equity, it is not re-measured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes to
the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognized in profit or loss.					
When share-based payment awards (replacement awards) are required to be exchanged for awards held by the acquiree’s
employees (acquiree’s awards) and relate to past services, then all or a portion of the amount of the acquirer’s replacement
awards are included in measuring the consideration transferred in the business combination. This determination is based
on the market-based value of the replacement awards compared with the market-based value of the acquiree’s awards
and the extent to which the replacement awards relate to past and/or future service.					
Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net assets in the event of liquidiation are measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognized amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets, at the acquisition date. The
measurement basis taken is elected on a transaction-by-transaction basis. All other non-controlling interests are measured
at acquisition-date fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another standard.				
Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Group incurs
in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.						

Acquisition of non-controlling interests

Acquisitions of non-controlling interests are accounted for as transactions with owners in their capacity as owners and
therefore no goodwill is recognized as a result. Adjustments to non-controlling interests arising from transactions that do
not involve the loss of control are based on a proportionate amount of the net assets of the subsidiary.			
				

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.			
The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with the policies adopted by the
Group. Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are allocated to the non-controlling interests even if
doing so causes the non-controlling interests to have a deficit balance.							
		.							

Acquisition from entities under common control

Business combinations arising from transfers of interests in entities that are under the control of the shareholder that
controls the Group are accounted for as if the acquisition had occurred at the beginning of the earliest comparative year
presented or, if later, at the date that common control was established; for this purpose comparatives are restated. The
assets and liabilities acquired are recognized at the carrying amounts recognized previously in the Group controlling
shareholder’s consolidated financial statements. The components of equity of the acquired entities are added to the same
components within Group equity and any gain/loss arising is recognized directly in equity.				

Loss of control

Upon the loss of control, the Group derecognizes the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-controlling interests
and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is
recognized in profit or loss. If the Group retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured
at fair value at the date that control is lost. Subsequently, it is accounted for as an equity-accounted investee or as an
available-for-sale financial asset depending on the level of influence retained.

Investments in associates (equity-accounted investees)

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and operating
policies of these entities. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the
voting power of another entity.									
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Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method (equity-accounted investees) and are recognized
initially at cost. The cost of the investments includes transaction costs.						
The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
equity-accounted investees, after adjustments to align the accounting policies of the equity-accounted investees with those
of the Group, from the date that significant influence or joint control commences until the date that significant influence
ceases.									
									
When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity-accounted investee, the carrying amount of the
investment, together with any long-term interest that form part thereof, is reduced to zero, and the recognition of further
losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has an obligation to fund the investee’s operations or has made
payments on behalf of the investee.										
						

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from intra-group t ransactions,
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealized gains arising from transactions with
equity-accounted investees are eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investees.
Unrealized losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealized gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

Subsidiaries and associates in the separate financial statements			

Investments in subsidiaries and associates are stated in the Company’s statement of financial position at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. 										


(B) FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION AND TRANSACTIONS
Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of the entities in the group at
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. The functional currencies of the significant subsidiaries are NOK, USD,
RON and BRL. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the end of the reporting period are
retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary
items is the difference between amortized cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective
interest and payments during the year, and the amortized cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end
of the year.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to
the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items in a foreign
currency that are measured in terms of historical cost are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.
Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognized in profit or loss, except for the following differences
which are recognized in other comprehensive income arising on the retranslation of:
- available-for-sale equity instruments (except on impairment in which case foreign currency differences that have been
recognized in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss);
- a financial liability designated as a hedge of the net investment in a foreign operation to the extent that the hedge is
effective; or
- qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent the hedge is effective.						

Foreign operations

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated to NOK at exchange rates at the end of the reporting period.
The income and expenses of foreign operations, excluding foreign operations in hyperinflationary economies, are translated
to NOK at the weighted average exchange rate for the period. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and are translated at the exchange rates at
the end of the reporting period.
Foreign currency differences are recognized in other comprehensive income, and presented in the foreign currency
translation reserve (translation reserve) in equity. However, if the foreign operation is a non-wholly-owned subsidiary,
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then the relevant proportionate share of the translation difference is allocated to the non-controlling interests. When a
foreign operation is disposed of such that control, significant influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative amount in the
translation reserve related to that foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of only part of its interest in a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation while retaining control,
the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reattributed to non-controlling interests. When the Group disposes
of only part of its investment in an associate or jointly controlled entity that includes a foreign operation while retaining
significant influence or joint control, the relevant proportion of the cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss.		
		
When the settlement of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor likely in the
foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetary item that are considered to form part of
a net investment in a foreign operation are recognized in other comprehensive income, and are presented in the t ranslation
reserve in equity.												

(C) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Non-derivative financial assets

The Group initially recognizes loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they are originated. All other financial
assets (including assets designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognized initially on the trade date, which is the
date that the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.				
The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers
the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in transferred financial assets that is created or
retained by the Group is recognized as a separate asset or liability.						
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and only
when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.									
									
The Group classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, held-to-maturity financial assets, loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets.			
													

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

A financial asset is classified at fair value through profit or loss if it is classified as held for trading or is designated as such
upon initial recognition. Financial assets are designated at fair value through profit or loss if the Group manages such
investments and makes purchase and sale decisions based on their fair value in accordance with the Group’s d
 ocumented
risk management or investment strategy. Attributable transaction costs are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value, and changes therein, which takes
into account any dividend income, are recognized in profit or loss. 						
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss comprise equity securities that otherwise would have been
classified as available for sale.									
									
There are no financial assets at fair value through profit or loss at the reporting date.				

Held-to-maturity financial assets							

If the Group has the positive intent and ability to hold debt securities to maturity, then such financial assets are classified
as held-to-maturity. Held-to-maturity financial assets are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity financial assets are measured at amortized cost using
the effective interest method, less any impairment losses. Any sale or reclassification of a more than insignificant amount
of held-to-maturity investments not close to their maturity would result in the reclassification of all held-to-maturity
investments as available for sale. It would also prevent the Group from classifying investment securities as held-to-maturity
for the current and the following two financial years.
							
There are no held-to-maturity financial assets at the reporting date.						
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Loans and receivables							

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active m
 arket.
Such assets are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment
losses.									
									
Loans and receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables (excluding advances to
suppliers, VAT and tax receivables).											

									

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and short-term deposits with maturities of three months or less
from the acquisition date that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are used by the Group
in the management of its short-term commitments. For the purpose of the statement of cash-flows, pledged d
 eposits
are excluded whilst bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are included in cash and cash equivalents.							

Available-for-sale financial assets							

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or are not
classified in any of the above categories of financial assets. Available-for-sale financial assets are recognized initially at fair
value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and
changes therein, other than impairment losses and foreign currency differences on available-for-sale debt instruments,
are recognized in other comprehensive income and presented in the fair value reserve in equity. When an investment is
derecognized, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is reclassified to profit or loss.
		
Available-for-sale financial assets comprise equity securities.						

Non-derivative financial liabilities							

The Group initially recognizes debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date that they are originated.
Financial liabilities for contingent consideration payable in a business combination are recognized at the acquisition date.
All other financial liabilities (including liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss) are recognized initially on
the trade date, which is the date that the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.		
The Group derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.
Financial liabilities for contingent consideration payable in a business combination are initially measured at fair value.
Subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognized in profit or loss.
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented on the statement of financial position when, and only
when, the Group has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.									
									
The Group classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities category. Such financial liabilities
are recognized initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, these
financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
				
Other financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings, bank overdrafts, and trade and other payables.

Share capital							

Ordinary shares 						
Ordinary shares are classified as paid-up capital in equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary
shares are recognized as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects. 							
		

Derivative financial instruments, including hedge accounting							
The Group holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign currency risk exposures. 			
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On initial designation of the derivative as the hedging instrument, the Group formally documents the relationship between
the hedging instrument and the hedged item, including the risk management objectives and strategy in undertaking the
hedge transaction and the hedged risk, together with the methods that will be used to assess the effectiveness of the
hedging relationship. The Group makes an assessment, both at the inception of the hedge relationship as well as on an
ongoing basis, of whether the hedging instruments are expected to be “highly effective” in offsetting the changes in the fair
value or cash flows of the respective hedged items attributable to the hedged risk, and whether the actual results of each
hedge are within a range of 80% to 125%. For a cash flow hedge of a forecast transaction, the transaction should be highly
probable to occur and should present an exposure to variations in cash flow that could ultimately affect reported profit or
loss.
		
Derivatives are recognized initially at fair value; attributable transaction costs are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.
Subsequent to initial recognition, derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes therein are accounted for as described
below. 													

Fair value hedges							

The Group has entered into currency forwards that are fair value hedges for currency risk arising from contractual
commitments (firm commitments) with respect to values of construction contracts or costs related to contracts in foreign
currencies (hedged item). The fair value changes on the hedged item resulting from currency risk are recognized in profit
or loss. The fair value changes on the effective portion of currency forwards designated as fair value hedges are recognized
in profit or loss within the same line item as the fair value changes from the hedged item. The fair value changes on the
ineffective portion of currency forwards are recognized separately in profit or loss.						
Currency risk arising from construction contracts is evaluated for each contract. The hedge is accounted for under the
concept of a firm commitment. This implies that a percentage-of-completion contract is a firm commitment until the asset
under construction is completed and transferred to the customer.							
									

Cash flow hedges							

The Group can enter into currency forwards that qualify as cash flow hedges against probable forecasted transactions in
foreign currencies. The fair value changes on the effective portion of the currency forwards designated as cash flow h
 edges
are recognized in the hedging reserve in equity and transferred to either the cost of a hedged non-monetary asset upon
acquisition or profit or loss when the hedged forecast transactions are recognized.					
The fair value changes on the ineffective portion are recognized immediately in profit or loss. When a forecasted transaction
is no longer expected to occur, the gains and losses that were previously recognized in the hedging reserve are reclassified
to profit or loss immediately.											
			

Intra-group financial guarantees in the separate financial statemements					

Financial guarantees are financial instruments issued by the Company, on behalf of its subsidiaries, that require the issuer
to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for the loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to meet payment
when due in accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument. 					
Financial guarantees are recognized initially at fair value and are classified as financial liabilities. Subsequent to initial
measurement, the financial guarantees are stated at the higher of the initial fair value less cumulative amortization and
the amount that would be recognized if they were accounted for as contingent liabilities. When financial guarantees are
terminated before their original expiry date, the carrying amount of the financial guarantee is transferred to profit or loss.
								

(D) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT							
Recognition and measurement							

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
However, this does not apply to vessels, and vessels under construction, owned by associated companies which are subject
to revaluation. Refer to separate paragraph “Vessels” below. 							
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Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed assets
includes:
- the cost of materials and direct labour;
- any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use;
- when the Group has an obligation to remove the asset or restore the site, an estimate of the costs of dismantling and
removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located; and
- capitalized borrowing costs. 									
									
Cost may also include transfers from equity of any gain or loss on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency p
 urchases
of property, plant and equipment. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is
capitalized as part of that equipment.									

									
When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items
(major components) of property, plant and equipment.								
The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined by comparing the proceeds from
disposal with the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, and is recognized net within other income/other
expenses in profit or loss. 									 		

Vessels 						
Vessels and vessels under construction owned by associated companies are initially recognized at cost and are subsequently
carried at the revalued amount less accumulated impairment losses.
Vessels and vessels under construction are revalued by independent professional valuers on a yearly basis and w
 henever
their carrying amounts are likely to differ materially from their revalued amounts. When a vessel or a vessel under
construction is revalued, any accumulated impairment losses at the date of revaluation are eliminated against the gross
carrying amount of the asset. The net amount is then restated to the revalued amount of the asset. Revaluations of vessels
and vessels under construction owned by associated companies are presented within investment in associates.
Increases in carrying amounts arising from revaluation, including currency translation differences, are recognized in other
comprehensive income, unless they offset previous decreases in the carrying amounts of the same asset, in which case, they
are recognized in profit or loss as results from investments in associated companies. Decreases in carrying amounts that
offset previous increases of the same asset are recognized in other comprehensive income. All other decreases in carrying
amounts are recognized in profit or loss.
									

Subsequent costs							

The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the carrying amount of the
item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the component will flow to the Group, and its cost
can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced component is derecognized. The costs of the day-to-day
servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.

Depreciation							

Depreciation is based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. Significant components of individual assets are
assessed and if a component has a useful life that is different from the remainder of that asset, that component is
depreciated separately.									

Depreciation is recognized as an expense in profit or loss on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of each
component of an item of property, plant and equipment, unless it is included in the carrying amount of another asset.
Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that
the Group will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. Freehold land is not depreciated.				
									
Depreciation is recognized from the date that the property, plant and equipment are installed and are ready for use, or in
respect of internally constructed assets, from the date that the asset is completed and ready for use.
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The estimated useful lives are as follows:										
							
• Machinery and vehicles			
3-20 years			
• Buildings				20-50 years 			
• Land and leasehold improvements		
Lease period of 4-40 years			
• Quays/docks				33-50 years			
							
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting date and adjusted if
appropriate.
The estimated useful lives of vessels owned by associates are 25-30 years. Those vessels are carried at their revalued
amounts subsequent to initial recognition, less any accumulated impairment losses.					
									

(E) INTANGIBLE ASSETS							
Goodwill							

Goodwill that arises upon the acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. For the measurement of goodwill at
initial recognition, see Note 3(a) “Business combinations”.							

Subsequent measurement							

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. In respect of associates, the carrying amount of g
 oodwill
is included in the carrying amount of the investment, and an impairment loss on such an investment is not a
 llocated to any
asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of the associates.
				

Research and development 							

Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and
understanding, is recognized in profit or loss as incurred.							
Development activities involve a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved products and p
 rocesses.
Development expenditure is capitalized only if development costs can be measured reliably, the product or process is
technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable, and the Group intends to and has sufficient
resources to complete development and to use or sell the asset. The expenditure capitalized includes the cost of m
 aterials,
direct labour, overhead costs that are directly attributable to preparing the asset for its intended use, and capitalized
borrowing costs. Other development expenditure is recognized in profit or loss as incurred.					
Capitalized development expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses. 		
							 		

Other intangible assets							

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated
amortization and accumulated impairment losses.								

Subsequent expenditure							

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to
which it relates. All other expenditure, including expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognized in
profit or loss as incurred.							

Amortization							

Amortization is calculated based on the cost of the asset, less its residual value.					
Amortization is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets, other
than goodwill, from the date that they are available for use. The estimated useful lives are as follows:			
										
					
• Other intangible assets		
4-10 years
Other intangible assets comprises sundry licenses and patents, as well as a beneficial lease agreement acquired through
the acquisition of businesses. 							
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Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted if
appropriate.
						

(F) LEASED ASSETS							

Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance
leases. Upon initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the
present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance
with the accounting policy applicable to that asset.								
						
Other leases are operating leases and are not recognized in the Group’s statement of financial position.			
						

(G) INVENTORIES							

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost of inventories is based on the first-in
first-out (FIFO) principle and includes expenditure in acquiring the inventories and other costs incurred in bringing them to
their existing location and condition. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour,
other direct costs and an appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operating capacity. 		
					
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of completion and s elling
expenses.												
					

(H) CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS IN PROGRESS							

A construction contract is a contract specifically negotiated for the construction of an asset or a combination of assets that
are closely interrelated or interdependent in terms of their design, technology and functions or their ultimate purpose or use.
						
When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and contract costs are recognized
as revenue and expenses, respectively, by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the reporting date
(percentage-of-completion method). When the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract
revenue is recognized to the extent of contract costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable. When it is probable that total
contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognized as an expense immediately. 			
						
Contract revenue comprises the initial amount of revenue agreed in the contract as well as variation orders and claims
that can be measured reliably. A variation order or a claim is only included in contract revenue when it is probable that the
customer will approve the variation order or negotiations have reached an advanced stage such that it is probable that the
customer will accept the claim.									
						
The stage of completion is measured generally by reference to the ratio of contract costs incurred to date to the e
 stimated
total costs for the contract. Costs incurred during the financial year in connection with future activity on a contract are
excluded from the costs incurred to date when determining the stage of completion of a contract. Such costs are shown as
construction contract work in progress on the statement of financial position unless it is not probable that such contract costs
are recoverable from the customers, in which case, such costs are recognized as an expense immediately.			
						
At the reporting date, the aggregated costs incurred plus recognized profit (less recognized losses) on each contract is
compared against the progress billings. Where the cumulative costs incurred plus the recognized profits (less recognized
losses) exceed progress billings, the balance is presented as due from customers on construction contracts. Where progress
billings exceed the cumulative costs incurred plus recognized profits (less recognized losses), the balance is presented as due
to customers on construction contracts.									
						
Interest on construction loans is considered as a project cost and are classified as materials and subcontract cost in the
statement of comprehensive income.										
						

(I) IMPAIRMENT							
Non-derivative financial assets							

A financial asset not carried at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at the end of each reporting period to determine
whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective evidence indicates that a loss
event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event has a negative effect on the estimated
future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably. 								
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Objective evidence that financial assets (including equity securities) are impaired can include default or delinquency by a
debtor, restructuring of an amount due to the Group on terms that the Group would not consider otherwise, indications
that a debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers or issuers in the Group,
economic conditions that correlate with defaults or the disappearence of an active market for a security. In addition, for an
investment in an equity security, a significant or prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is objective evidence of
impairment. 									
							

Loans and receivables							

The Group considers evidence of impairment for loans and receivables at a specific asset level. All individually significant
loans and receivables are assessed for specific impairment. 								
									
An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as the difference between
its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the asset’s original effective
interest rate. Losses are recognized in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against loans and receivables or
securities. Interest on the impaired asset continues to be recognized. When a subsequent event (e.g. repayment by a debtor)
causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.		
							

Available-for-sale financial assets							

Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are recognized by reclassifying the losses accumulated in the
fair value reserve in equity to profit or loss. The cumulative loss that is reclassified from equity to profit or loss is the
difference between the acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment and amortization, and the current fair value, less
any impairment loss recognized previously in profit or loss. Changes in cumulative impairment provisions attributable to
application of the effective interest method are reflected as a component of interest income. If, in a subsequent period, the
fair value of an impaired available-for-sale debt security increases and the increase can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognized, then the impairment loss is reversed. The amount of the reversal is
recognized in profit or loss. However, any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale equity
security is recognized in other comprehensive income.									

							

Non-financial assets							

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed
at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its r elated
cash-generating unit (CGU) exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.						
The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In a
 ssessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using an after tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. For the purpose
of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGU.
Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, for the purposes of goodwill impairment testing, CGUs to which goodwill has
been a
 llocated are aggregated so that the level at which impairment testing is performed reflects the lowest level at which
goodwill is monitored for internal reporting purposes. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to groups of
CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.							
The Group’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows and are utilized by more than one CGU. Corporate
assets are allocated to CGUs on a reasonable and consistent basis and tested for impairment as part of the testing of the
CGU to which the corporate asset is allocated.									
						
Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognized in respect of CGUs are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU (group of CGUs), and then to reduce the carrying amounts
of the other assets in the CGU (group of CGUs) on a pro rata basis.							
									
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses recognized in
prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An

VARD ANNUAL REPORT 2017

78

NOTES

NOTES
(All amounts in NOK millions unless otherwise stated)

impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized.			
Goodwill that forms part of the carrying amount of an investment in an associate is not recognized separately, and therefore
is not tested for impairment separately. Instead, the entire amount of the investment in an associate is tested for impairment
as a single asset when there is objective evidence that the investment in an associate may be impaired.			
													

(J) NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 							

Non-current asssets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, that are expected to be recovered primarily
through sale rather than through continuing use, are classified as held for sale. Immediately before classification as held
for sale, the assets or components of a disposal group, are generally measured in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policies. Thereafter, the assets, or disposal group, are generally measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair
value less costs to sell. Any impairment loss on a disposal group is first allocated to goodwill, and then to remaining assets
and liabilities on pro rata basis, except that no loss is allocated to inventories, financial assets, deferred taxes and e
 mployee
benefit assets, which continue to be measured in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies. Impairment losses on
initial classification as held for sale and subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement are recognized in profit or loss.
Gains are not recognized in excess of any cumulative impairment loss. 						
Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment once classified as held for sale or distribution are not amortized or
depreciated. In addition, equity accounting of associates ceases once classified as held for sale or distribution. 		
										

(K) EMPLOYEE BENEFITS							
Defined contribution plans 							

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a s eparate
entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined
contribution pension plans are recognized as an employee benefit expense in profit or loss in the periods during which
related services are rendered by employees.
									

Termination benefits							

Termination benefits are recognized as an expense when the Group is committed demonstrably, without realistic possibility
of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal retirement date, or to provide
termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits for voluntary
redundancies are recognized as an expense if the Group has made an offer of voluntary redundancy, it is probable that
the offer will be accepted, and the number of acceptances can be estimated reliably. If benefits are payable more than 12
months after the reporting date, then they are discounted to their present value.						
						

Short-term employee benefits							

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service
is provided. A liability is recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans
if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the
employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

(L) PROVISIONS							

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be
estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Provisions
are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognized as finance cost.

Warranties							

A provision for warranties is recognized when the underlying products or services are sold. The provision is recognized for
completed contracts based on past experience and industry averages for defective products, over the applicable warranty
periods.
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Restructuring							

A provision for restructuring is recognized when the Group has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan, and the
restructuring either has commenced or has been announced publicly. Future operating losses are not provided for. 		
						

Site restoration							

In accordance with applicable legal requirements, a provision for site restoration in respect of contaminated land and
seabed, and the related expense, is recognized when the land and seabed is contaminated. 					
		

(M) REVENUE							

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the rendering of services and the sale of
goods in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is presented, net of value-added tax, rebates and discounts,
and after eliminating transactions within the Group. Revenue is recognized as follows:				

Revenue from construction contracts							

Contract revenue is recognized by reference to the stage of completion of the contract activity at the reporting date. The
stage of completion is measured generally by reference to the contract costs incurred to date, as compared to the estimated
total costs for the contract.									
									
Please refer to Note 3(h) “Construction Contracts in Progress” for the elaboration of accounting policy for revenue from
construction contracts.												
				

Interest income							

Interest income arising from financial instruments is recognized on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest
method.								

Revenue from sales of goods							

Sale of goods primarily relates to the sale of automated systems by a subsidiary group. Revenue is recognized when risk and
rewards is transferred to the customer. 									

Rendering of services							

Revenue from rendering of services is recognized in profit or loss in proportion to the stage of completion of the transaction
at the reporting date.											

(N) LEASE PAYMENTS							
Lease payments							

Payments made under operating leases are recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
Lease incentives received are recognized as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease. 		
									
Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the reduction of
the outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 						

Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease							

At inception of an arrangement, the Group determines whether such an arrangement is or contains a lease. This will be the
case if the following two criteria are met:
- the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specified asset or assets; and
- the arrangement contains a right to use the asset(s)
			
At inception of the arrangement, the Group separates payments and other consideration required by such an arrangement
into those for the lease and those for other elements on the basis of their relative fair values. If the Group concludes for a
finance lease that it is impracticable to separate the payments reliably, then an asset and a liability are recognized at an
amount equal to the fair value of the underlying asset. Subsequently, the liability is reduced as payments are made and
an imputed finance charge on the liability is recognized using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.			
Contingent rents are recognized as an expense in profit or loss when incurred.						
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(O) RESTRUCTURING COST							

Restructuring cost in the statement of comprehensive income is defined as cost related to termination benefits to e
 mployees
related to reduction in workforce, and other cost incurred as a consequence of temporary and permanent reduction of
capacity.
						

(P) FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS

Finance income comprises foreign exchange gains, interest income on funds invested (including available-for-sale financial
assets), dividend income, gains on hedging instruments that are recognized in profit or loss and reclassifications of net gains
previously recognized in other comprehensive income. Interest income is recognized as it accrues in profit or loss, using
the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognized in profit or loss on the date that the Group’s right to receive
payment is established.									
									
Finance costs comprise foreign exchange losses, interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of the discount on p
 rovisions
and deferred consideration, fair value losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and contingent
consideration, losses on hedging instruments that are recognized in profit or loss and reclassifications of net losses
previously recognized in other comprehensive income.									

								
Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are
recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest method.							

(Q) TAX							

Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax is recognized in profit or loss except to the
extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.
									
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.			
													
Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for:
• temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a business combination
and that affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss;
• temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in
the foreseeable future; and
• taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill.						
The measurement of deferred taxes reflects the tax consequenses that would follow the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying of its assets or liabilities. Deferred tax is measured at
the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based on the laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.									
				
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and
assets, and they relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities,
but they intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realized
simultaneously.									

									
A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences, to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be
realized.
In determining the amount of current and deferred tax, the Group takes into account the impact of uncertain tax positions
and whether additional taxes and interest may be due. The Group believes that its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate
for all open tax years based on its assessment of many factors, including interpretations of tax law and prior experience.
This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of judgements about future events. New
information may become available that causes the Group to change its judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax
liabilities; such changes to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is made.
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(R) EARNINGS PER SHARE							

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its ordinary shares. Basic earnings per share is c alculated
by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the year, adjusted for any own shares held. Diluted earnings per share is determined
by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding, adjusted for own shares held, for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 				
		

(S) SEGMENT REPORTING							

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Group’s CEO, who is
responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments.				
							

(T) NEW OR REVISED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT ADOPTED			

Below are the mandatory standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that have been published, and
are relevant for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 or later periods and which the Group
has not early adopted:											
FRS 115 Revenue from contracts with customers
According to the new standard, revenue is recognized to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to a customer
in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services. Revenue is recognized when, or as, the customer obtains control of the goods or services. FRS 115 also includes
guidance on the presentation of contract balances, that is, assets and liabilities arising from contracts with customers,
depending on the relationship between the entity’s performance and the customer’s payment. FRS 115 supersedes FRS 11,
Construction Contracts and FRS 18, Revenue as well as related interpretations. The standard is effective for annual p
 eriods
beginning on or after January 1, 2018; early application is permitted. The Group decided to not adopt the new standard
before the effective date. The Group has performed a detailed assessment of FRS 115. The Group has assessed that FRS 115
will not have a significant impact on the Group’s recognition and measurement of revenue.
							
FRS 109 Financial instruments
The new standard replace FRS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The Standard includes
requirements for recognition and measurement, impairment, derecognition and general hedge accounting. The
classification and measurement portion of the standard determines how financial assets and financial liabilities are
accounted for in financial statements and, in particular, how they are measured on an ongoing basis. The new 
FRS 109 introduced a new, expected-loss impairment model that will require more timely recognition of expected c redit
losses. The Group expects a slight increase in allowances on long-term receivables. In addition, FRS 109 includes a
substantially-reformed model for hedge accounting, with enhanced disclosures about risk management activity. The new
standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018; early application is permitted. The Group
decided to not adopt the new standard before the effective date. The adoption of the standard will not result in a significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.			
FRS 116 Leases
The new standard replaces the previous standard FRS 17 Leases and sets out the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases for both parties to a contract. FRS 116, defines a lease as a contract
that conveys to the customer (lessee) the right to use an asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. The new
standard eliminates the classification of leases for the lessee as either operating leases or finance leases as required
by FRS 17 and instead, introduces a single lessee accounting model whereby a lessee is required to recognize assets
and liabilities for all leases with a term that is greater than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value, and
to r ecognize depreciation of lease assets separately from interest on lease liabilities in the income statement. FRS 116
becomes effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, and is to be applied retrospectively. The Group is
in the process of evaluating the impact that FRS 116 may have on the Group’s consolidated financial statements
There are no other FRSs or interpretations that are not yet effective that would be expected to have a material impact on the
Group.							
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4 Property, plant and equipment
			
Machinery		
Group
and vehicles
Buildings

Land and land
leasehold
improvements

Quays/
docks

Assets under
construction

Total

Cost
At 1 January 2016
Additions
Acquisitions through business combinations
Disposals
Reclassifications
Currency translation differences
At 31 December 2016

1,457
67
1
(60)
6
20
1,491

1,656
44
54
55
1,809

113
1
2
4
120

476
34
7
31
548

105
98
(69)
4
138

3,807
244
1
(60)
114
4,106

At 1 January 2017
Additions
Acquisitions through business combinations
Disposals
Reclassifications
Currency translation differences
At 31 December 2017

1,491
200
(7)
(2)
13
1,695

1,809
119
(5)
16
(25)
1,914

120
2
(1)
121

548
(4)
7
(14)
537

138
(21)
(1)
116

4,106
321
(16)
(28)
4,383

Accumulated depreciation and impairment							
At 1 January 2016
790
560
4
71
1,425
Depreciation
124
55
14
193
Impairment losses
Disposals
(49)
(49)
Currency translation differences
(12)
(8)
2
(18)
At 31 December 2016
853
607
4
87
1,551
At 1 January 2017
Depreciation
Impairment losses
Disposals
Currency translation differences
At 31 December 2017

853
124
(10)
15
982

607
60
(2)
4
669

4
4

87
16
(2)
(2)
99

-

1,551
200
(14)
17
1,754

Carrying amounts							
At 1 January 2016
667
1,096
109
405
105
2,382
At 31 December 2016
638
1,202
116
461
138
2,555
At 31 December 2017
713
1,245
117
438
116
2,629
As at the reporting dates, the Company did not have property, plant and equipment (“PPE”).					
			
At 31 December 2017, PPE of the Group with the carrying amount of NOK 1,922 million (2016: NOK 1,817 million) are
pledged as security to secure the Group’s borrowings (see Note 19). This involves all categories of PPE for Vard Electro, the
Norwegian and Brazilian yards, and parts of PPE for Vard Tulcea and Vard Braila. 						
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5 Intangible assets

		
Other

Group
Goodwill
intangibles
Total
Cost
At 1 January 2016
510
140
650
Additions acquired separately
44
44
Acquisition of subsidiaries
13
4
17
Disposals and other adjustments
(3)
(3)
Currency translation differences
(2)
(2)
At 31 December 2016
523
183
706
				
At 1 January 2017
523
183
706
Additions acquired separately
25
25
Acquisition of subsidiaries
1
1
Currency translation differences
1
1
At 31 December 2017
524
209
733
				
Accumulated amortization and impairment losses				
At 1 January 2016
176
45
221
Amortization for the year
12
12
Currency translation differences
(2)
(2)
At 31 December 2016
176
55
231
				
At 1 January 2017
176
55
231
Amortization for the year
18
18
Impairment
3
3
Currency translation differences
4
4
At 31 December 2017
179
77
256
				
Carrying amounts
At 1 January 2016
334
95
429
At 31 December 2016
347
128
475
At 31 December 2017
345
132
477
The
carrying amounts of goodwill are allocated to the following CGUs:				
				

						
		
Balance at			
Balance at
Business entities
CGU:
01.01.17
Additions
Impairment
31.12.17

Vard Group AS including
the Romanian sub-group
CGU 1
Vard Marine
CGU 2
ICD Software
CGU 3
Vard Aqua Sunndal
CGU 4
Total 		

295
12
27
13
347

1
1

(3)
(3)

292
12
27
14
345

Vard Group AS including
the Romanian sub-group
CGU 1
Vard Marine
CGU 2
ICD Software
CGU 3
Vard Aqua Sunndal
CGU 4
Total			

295
12
27
334

13
13

-

295
12
27
13
347

						
		
Balance at			
Balance at
Business entities
CGU:
01.01.16
Additions
Impairment
31.12.16
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IMPAIRMENT TESTS FOR GOODWILL							

The Group has defined four CGUs with goodwill which are its shipyards in Norway and Romania (CGU 1) and Vard Marine
(CGU 2), and ICD Software (CGU 3), and Vard Aqua, former Storvik Aqua (CGU 4). All goodwill relates to these CGUs. With
regards to CGU 1: All of these shipyards have the same management, who is central in the allocation of contracts. As
shipyards in Romania are mainly hull producers, there is a high degree of dependency between these shipyards and the
outfitting shipyards in Norway. Accordingly, shipyards at different locations are not defined as separate CGUs.
The recoverable amount of the goodwill allocated to the CGUs has been determined based on value in use calculations.
Value in use is calculated based on cash flow projections derived from financial budgets and business plans approved by
the Board of Directors covering the period of 2018 to 2022 (2016: 2017 to 2020). The determination of budget and strategic
figures are based on long-term construction contracts and their expected margins, and expectations of new contracts. This
is reflected in the budget and business plan figures.
The discount rate for CGU 1, which is based on the CGU’s weighted average cost of capital (WACC), applied to cash flows
for the impairment test at 31 December 2017 are 5.7% (at 31 December 2016: 6.6%). Terminal growth rate of 2.4% (2016:
2.5%) is based on a rate not higher than the long-term industry average growth rate. Unless a long lasting situation occurs
with low capacity utilisation or significantly lower margins than what has been assumed for the period after 2018, realistic
sensitivity calculations do not indicate any significant impairment in value of goodwill.
The discount rate for CGU 2, which is based on the CGU’s weighted average cost of capital (WACC), applied to cash flows
for the impairment test at 31 December 2017 are 5.7% (at 31 December 2016: 6.6%). Terminal growth rate of 2.4% (2016:
2.5%) is based on a rate not higher than the long-term industry average growth rate. Unless a long lasting situation occurs
with low capacity utilisation or significantly lower margins than what has been assumed for the period after 2018, realistic
sensitivity calculations do not indicate any significant impairment in value of goodwill.
The discount rate for CGU 3, which is based on the CGU’s weighted average cost of capital (WACC), applied to cash flows
for the impairment test at 31 December 2017 are 5.7% (at 31 December 2016: 6.6%). Terminal growth rate of 2.4% (2016:
2.5%) is based on a rate not higher than the long-term industry average growth rate. Unless a long lasting situation occurs
with low capacity utilisation or significantly lower margins than what has been assumed for the period after 2018, realistic
sensitivity calculations do not indicate any significant impairment in value of goodwill.
The discount rate for CGU 4, which is based on the CGU’s weighted average cost of capital (WACC), applied to cash flows
for the impairment test at 31 December 2017 are 5.7%. Terminal growth rate of 2.4% is based on a rate not higher than the
long-term industry average growth rate. Unless a long lasting situation occurs with low capacity utilisation or significantly
lower margins than what has been assumed for the period after 2018, realistic sensitivity calculations do not indicate any
significant impairment in value of goodwill.							
					

6 Investment in subsidiary

		
2017
Unquoted shares, at cost		
At 1 January
2,983
Conversion of Current and Non-current interest–bearing receivables
535
At end of financial year
3,518
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7 Investment in associates
Group
Ship owning
Other
Total associated
associated companies
companies
companies
2017
2016
2017
2016
2017
2016
Share of profit or loss from continuing operations
(45)
(48)
(2)
(10)
(47)
(58)
Share of other comprehensive income.
(2)
(102)
(2)
(102)
Share of total comprehensive income
(47)
(150)
(2)
(10)
(49)
(160)
							
Opening balance
197
311
25
30
222
341
Share of total comprehensive income
(47)
(150)
(2)
(10)
(49)
(160)
Shares in associated companies acquired/capital
contributions made
18
(1)
1
(1)
19
Shares in associated companies sold
Reclassifications
20
18
4
20
22
Balance period end
170
197
22
25
192
222

Associated companies
Olympic Challenger KS
DOF Iceman AS
REM Supply AS
Olympic Green Energy KS
Møkster Supply KS
Møkster Supply AS
Canadian Subsea Shipping Company AS
AS Dameco
Taklift AS
Castor Drilling Solution AS
Bridge Eiendom AS
Brevik Technology AS
CSS Design Inc

Industry
Shipping
Shipping
Shipping
Shipping
Shipping
Shipping
Shipping
Other
Other
Other
Other
Other
Other

Ownership interest
31.12.17
31.12.16
35%
35%
50%
50%
27%
27%
30%
30%
36%
36%
40%
40%
0%
45%
34%
34%
25%
25%
34%
34%
50%
50%
34%
34%
31%
31%

When applying the equity method, the financial statements of the associated shipping companies are adjusted by measuring
all the vessels at fair value, as described in FRS 16.31.
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8 Other investments
Non-current investments
Available for sale financial assets:
- Equity securities
Total
							

Group

2017
12
12

Note
Share%
Solstad Farstad ASA		
1%
Moldekraft AS		
8%
Shares in other companies		
n/m
Total			

2016
19
19

2017
Share%
6
5
8%
1
n/m
12 		

2016
13
5
1
19

The equity securities have been subject to a fair value assessment. It has been recognized a negative change in fair value
through profit or loss of the Solstad Farstad ASA shares based on the listed values at year end. 			
		

9 Interest-bearing receivables
Non-current
Interest–bearing receivables due from:
- Related parties

Lowest
interest
rate
NIBOR
+ 2%
NIBOR

Group
2017
Highest		
interest		
rate
Amounts

NIBOR
+ 2%
EURIBOR

2016

Highest
interest
rate

NIBOR		

NIBOR

46

+ 2%

+ 2%

NIBOR		

NIBOR

NIBOR

+ 2%

- Third parties
+ 2%
+6%
Total			
Current
Interest–bearing receivables due from:
- Related parties

Lowest
interest
rate

NIBOR

535
+ 2%
+ 3%
581 			

NIBOR		

NIBOR

2

+ 2%

+ 2%

EURIBOR

NIBOR

+2%

NIBOR		

- Third parties
+ 1%
+ 1%
Total			

Amounts

62
411
473

NIBOR

320
+ 1%
+ 3%
322 			

1
288
289

The non-current receivables due from third parties of NOK 535 million (2016: NOK 411 million) relates to seller credits to
customers. The receivables from related parties of NOK 46 million (2016: NOK 62 million) refers to seller credits to associated
companies. The current receivables due to third parties of NOK 320 million (2016: NOK 288 million) relates to a cash collateral
placed with Nordea as security for negative MtM value related to FX derivatives.						
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Company
2017
2016
Interest		Interest		
rate
Amounts
rate Amounts

Current
Current interest–bearing receivables due from 			
Vard Group AS
n/m
-

3m NIBOR

7

+ 3%

10

Other current and non-current assets			
			
Other non-current assets
Prepayments
Deposits
VAT, taxes & other social expenses
Firm commitments hedge accounting
Other assets
Total

2017
1
7
12
138
158

Other current assets
Firm commitments hedge accounting
Prepayments
Total

2017
29
33
62

Group

Group

2016
1
7
12
17
1
38
2016
122
39
161

Firm commitments hedge accounting consist of accumulated change in fair value related to hedged foreign exchange risk
for hedged firm commitments.		

This is not applicable for the Company.			
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11 Deferred tax assets and liabilities
(A) RECOGNIZED DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES:
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current income tax assets
against current income tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. The amounts,
determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown on the balance sheet as disclosed in the table below.
Deferred tax liabilities related to projects under construction are expected to be reversed when projects currently in the order
book in Norway are delivered. 						
		Property,
		
plant and
Group		 equipment

At 1 January 2017		
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss		
(Charged)/credited to equity		
Currency translation differences 		
Effect of business combination		
At 31 December 2017		

26
1
27

Project
under
construction

(182)
42
(1)
(141)

Tax				
losses
Receivables
Provisions
Others

89
33
122

2
(1)
1

37
(5)
32

1
(10)
5
(4)

Of which presented as deferred tax assets
Of which presented as deferred tax liabilities
Total

(27)
60
5
(1)
37
126
(89)
37

		Property,
		
plant and
Group		 equipment

At 1 January 2016		
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss		
(Charged)/credited to equity		
Currency translation differences 		
Effect of business combination		
At 31 December 2016		

Total

26
(1)
(1)
2
26

Project
under
construction

(237)
56
(1)
(182)

Tax				
losses
Receivables
Provisions
Others

146
(57)
89

1
1
2

37
37

(10)
78
(69)
2
1

Of which presented as assets
Of which presented as liabilities
Total

B) UNRECOGNIZED DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

Total

(37)
77
(69)
2
(27)
82
(109)
(27)

						

Deferred tax assets in the amount of NOK 937 million(2016: NOK 871 million) have not been recognized in respect of
unrecognized tax losses, where NOK 909 million relates to Brazil, NOK 6 million relates to Italy and NOK 21 million relates to
Norway. There is no expiry dates on the tax losses. Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of these items
because it is not probable that future taxable profits in certain of the Group’s subsidiaries will be available against which the
Group can utilize the benefit therefrom. The tax losses are subject to agreement by the tax authorities and compliance with the
tax regulations in the respective countries in which the entities of the Group operate.
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12 Non-controlling interest
Group
Set out below are the summarized financial information for each subsidiary that has a non-controlling interest that is material
to the group.
		
Seaonics AS
Company name
Vard Promar SA*
consolidated
Principal place of business
Brazil
Norway
2017
2016
2017
2016
Ownership interest/voting rights held by non-controlling interests*
0.0%
0.0%
43.6%
43.6%
Profit/(loss) allocated to non-controlling interests
n/a
(23)
(4)
(8)
Accumulated non-controlling interest at period end
25
29
					
Revenues
n/a
1,353
182
151
Profit/(loss)
n/a
(261)
(12)
(19)
Total comprehensive income/(loss)
n/a
(665)
(12)
(19)
					
Cash flow operations
n/a
(762)
(5)
(4)
Cash flow investing
n/a
(46)
(1)
(9)
Cash flow financing
n/a
788
16
					
Non-current assets
n/a
1,154
115
117
Current assets
n/a
3,035
45
59
Non-current liabilities
n/a
846
8
8
Current liabilities
n/a
4,342
70
74
* Non-controlling interest in Vard Promar was derecognized during 2016.		
				
The non-controlling interests in Seaonics AS have no commitments to make any further capital contribution to the companies.
					
The Group has control over the decisions that are considered most important to determine whether control exist. Other
decisions, like changing the bylaws of the companies, cannot be done without the consent of the non-controlling interests.
These do not affect the assessment of control. 					
					
					
			

13 Restructuring cost

		
Group

Restructuring cost
Termination benefits
Statutory payments for temporary lay-offs
Other expenses related to reduced capacity
Total

2017
22
7
4
33

2016
36
7
62
105
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14 Inventories
Inventories comprise the following items:
Raw materials
Work in progress
Finished goods
Total

2017
561
1,324
215
2,100

Group

2016
412
1,310
227
1,949

Raw materials comprise mainly steel plates and steel profiles, pipes and pipe fittings, tools and consumables which are used in
the Group’s construction projects. Work in progress includes one vessel under construction in Vietnam and the vessel
previously under construction for Harkand. Finished goods includes one completed vessel. At 31 December 2017, the value of
the vessels in inventories was reassessed to align the book value with the net realizable value and a loss of NOK 54 million was
recognized. NOK 1,068 million of the work in progress inventories are pledged as security for borrowings.			
			

			
		

15

Construction work in progress			
			
Aggregate costs incurred and attributable profits recognized (less losses recognized) to-date
Progress billings
Total

2017
10,198
(4,376)
5,822

Group

2016
7,894
(3,063)
4,831

Presented as:		
Current asset
6,537
5,594
Current liability
(715)
(763)
Total
5,822
4,831
Advances received on construction contracts
Provisions for loss on contracts

4,376
(308)

3,063
(538)

No retention sums are included in progress billings.		
			
Group
Provisions for loss on contracts
2017
2016
At 1 January
538
1,468
Additional provisions
477
369
Amounts used
(685)
(1,305)
Unused amounts reversed during the year
(7)
(87)
Currency translation differences
(15)
93
At 31 December
308
538

The provision amounts are recorded as reduction of “construction in progress” in the statement of financial position.		
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16

Trade and other receivables
		
			

Trade and other receivables consist of the following items:			
		
Group
2017
2016
Trade receivables (a)
378
174
Allowance for impairment of trade receivables
(7)
(7)
Total
371
167
		
Advances to suppliers
196
302
VAT and tax receivables
127
170
Receivables from related parties (b)
118
92
Other receivables (c)
22
70
Total
834
801
For the Company, trade and other receivables consists of short-term intercompany receivables mainly towards Vard Group AS,
Vard Promar SA, Vard Electro AS, Vard Tulcea SA and Vard Singapore Pte Ltd. of NOK 92 million (2016: NOK 112 million).		
(a) Trade receivables for the Group did not include any retention sums relating to construction work in progress or completed
contracts.								
(b) The amounts due from related parties are interest-free, unsecured and repayable on demand.			
(c) Other receivables contain sundry receivables owing from external parties.
			
			
			
			

17

Cash and cash equivalents 				
				
Short-term investments with maturity less than three months
Cash and bank deposits
Cash and cash equivalents reported in statement of Cash Flows
Restricted cash
Cash and cash equivalents reported in Statement of Financial Position

2017
708
708
102
810

Group

2016
3
615
618
104
722

Company
2017
2016
1
3
1
3
1
3

Restricted cash is held on escrow accounts, which is mainly security for letters of credit issued in favor of suppliers and
restricted bank accounts for employees’ tax deductions. 			
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18 Capital and reserves						
GROUP AND COMPANY
Paid up capital

2017
No. of shares
(millions)

Ordinary shares

Amount (NOK
millions)

No. of shares
(millions)

2016
Amount (NOK
millions)

On 1 January and 31 December
1,180
4,138
1,180
4,138
							
The ordinary shares issued by the Company have no par value and carry equal rights to voting, distribution of profits and
dividends and to the residual assets of the Company in liquidation. 							
								
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time, and are entitled to one vote per
share at meetings of the Company.											
					
There were no ordinary shares issued in FY2017. There are no treasury shares.
					

GROUP							
Restructuring reserve							

The restructuring reserve as presented in the Group’s consolidated financial statements represents the difference between the
cost of the acquisition for the restructuring and the amount of share capital of Vard Group AS at the date of acquisition. 		
							

Currency translation reserve							

The currency translation reserve comprises foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations, as well as from the translation of monetary items that form part of the Group’s net
investment in a foreign operation.							

							

Fair value reserve							

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets, as well as
the Group’s share of vessel revaluation of its associated companies, until the investments are derecognized or impaired.		
						

Other reserve							

The Other reserve comprises the cumulative effects of the transaction with non-controlling interests as described in note 32.

COMPANY							
Restructuring reserve							

The restructuring reserve presented in the Company’s statement of financial position at 31 December 2017 comprises the
difference between the cost of acquisition of the Vard Group AS combined group recorded in accordance with FRS 27.38B, and
the paid up capital of the Company issued for the acquisition. 							

Dividends							

During FY2017 the Company did not pay any dividends to owners of the company (NOK 0 million in FY2016). The directors have
not recommended a payment of a dividend for FY2017.						
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19 Loans and borrowings
This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s interest–bearing loans and borrowings. For more
information about the Group’s exposure to interest rates and foreign currency risks, see Note 31.

2017

Group

2016
Current
Current facilities (A)
705
245
First year installment non-current term loans (B)
167
198
Current loans and borrowings
872
443
			
Construction loans (C)
5,652
5,248
Total current loans and borrowings
6,524
5,691
Non-current
Non-current term loans (B)
Total loans and borrowings

1,045
7,569

1,049
6,740

For the Company, current loans and borrowings consists of short-term interest bearing receivable towards Vard Group AS of
NOK 431 million (2016: NOK 0 million).

Net debt reconciliation of liabilities included in cash flows from financing activities
Loans and
borrowings
1,492
467
(38)
(4)
1,917

Group
Current facilities(A) and term loans(B) at 1 January 2017
Cash Flows
Foreign exchange movements
Other non-cash changes
Current facilities (A) and term loans (B) at 31 December 2017

(A) CURRENT FACILITIES
Interest rates 2017
2017
			 Total
Drawn
Lowest
Highest
facility
amount

Total
facility

2016

Drawn
Amount

Current facilities							
- Norway
2.45%
3.34%
459
454
382
245
- Romania
1.65%
2.80%
275
251
118
- Brazil			
Total			
734
705
500
245
Fixed interest rates			
Variable interest rates
1.65%
3.34%
Total			

734
734

705
705

500
500

245
245

Norway

Vard Group AS has a EUR 40 million uncommitted facility with Santander, a EUR 5 million uncommitted facility with Raiffeisen
Bank International and a EUR 2 million overdraft facility with UniCredit.

Romania

Vard Tulcea SA has a EUR 15 million facility with UniCredit and a EUR 10 million facility with BRD-Groupe Société Générale
both with maturity date in December 2018, while Vard Braila SA has a EUR 1.6 million facility with Garanti Bank and a EUR 1.3
million facility with Piraeus Bank.
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(B) TERM LOANS
Interest rates 2017
2017
2016
			Non-		 Non			current
Current
current
Current
Lowest
Highest
portion
portion
portion
portion

Term loans							
- Norway
3.14%
3.70%
160
18
177
51
- Singapore
2.82%
2.82%
12
12
26
12
- Romania
2.75%
2.75%
115
66
62
- Brazil
3.50%
4.50%
758
71
846
73
Total			
1,045
167
1,049
198
							
Fixed interest rates
3.20%
4.50%
814
82
903
88
Variable interest rates
2.75%
3.40%
231
85
146
110
Total			
1,045
167
1,049
198

Norway

Vard Group AS has five secured loans with Innovation Norway as of 31 December 2017 (2016: six), for the total amount of NOK
110 million (2016: NOK 129 million). The loans are secured by investments and fixed assets such as property, plant and
equipment. Vard Electro AS has a loan with SMN for an overall amount of NOK 53 million (2016: 59 million). The loan is funding
the investment of the new headquarter for Vard Electro AS and has an amortizing repayment schedule with maturity in 2032. 
In addition to this, Vard Aqua Sunndal AS has NOK 9 million in long-term loans.

Singapore

The long-term Nordea Bank credit, currently at USD 3.0 million, is an investment facility to Vard Singapore Pte. Ltd. The loan
was used towards financing of investments with the purpose of building the Vietnam shipyard. The loan is secured by pledge of
shares and a parent guarantee issued by the Company, and matures in 2019.

Romania

Vard Tulcea SA has a EUR 18.3 million term loan with Unicredit. The loan matures in September 2020 and is secured by pledge
in the property, plant and equipment of Vard Tulcea SA.

Brazil

Vard Promar SA has a long-term financing agreement of USD 101 million maturing in 2029. The loan is secured by mortgage
and statutory lien of ownership of land, machinery and equipment. 							

(C) CONSTRUCTION LOANS
Interest rates 2017
2017
				Undrawn
			
Drawn
amount
Lowest Highest
amount year end

2016
Total		 Undrawn
Total
construction
Drawn
amount construction
loan facility
amount year end loan facility

Construction loans							
- Norway
2.30%
3.75%
2,726
281
4,977
2,511
- Singapore			
- Brazil
2.50%
9.40%
2,926
3,279
2,737
Total			
5,652
281
8,256
5,248

-

7,949
3,413
11,362

Fixed interest rates
2.50%
4.45%
Variable interest rates
2.30%
9.40%
Total			

-

3,206
8,156
11,362

2,844
2,808
5,652

281
281

3,206
5,050
8,256

2,558
2,690
5,248

Construction loans are project specific and these borrowings are secured by the vessels under construction. There is a
separate approval process and loan agreement for each loan. The loans are drawn down as the construction of the projects
progresses. Available amount to be drawn at each individual loan is a defined percentage of cost incurred for the relevant
project, in addition the sum of all loans with each bank must be within the total construction loan facility. The loans must be
fully repaid at the earliest of the contractual maturity date of the loan and the actual delivery date of the project. The
contractual maturity date when the loan is granted, covers the period up until the contractual delivery date. Interest expense on
the borrowings are recorded within Materials and Subcontract cost in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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The total construction loan facility for Norway totalling NOK 4.98 billion (2016: 7.95 billion) comprises a facility of NOK 1.32
billion (2016: NOK 4.94 billion) with Nordea, NOK 1.20 billion (2016: NOK 1.20 billion) with DNB, NOK 0.9 billion (2016: NOK 0.9
billion) with Sparebank 1 SMN and EUR 67 million with Deutsche Bank. The construction loan facility with Sparebank 1 SMN
can be extended to NOK 1.8 billion (2016: NOK 1.81 billion), if there are GIEK guarantees available for the projects.
The utilization of the above construction loan facilities is based on assessment by the bank on a project-by-project basis with
regards to counterparty, security package, and take-out documentation.
The Brazilian construction loans are with Banco do Brasil SA and BNDES on a project-by-project basis. The project financing
facilities were limited to BRL 46 million (2016: BRL 78 million) and USD 386 million (2016: USD 365 million).
As of the date of approval of the financial statements there are projects in the order book without construction loans. The Group
intend to finance these projects by utilising existing construction loan framework agreements.

(D)
COVENANTS
		
Covenant

Nordea (Vard Group AS)
Nordea (Vard Singapore Pte Ltd)
DNB (Vard Group AS)
SMN (Vard Group AS)
Innovasjon Norge (Vard Group AS)
SMN (Vard Electro AS)*

Minimum
consolidated
liquidity

500
500
500
500
500
16

Minimum
consolidated
equity

1,500
1,500
1,500
1,500
1,500
-

Term loans
(A) with
covenant

25
110
53

Construction
loan (B) with
covenant

1,318
255
839
-

* Minimum consolidated cash calculated on Vard Electro stand alone
During the last quarter of 2017 Vard Group AS successfully negotiated a change in the financial covenants applied to its
liabilities, obtaining a reduction of the Minimum Consolidated Equity from NOK 2,700 million to NOK 1,500 million and a
replacement of the Consolidated Working Capital covenant with a Minimum Consolidated Liquidity covenant, with threshold at
NOK 500 million. The DNB constrution loans only maintain the Consolidated Working Capital covenant but with minimum level
lowered from the previous NOK 1,000 million to NOK 0 million. The covenants applied to the SMN long-term loan in favor of
Vard Electro AS were negotiated as well, and the previous Consolidated Working Capital and Equity were replaced by a
minimum liquidity level to be calculated on Vard Electro AS stand alone, with threshold set at NOK 16 million. The Group
complied with all its covenant at the end of 2017.
In the event of a shipbuilding contract being terminated, the bank has the right to accelerate the maturity date of the loan,
unless the Group is able to provide acceptable security.
Some of the loan agreements includes material adverse change clauses, which also refer to conditions relating to the Group’s
customers, that can accelerate the maturity date of the construction loans. The Group has received confirmations from the
relevant banks, that no material adverse effect events have been identified for any of the construction loans.			

20 Other non-current liabilities
Non-current firm commitments hedge accounting
Slot reservation agreement
Total

Group
2017
2016
27
831
555
831
582

Company
2017
2016
-

The slot reservation agreement refers to the agreement entered into between Vard Tulcea and FINCANTIERI during 2016 to
reserve capacity at the yard to produce steel blocks for cruise vessels in the period 2016 to 2021. In order for FINCANTIERI to
secure Vard Tulcea’s production capacity for an extended period of time and for Vard Tulcea to further secure its order book in
the cruise production, during 2017 the orignial agreement was further extended to increase the reserved capacity until 2023.
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The new agreement provides for a total slot reservation fee of EUR 87 million, of wich EUR 62 million was already included in
the previous agreement. The reservation fee cannot be offset against instalments on steel blocks before September 2019. For
the Consolidated statement of cash flow, it has been determined that a presentation within cash flows from operating activities
is the most appropriate taking into account the nature of this agreement.

21 Provisions		
Group
Warranties
Other
Total
At 1 January 2017
70
167
237
Provisions made during the year
50
8
58
Provisions utilized during the year
(25)
(35)
(60)
Provisions reversed during the year
(27)
(22)
(49)
Currency translation differences
(1)
(1)
At 31 December 2017
68
117
185
Representing:				
Non–current
4
83
87
Current
64
34
98
Total
68
117
185
Group
Warranties
Other
Total
At 1 January 2016
74
138
212
Provisions made during the year
71
43
114
Provisions utilized during the year
(43)
(8)
(51)
Provisions reversed during the year
(31)
(6)
(37)
Currency translation differences
(1)
(1)
At 31 December 2016
70
167
237
Representing:				
Non–current
0
96
96
Current
70
71
141
Total
70
167
237
Other provisions include environmental clean-up costs of NOK 74 million (2016: NOK 75 million), legal claims of NOK 11 million
(2016: NOK 29 million), restructuring provisions of NOK 9 million (2016: 23 million), as well as several other liabilities faced
during the normal course of business, and provided for according to FRS 37, totalling NOK 23 million (2016: NOK 40 million). 		

Provisions for warranties relate to completed contracts and contractual guarantee work after vessel delivery. The warranty
period is normally one to two years, but some of the provisions may relate to a longer period.			
		
Provisions for warranties are recognized based on past experience for corresponding projects.			
			

22 Trade and other payables		
Trade payables
Accrued expenses
Salary and social costs
VAT
Total
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2017
1,096
678
149
128
2,051

Group

2016
1,045
339
150
102
1,636

Company
2017
2016
1
1
1
1
2
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23 Other current liabilities							

		

					

Firm commitments hedge accounting
Liabilities to FINCANTIERI
Others
Total

2017
24
785
809

Group

2016
10
394
404

Company
2017
2016
2
1
2
1

Liabilities to FINCANTIERI relates to cost incurred for services, and advance payments received on projects. 			
The cost incurred for services is 28 million and due within a year.						

24 Revenue
						

								

Construction contract revenue
Sale of goods
Rendering of services
Total revenue
								

2017
8,328
47
228
8,603

Group

2016
7,673
31
190
7,894

			

25 Salaries and related costs								
						

Salaries and wages
Social security contributions
Pension costs
Other employee benefits
Total

2017
1,933
291
48
26
2,298

Group

2016
1,823
244
43
52
2,162

Directors’ fees amounting to NOK 2.5 million (2016:NOK 2.5 million) are included in salaries and related costs paid to directors
of the Company during the financial year. Remuneration to key management personnel are disclosed in Note 35.			
All employees in Norway are included in defined contribution plans with life insurance companies. In addition most of the
employees in Norway are included in an early retirement plan (AFP). After the plan was modified in 2011 this plan has been
defined as a defined benefit multi-enterprise plan, but is recognized in the accounts as a defined contribution plan, because
reliable and sufficient information is not available for the Group to recognize its proportional share of pension cost, liabilities
and assets. 									
									
The Group’s companies outside Norway have pension plans based on local practice and regulations. These plans are defined
contribution plans.												
														

VARD ANNUAL REPORT 2017

98

NOTES

NOTES
(All amounts in NOK millions unless otherwise stated)

26 Other operating expenses
Group
Other operating expenses include:
2017
2016
Auditors’ remuneration:
- auditors of the Company
1
1
- other auditors*
7
8
Non-audit fees:			
- other auditors*
2
2
Rent and leasing expenses (Note 34)
42
32
Office and administration expenses
143
86
Research and development
7
7
Travel and employee expenses
56
54
Marketing and communication
23
28
Repair and maintenance
59
43
IT expenses
43
41
Consultants and other external sevices
75
52
Sundry operating expenses
83
161
Total
541
515
* Includes the network of member firms of PricewaterhouseCoopers International Limited (PwCIL)			

27 Financial income and financial costs
Financial income
Interest income on loan and receivables, including bank deposits
Dividend income
Foreign exchange gain
Other financial income
Total

2017
34
194
5
233

Group

2016
36
281
6
323

Financial costs			
Interest expense on loans and borrowings
(82)
(78)
Foreign exchange loss
(168)
(133)
Bank charges
(13)
(5)
Change in fair value of available for sale financial assets
(7)
(29)
Other financial expenses
(69)
(37)
Total
(339)
(282)
Net financial items
(106)
41
The Group has a net foreign exchange income of NOK 26 million for FY2017, of which NOK 80 million are net unrealized income
and NOK 54 million net realized loss. NOK 25 million of the unrealized income are related to the long-term loan in Vard Promar
denominated in USD, while NOK 36 million of realized losses relate to instalments paid in 2017 on the same loan.		
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28 Income tax expenses		
The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profit arising or derived from the tax jurisdictions in which the Group
entities are domiciled and operate. 						
							

(A) INCOME TAX RECOGNIZED IN PROFIT OR LOSS

Group
2017
2016
		
(70)
(118)
16
3
(54)
(115)

Current tax expense:
Current year
Over/(under) provision in respect of prior years
Total

Deferred tax expense:			
Origination and reversal of temporary differences
58
74
Over provisions in respect of prior years
Changes in tax rates
2
3
Tax assets previously not recognized/(written off)
Total
60
77
Total income tax expense
6
(38)

(B) INCOME TAX RECOGNIZED IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME		
Before
tax

2017

Tax
expense

Net
of tax

2016

Before
tax

Tax

Net

Group
benefit
of tax
Other comprehensive income
						
Exchange differences on
translation of foreign operations
89
89
(122)
(122)
Income tax on translation exchange difference on							
monetary items considered as part of the
Group’s net investment in foreign subsidiary
(111)
18
(93)
(282)
81
(201)
Income tax on cash flow hedge
56
(14)
42
(49)
12
(37)
Total
34
4
38
(453)
93
(360)
Tax expense related to other comprehensive income is current tax.

(C) RECONCILIATION OF EFFECTIVE TAX RATE								
%
Profit/(loss) before tax		
Tax at the domestic rates applicable to profits
in the countries where the Group operates
-23.8%
Over/(under) provision in respect of prior years
-6.6%
Income not subject to tax
-1.6%
Non deductible expenses
4.9%
Utilization of previously unrecognized tax assets
-0.4%
Tax asssets written off
0.0%
Tax losses and temporary differences for which no deferred
income tax asset was recognized
25.8%
Change in tax rates
-0.8%
Total income tax expense in profit or loss
-2.5%

2017

2016

Amount

%

Amount

58
16
4
(12)
1
-

-23.9%
-1.9%
-8.8%
3.8%
-1.9%
0.0%

38
3
14
(6)
3
-

(63)
2
6

58.5%
-1.9%
23.9%

(93)
3
(38)

(244)		

(159)

The above reconciliation is prepared by aggregating separate reconciliations for each national jurisdiction.
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29 Earnings per share and diluted earnings per share
The Group’s basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated as follows:						
Group

Net profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company (NOK million)
Net profit /(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company (SGD million)
Weighted average number of shares (in millions)
Basic earnings / (loss) per share (NOK per share)
Basic earnings/(loss) per share (SGD cents per share)

2017
(233)
(38)
1,180
(0.20)
(3.22)

Adjusted weighted average number of shares (million) (in millions)
Diluted earnings per share (NOK per share)
Diluted earnings per share (SGD cents per share)

1,180
(0.20)
(3.22)

1,180
(0.14)
(2.32)

31.12.17
6.1410

31.12.16
5.9645

Exchange rates:
SGD/NOK

2016
(163)
(27)
1,180
(0.14)
(2.32)

There were no outstanding options to subscribe for shares as at 31 December 2017 (31 December 2016: 0).			
									
The SGD amounts are translated from NOK based on the exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date as shown above.

30 Operating segments
(A) REPORTABLE SEGMENTS							

The CEO is considered as the chief operating decision maker. The CEO reviews the results of all projects related to design and
construction of vessels as a basis for resource allocation decisions to the shipbuilding activities. The Group is not involved in any
other significant activities. As the CODM reviews the shipbuilding activities as a whole, management is of the view that the
activity of the group is considered as one reporting segment.

(B) GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION							

The Group has activity in 14 (2016: 14) countries and principally in Norway. In presenting geographical information, segmental
revenue is based on the geographical location of companies within the Group. Segmental assets are based on the geographical
location of the assets and the expenditure incurred.									

Norway
Romania*
Singapore
Vietnam**
Brazil
Canada
USA
Italy
Other countries
Total

2017
6,713
578
53
988
175
40
35
21
8,603

Revenue
2016
5,267
528
384
1,484
138
19
66
8
7,894

Non-current assets
2017
2016
1,458
1,256
1,405
1,151
243
270
1,037
1,157
28
30
1
1
1
2
27
4,175
3,892

* Revenue in Romania only relates to external revenues. 					
** Revenues from Singapore and Vietnam must be considered in total, as Vietnam operates principally as a subcontractor of
the Singapore company.
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(C) MAJOR CUSTOMERS							

							
The Group has a few single customers which have generated revenue individually of 10% or more of the Group’s revenue:		
%
Customer 1
21%
Customer 2
10%
Customer 3
10%
Total revenue		

2017
%
1,829
3%
898
1%
826
22%
3,553 		

2016
248
95
1,718
2,061

31

Financial risk management objectives and policies				
				
Overview							

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit risk, market risk (mainly interest rate risk and foreign
currency risk) and liquidity risk. The Group enters into derivative transactions, primarily forward foreign currency contracts, to
manage the Group’s exposure arising from its operations and sources of finance. It is the Group’s policy that no trading of
derivatives shall be undertaken.									

									
The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks.					
								

Credit risk							

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its
contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s loans, receivables and construction WIP in excess of
prepayments.									

									
The Group has an established process to evaluate the creditworthiness of its prospective customers. An internal credit review
and rating is carried out on the prospective customers prior to contract signing. The Group requires customers to have the
necessary funding in place at signing of the shipbuilding contract. In instances where the customer’s funding is not in place, the
Group would, where appropriate, obtain collaterals, including bank guarantees and letters of credit, from customers.		
									
There is no significant concentration of credit risk on outstanding financial instruments as at the reporting date.			
									
The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying values of each financial asset, as follows:		
										
Group
Company
2017
2016
2017
2016
Interest-bearing receivables (Note 9)
903
762
7
Other receivables less derivative financial
instruments, non-current (Note 10)
7
7
Trade and other receivables less advances to suppliers,
VAT and tax receivables (Note 16)
511
329
92
112
Derivative financial instruments
84
81
Construction WIP in excess of prepayments (Note 15)
6,537
5,594
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 17)
810
722
1
3
Total
8,852
7,495
93
122
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The age analysis of trade receivables that are not impaired is as follows:							
						
Group
Company
2017
2016
2017
2016
Not Due
235
102
2
2
0 - 30 days
46
24
2
7
31 - 120 days
36
23
21
26
121 - 365 days
40
8
15
49
More than 365 days
14
10
52
28
Total
371
167
92
112
For the Company, trade and other receivables consists of short-term intercompany receivables mainly towards Vard Group AS,
Vard Promar SA, Vard Electro AS, Vard Tulcea SA and Vard Singapore Pte Ltd.						
Allowance for impairment losses for trade receivables:		

Group
2017
2016
Gross amount
378
174
Less: Allowance for impairment losses
(7)
(7)
TOTAL
371
167
			
At 1 January
7
8
Allowance made/(written back)
Utilized
(1)
At 31 December
7
7
This is not applicable for the Company.			
Trade receivables that are individually determined to be impaired at the reporting date relate to non-shipbuilding receivables.		
Based on historic defaults rates, the Group believes that, apart from the above impaired receivables, no impairment allowance
is necessary in respect of trade receivables not past due and past due to the good credit records of the Group’s customers.		

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and the Company’s financial instruments will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. 									
The Group’s exposure to fluctuations in interest rate relates primarily to construction loan facilities, and some of the term
loans. Interest rate risk is managed on an on-going basis with the primary objective of limiting the extent to which net interest
expense could be affected by adverse movements in interest rates.							
									
Normally the Group will enter into construction loans with floating rates in Norway and Singapore/Vietnam and fixed rate
construction loans in Brazil (as fixed rate loan facilities are more commonly available in Brazil than floating rate loan facilities).
									
No derivative financial instruments are entered into to manage the interest rate risks of the Group and the construction
contracts do not transfer the interest rate risk to the customer.								
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At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest bearing financial instruments was:			
Group
Company
2017
2016
2017
2016
Fixed rate instruments				
Financial assets (Interest bearing receivables)
95
Financial liabilities (loans and borrowings)
3,740
3,549
Variable rate instruments				
Financial assets (cash and cash equivalents)
810
722
1
3
Financial assets (interest bearing receivables)
808
762
7
Financial liabilities (loans and borrowings)
3,829
3,191
431
-

Sensitivity analysis

A change of 50 basis points (“bp”) in interest rates at reporting date would have affected profit or loss by the amounts shown
below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.					
Group
Profit and loss
50bp
50bp
increase
decrease

Company
Profit and loss
50bp
50bp
increase
decrease

At 31 December 2017					
Variable rate instruments (net)
(8)
8
(1)
1
Cash flow sensitivity (net)
(8)
8
(1)
1
At 31 December 2016
Variable rate instruments (net)
Cash flow sensitivity (net)

(19)
(19)

19
19

2
2

(2)
(2)

Foreign currency risk							

As a part of the operations take place in countries other than Norway (such as Romania, Singapore, Vietnam and Brazil), the
Group’s financial performance can be affected, especially by movements in the USD/BRL, EUR/NOK and USD/NOK. Because of
the non-current financing denominated in USD for Vard Promar, USD/BRL is the currency cross that has the biggest impact on
the consolidated financial statements. 									
									
The entities in the Group manages their foreign currency exposure arising from each construction contract project separately.
Forward foreign currency contracts are used to hedge this foreign exchange risk. These forward foreign currency contracts are
designated as fair value hedge instruments. The Group also use forward foreign currency contracts to hedge foreign exchange
risk on moneraty items, not related to the construction contract projects. The Group does not use forward foreign currency
contracts for trading purposes.											
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Overview of derivatives			
Fair value hedges
Forward foreign currency contracts
Non-current derivatives (assets)
Fair value hedges
Forward foreign currency contracts
Non-hedging instruments
Forward foreign currency contracts
Current derivatives (assets)

Group
2017

2016

-

28
28

48

25

36
84

28
53

Fair value hedges		
Forward foreign currency contracts
(168)
(32)
Non-current derivatives (liabilities)
(168)
(32)
Fair value hedges
Forward foreign currency contracts
Cash flow hedges
Forward foreign currency contracts
Non-hedging instruments
Forward foreign currency contracts
Current derivatives (liabilities)

(50)

(247)

(294)

(332)

(19)
(363)

(12)
(591)

Sensitivity analysis			

A strengthening of the following foreign currencies as indicated below against the functional currencies of the Company and its
subsidiaries at the reporting date, would have increased/(decreased) profit and loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis
is based on foreign exchange rate variances that the Group considered to be reasonably possible at the end of the reporting
period. This analysis also assumes that all other variables remain constant.			
		
2017
2016
USD/NOK (5% strengthening)
(2)
(6)
EUR/NOK (5% strengthening)
(15)
(23)
Total (Functional currency NOK)
(17)
(29)
USD/BRL (5% strengthening)
(42)
(46)
EUR/RON (5% strengthening)
12
3
The effect of foreign currency risk is immaterial for the Company.			
A weakening of the above foreign currencies against the functional currencies of the Company and its subsidiaries at the
reporting date would have equal but opposite effects on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all
other variables remain constant.			
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Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are
settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Group monitors its net operating cash flows based on individual
construction contracts. The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the
use of available credit facilities, construction financing and advance payments from contracts.				
					
The table below analyses the maturity profile of the Group’s and Company’s financial liabilities based on the gross contractual
undiscounted cash flow.
								Total
Carrying contractual
Within
Within
Group
amount
cash flow
1 year 1 – 5 years
> 5 years
At 31 December 2017						
Non–derivative financial liabilities
Trade payables, salary and social costs (Note 22)
(1,245)
(1,245)
(1,245)
Derivative liabilities (Note 31)
(531)
(531)
(363)
(168)
Construction loans (Note 19)
(5,652)
(5,770)
(5,298)
(472)
Term loans and current facilities (Note 19)
(1,917)
(2,137)
(927)
(718)
(492)
Total
(9,345)
(9,683)
(7,833)
(1,358)
(492)
At 31 December 2016						
Non–derivative financial liabilities
Trade payables, salary and social costs (Note 22)
(1,195)
(1,195)
(1,195)
Derivative liabilities (Note 31)
(623)
(623)
(591)
(32)
Construction loans (Note 19)
(5,248)
(5,386)
(2,924)
(2,462)
Term loans and current facilities (Note 19)
(1,492)
(1,757)
(488)
(656)
(613)
Total
(8,558)
(8,961)
(5,198)
(3,150)
(613)
		Total
Carrying contractual
Within
Within
Company
amount
cash flow
1 year 1 – 5 years
> 5 years
At 31 December 2017						
Non–derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables (Note 22)
(1)
(1)
(1)
Other current liabilities (Note 23)
(2)
(2)
(2)
Total
(3)
(3)
(3)
At 31 December 2016						
Non–derivative financial liabilities
Trade payables, salary and social costs (Note 22)
(1)
(1)
(1)
Total
(1)
(1)
(1)
-
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ACCOUNTING CLASSIFICATION AND FAIR VALUES
Fair value disclosures

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement of
financial position, are as follows:
		
Fair
		
value –
		
Hedging
Group
Note instruments

Fair		Amortized
value –		
cost –
AvailableLoans and
Financial
for-sale
receivables
liabilities

Total
carrying
amount

Fair
value

12
903
371
84
810
2,180

12
901
371
84
810
2,178

31 December 2017
Financial assets
Other investments
8
Interest-bearing receivables
9
Trade and other receivables
16
Current and non-current derivatives		
Cash and cash equivalents
17
Total		

84
84

12
12

903
371
810
2,084

-

Financial liabilities
Non-current loans and borrowings
19
Other non-current liabilities
20
Current and non-current derivatives		
Trade and other payables
22
Current loans and borrowings
19
Total		

(531)
(531)

-

-

(1,045)
(831)
(1,245)
(6,524)
(9,645)

31 December 2016
Financial assets
Other investments
8
Interest-bearing receivables
9
Trade and other receivables
16
Current and non-current derivatives
31
Cash and cash equivalents
17
Total		

81
81

19
19

762
174
722
1,658

-

19
762
174
81
722
1,758

19
644
174
81
722
1,640

Financial liabilities
Non-current loans and borrowings
19
Other non-current liabilities
20
Current and non-current derivatives
31
Trade and other payables
22
Current loans and borrowings
19
Total		

(623)
(623)

-

-

(1,049)
(582)
(1,195)
(5,691)
(8,517)

(1,049)
(582)
(623)
(1,195)
(5,691)
(9,140)

(1,063)
(582)
(623)
(1,195)
(5,691)
(9,154)

Interest rates used for determining fair value

(1,045)
(1,037)
(831)
(831)
(531)
(531)
(1,245)
(1,245)
(6,524)
(6,524)
(10,176) (10,168)

The interest rates used to discount estimated cash flows, when applicable, are based on management’s best estimates and the
discount rates are the market interest rates for a similar instrument at the reporting date. The discount rates used for
non-current loans and borrowings for both years were 2%-6%.								
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Fair value hierarchy

The table below analyses financial instruments carried out at fair value, by valuation methods as at 31 December 2017 and 2016.
Group
At 31 December 2017
Assets
Available-for-sale financial assets
Derivatives
Total assets

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

6
6

84
84

6
6

12
84
96

Liabilities					
Derivatives
(531)
(531)
Total liabilities
(531)
(531)
Total
6
(447)
6
(435)
				
At 31 December 2016
Assets
Available-for-sale financial assets
13
6
19
Derivatives
81
81
Total assets
13
81
6
100
Liabilities				
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit an loss
(13)
(13)
Derivatives
(623)
(623)
Total liabilities
(623)
(13)
(636)
Total
13
(542)
(7)
(536)
The Company has no financial assets or liabilities carried at fair value.
The different levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:
• Level 1 – Fair values are measured based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
• Level 2 – Fair values are measured using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).
• Level 3 – Fair values are measured using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUES
Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example the derivative contracts) is
determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximize the use of observable market data where it is
available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument
are observable. The instrument is included in level 2. If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market
data, the instrument is included in level 3.

Derivatives

The fair value of forward currency contracts is determined using the forward exchange rates at the reporting date, with the
resulting value discounted back to present value.

Securities

The fair value of the available-for-sale equity instruments in level 3 is based primarily on unobservable data, as these
instruments are not actively traded and not comparable to any actively traded securities. The fair value is determined using
other valuation techniques.

Financial liabilities									

Level 3 also includes the financial liabilities relating to the fair value of options on equity investments calculated using valuation
techniques whose inputs are not observable on the market.
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32 Acquisition of subsidiary, transactions with non-controlling interests
and disposal group classified as held for sale				
		

Acquisition of subsidiary in 2016

Storvik Aqua AS
On 1 November 2016 the Group acquired the entire shareholding interest in Storvik Aqua AS (including its subsidiaries) from
Storvik Aqua Holding AS, an unrelated party.
Storvik Aqua is a leading supplier of equipment within feeding, measurement and control solutions to the aquaculture industry,
with operations in Norway, Chile and Scotland.
Upon closing, 5.36% of the shares in Storvik Aqua was sold to an entity held by key management as part of a share retention
scheme. Consequent to the acquisition, Storvik Aqua becomes a 94.64% held subsidiary of Vard Group AS. The shareholding
will increase to 100% in three steps between 2017 and 2019. Based on the analysis of the transfer of risks and rewards, no
minority interest were recognized in 2016 Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Consideration transferred
The consideration for the transaction was NOK 35 million, fully paid, at closing in cash.					

Fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Note
Property, plant and equipment
4
Intangible assets (systems developed)
5
Cash and cash equivalents		
Other current assets		
Deferred tax liabilities		
Non-current loans and borrowings		
Other current liabilities		
Total identifiable net assets and book value		
Consideration transferred		
Goodwill recognized in the transaction		

2016
1
4
3
32
2
(10)
(10)
22
35
13

The excess value is attributable mainly to the competence and knowhow of the company’s employees and synergies with other
group companies. This cannot be separately valued, and hence allocated to goodwill. This represents future economic benefits
accruing to the Group. None of the goodwill recognized is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. Goodwill attributable to
the non-controlling shareholders has not been recognized. The expected synergies with other Group companies relates to
different cash generating units. There has not been any subsequent changes in the purchase price allocation compared to the
intitial purchase price allocation done in 2016.
Cash flows
Total consideration for acquisition of subsidiary
Cash acquired
Net cash outflows

2016
35
(3)
32

Transactions with non-controlling interests in 2016								

								
On 5 August 2016, the Group increased the ownership stake in Vard Promar from 50.5% to 95.15% as a result of a capital
increase of BRL 532 million in Promar that, not being underwritten by minorities, was entirely taken up by Vard Group AS
through the conversion of shareholder loans into newly issued equity, with no cash consideration. As part of the overall
agreement between VARD and its long-term partner in Brazil, PJMR Empreendimentos Ltda. (“PJMR”), and providing for an
amicable termination of the partnership, the parties have agreed (i) a consideration of BRL 6 million (NOK 16 million) to
terminate the shareholders agreement and for the assignment of the preemptive rights that was satisfied in cash and (ii) put
and call options for PJMR’s remaining 4.85% shareholding in Vard Promar. Hence, from the date of the agreement the
remaining non-controlling interest in Vard Promar has been derecognized from equity.
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On 26 May 2017 PJMR exercised its put option, making Vard Promar a wholly-owned subsidiary of Vard Group AS. The
consideration for the transaction was BRL 5.5 million (NOK 14 million), satisfied in cash.

Assets and liabilities of disposal group classified as held for sale in 2016					
During the 4Q 2016 the Group initiated an active program to locate a buyer for it subsidiary Multifag AS, a 100% held subsidiary
of Vard Group AS. The subsidiary is currently marketed actively at a price that is reasonable, in relation to its fair value, and the
sale is expected to be completed whithin one year from the classification as held for sale. 					
The following assets and liabilities were reclassified as held for sale as at 31 December 2016:
Property, plant and equipment
Long-term investments
Other non-current assets
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Other current assets
Total assets
Advances from customers
Accounts payable
Other current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets

2016
3
3
2
19
26
4
57
(21)
(8)
(15)
(44)
13

On 10 April 2017 Vard Group AS has divested its entire shareholding stake in Multifag AS for a consideration of NOK 12 million.
The divestment had no material impacts on the earnings per share or the net tangible assets per share of the Group for the
current financial year.

			

33 Capital management

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains healthy capital ratios so as to maintain
investors’, creditors’ and market confidence and to support and sustain future development of the business. The Group seeks
to maintain a healthy balance between higher returns that might be possible with higher levels of borrowings, and the
advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position.
Financing of major investments and acquisitions shall as far as possible be done by long-term debt, with a maturity profile that
corresponds to the useful life of the investment.
As a general rule the Group will obtain construction financing for each respective construction project tailored to the
negotiated payment terms for the various projects and with a pledge in the objective under construction. Through this way of
financing the Group will in essence be debt free upon delivery of the orderbook (disregarding any long-term debt related to
major investments).
The Group monitors its cash needs through its Group Treasury department which develops rolling cash forecasts with both
monthly, semi-annually, annual and 5-year horizons. Based on these forecasts the Group is able to implement necessary
actions if needed.
Capital consists of paid up capital, other reserves, retained earnings and non-controlling interests of the Group. The Board of
Directors monitors the return of capital as well as the level of dividends to the shareholders. There were no changes in the
Group’s approach to capital management during the year.
Except from covenant requirements as described in Note 19, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to
externally imposed capital requirements. The Group monitors covenant compliance both in terms of working capital and equity
levels at the group levels required.
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34 Operational lease commitments
Operating lease rentals are payable as follows:										
							
Group
2017
2016
Within one year
44
53
Between one and five years
86
88
More than five years
103
106
Total
233
247
Vard Holdings Limited did not have any lease commitments as of 31 December 2017 and 2016.				
The Group’s operating lease relates to primarily to yard and building leases. The group has a yard lease with a remaining lease
period of two years. 									
During the financial year, an amount of NOK 56 million was recognized as an expense in profit or loss in respect of operational
leases (2016: NOK 91 million). 											
							 							
				.

35 Related parties

(A) PARENT AND ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

Fincantieri Oil & Gas S.p.A is the immediate holding company of the Company. The ultimate holding company is Cassa Depositi
e Prestiti S.p.A., incorporated in Italy. 									
		

(B) TRANSACTIONS WITH KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
Key management personnel compensation

The Group’s principles relating to remuneration to the Group’s key management personnel are to cultivate a
performance-based corporate culture based on the Group’s values, and to motivate contribution to good financial performance
and greater value creation for the shareholders of the Group. The Group’s key management personnel participate in the
Group’s collective pension plan, under which all employees are entitled to a pension contribution amounting to 5.0% of salary
up to 12 times the social security base amount.
Remuneration to key management personnel of the Group during the year is as follows:
Numbers in NOK thousand
Base salary
Variable pay
Other benefits
Pension benefit
Total

2017
16,761
1,404
151
458
18,774

C) OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS		

Group

2016
17,923
193
433
18,549

The following transactions took place between the Group and related parties, who are not members of the Group, during the
financial year on terms agreed between the parties concerned:

VARD ANNUAL REPORT 2017

NOTES

111

TRANSACTIONS AND AGREEMENTS WITH RELATED PARTIES		
Sales of goods and services
Sales of construction contracts and engineering services to parent company
Sale of electrical eqiupment and electrical package to parent company
Secondment of personnel to parent company
Guarantee commission, associates
Interest income, associates
Sales of vessels and services to associates
Total sales of goods and services

2017
561
62
5
4
157
789

2016
413
107
8
4
3
317
852

Purchases of goods and services
Secondment of personnel from parent company
Other operating expenses, parent company
Total purchases of goods and services

(8)
(32)
(40)

(5)
(10)
(15)

Agreements entered into without impact on cost or revenues in the period
Agreement regarding extension of barge owned by FINCANTIERI
Slot reservation agreement*
Contract between Marine Interiors S.p.A. and VARD for accomodation modules
Contract for manufacturing and outfitting of a ship-part to parent company
Total agreements entered into without impact on cost or revenues in the period

240
240

584
295
248
1,127

Sales of vessels and services to associates, mainly relates to sales of vessels and where the share of profit is eliminated in the
group, see also note 7.
						
* Vard Tulcea has entered into a new agreement with FINCANTIERI to increase the reserved capacity at the yard to produce
steel blocks for cruise vessels until 2023. The new agreement substitutes the one previously signed in 2016, and provides for a
total slot reservation fee of EUR 87 million (NOK 831 million), of which EUR 62 million was already included in the previous
agreement. The reservation fee is presented as other non-current liabilities in the statement of financial position.		
Outstanding balances receivable from/payable to related parties are disclosed in Notes 9, 16 and 23 accordingly. 		
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36 Group of companies
The subsidiaries included in the Vard Holdings Limited Group at 31 December 2017 were as follows:

Place of incorporation		

Effective equity
held by the Group
2017 		 2016
%
%

Name of the company
and business
Principal activities
Vard Group AS
Norway
Shipbuilding
100
100
Vard Shipholding Singapore Pte. Ltd.
Singapore
Shipowner
100
100
Subsidiaries of Vard Group AS						
Vard Vard Electro AS
Norway
Electrical engineering and installation
100
100
Vard RO Holding SRL
Romania
Holding company
100
100
Vard Niterói SA
Brazil
Dormant
100
100
Vard Promar SA 1)
Brazil
Shipbuilding
100
95
Estaleiro Quissamã Ltda.
Brazil
Dormant
51
51
Vard Singapore Pte. Ltd.
Singapore
Project development and engineering
100
100
Vard Design AS
Norway
Project development and ship design
100
100
Vard Accommodation AS
Norway
Accommodation installation
100
100
Vard Piping AS
Norway
Pipe installation
100
100
Seaonics AS
Norway
Ship equipment design and manufacturing
56
56
Vard Marine Inc.
Canada
Project development and ship design
100
100
Vard Contracting AS
Norway
Shipyard support services
100
100
Vard Seaonics Holding AS
Norway
Dormant
100
100
Norway
Engineering
100
70
Vard Engineering Brevik AS 2)
Vard Offshore Brevik AS
Norway
Offshore industrial services and installation
100
100
Multifag AS 3)
Norway
Offshore industrial services and installation
n/a
100
Vard Aqua Sunndal AS 4)
Norway
Equipment supply aquaculture industry
96
95
Subsidiaries of Vard Design AS						
Vard Design Liburna Ltd.
Croatia
Ship design
51
51
Subsidiaries of Vard Electro AS						
Vard Electro Tulcea SRL 5)
Romania
Electrical engineering and installation
100
100
Vard Electro Brazil (Instalações Elétricas) Ltda. 6)
Brazil
Electrical engineering and installation
100
100
Vard Electro Braila SRL
Romania
Electrical engineering and installation
100
100
Vard Electrical Installation and Engineering
(India) Private Limited 7)
India
Electrical engineering and installation
100
100
Vard Electro Italy S.r.l.
Italy
Electrical engineering and installation
100
100
Vard Electro Canada Inc.
Canada
Electrical engineering and installation
100
100
Subsidiaries of Vard RO Holding SRL						
Vard Tulcea SA 8)
Romania
Shipbuilding
100
100
Vard Braila SA 9)
Romania
Shipbuilding
100
100
- Vard Ship Repair Braila SA 10)
Romania
Ship repair and maintenance
100
100
Vard Engineering Constanta SRL 11)
Romania
Engineering
100
100
Subsidiary of Seaonics AS
			
ICD Software AS
Norway
Automation and control system software
56
56
- Seaonics Polska sp. z.o.o.
Poland
Ship equipment design
56
56
- SIA ICD Industries Latvia
Latvia
Automation and control system software
56
56
- Industrial Control Design AS
Norway
Automation and control system software
56
56
CDP Technologies AS
Norway
Automation and control system software
56
56
- CDP Technologies Estonia OÜ
Estonia
Automation and control system software
56
56
Subsidiary of Vard Marine Inc. 						
Vard Marine US Inc.
USA
Project development and ship design
100
100
Subsidiary of Vard Singapore Pte. Ltd.						
Vard Vung Tau Ltd.
Vietnam
Shipbuilding
100
100
Subsidiary of Vard Accommodation AS						
Vard Accommodation Tulcea SRL 12)
Romania
Accommodation installation
100
100
Subsidiaries of Vard Engineering Brevik AS						
Vard Engineering Gdansk sp. z o.o. 13)
Poland
Engineering
100
70
Subsidiaries of Multifag AS
					
Brevik Elektro AS 14)
Norway
Electrical installation
n/a
100
Subsidiaries of Vard Aqua Sunndal AS						
Vard Aqua Chile SA 15)
Chile
Equipment supply aquaculture industry
92
90
Vard Aqua Scotland Ltd. 16)
United Kingdom
Equipment supply aquaculture industry
96
95
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1) Increased shareholding from 95.15% to 100%
2) Increased shareholding from 70% to 100%
3) Company sold FY2017
4) Increased shareholding from 94.64% to 96.42%.
Previous name Storvik Aqua AS
5) Vard Electro AS 99.96%, Stig Bjørkedal 0.04%
6) Vard Electro AS 99%, Vard Group AS 1%
7) Vard Electro AS 99%, Vard Electro Tulcea SRL 1%
8) Vard RO Holding 99.996%, Vard Group, 0.004%
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9) Vard RO Holding SRL 94.12%, Vard Group AS 5.88%					
10) Company is under Liquidation					
11) Vard RO Holding SRL 70%, Vard Braila SA 30%					
12) Vard Accommodation AS 99.77%, Vard Electro Tulcea SRL 0.23%				
13) Increased indirect shareholding to 100% due to increased shareholding
in Vard Engineering Brevik AS					
14) Company sold FY2017					
15) Previous name: Storvik SA. Vard Aqua Sunndal AS 95%, David Antonio Ulloa Walker 5%
16) Previous name: Storvik Aqua Ltd.					

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP are the auditors of the Singapore-incorporated subsidiary. Other member firms of PricewaterhouseCoopers

International Limited (PwCIL) are auditors of all significant foreign-incorporated subsidiaries. 						
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NOTES
(All amounts in NOK millions unless otherwise stated)

37 Contingencies and capital commitments
Guarantee obligations

As part of its ordinary operations, completion guarantees and guarantees for advance payments from customers (refundment
guarantees) are issued. Such guarantees typically involve a financial institution that writes the guarantee vis-à-vis the customer.
						

Project risks and uncertainties

The Group’s operations are subject to long-term contracts, many of which are fixed-price, turnkey contracts that are
awarded on a competitive bidding basis. Failure to meet schedule or performance guarantees or increases in contract costs
can result in non-recoverable costs, which could exceed revenues realized from the applicable project. When a project is
identified as loss-making, forecasted loss is provisioned for according to FRS 11. The accounting treatment is based on
detailed project forecasts carried out by management on a monthly basis based on experience, events and best judgement
at each reporting date. Inevitably, such circumstances and information may be subject to change in subsequent periods and
thus the eventual outcome may be better or worse than the assessments made in drawing up periodical financial reports.
If the contractual delivery date for projects with construction loans is postponed, it will be necessary to request the lenders
to postpone the maturity date for the construction loans accordingly. If contracts for projects under construction are
terminated, extensions of the construction loans might be necessary in order to finalize the vessels for resale. If
construction loans are not extended in the event that projects are postponed or terminated, the Group will seek additional
funding through alternative debt financing and/or contributions from shareholders.					
			

Legal proceedings							

With its extensive worldwide operations, companies included in the Group are in the course of its activities involved in
numerous legal disputes. Provisions have been made to cover the expected outcome of the disputes to the extent that
negative outcomes are likely and reliable estimates can be made. However, the final outcome of these cases will always be
subject to uncertainties and resulting liabilities may exceed booked provisions. As of the reporting date, the Group is not part
of any ongoing legal dispute, which could have a material impact on the financial statements, and not already provided for
except for the claim against Petrobras Transporte S.A. (Transpetro) disclosed below.
Because of the losses incurred for eight shipbuilding contracts with Transpetro, the Group sought to renegotiate the terms
and conditions of the contracts at a commercial and administrative level pursuant to a specific provision in the shipbuilding
contract entitling such renegotiation. Efforts were made to reach an out-of-court settlement of the economic balance
claims, although an agreeable solution was not attained.
On 11 September 2015, the Group filed a judicial claim requesting compensation for the losses incurred and the
re-establishment of the economic balance of the agreements. The claim amounts to BRL 244 million (NOK 543 million).
Preliminary advisers evidence has confirmed the existence of imbalances, but the quantification of compensation and the
likelihood of a favourable ruling are subject to the final expert examination to be determined by the Court. In December 2015,
Transpetro sought to terminate the contracts for the construction of EP 07 and EP 08 and requested the return of the
advance payments made in connection with such agreements. This issue was also subjected to judicial review and is under
discussion in the State Court of Rio de Janeiro, and a sum equivalent to the advance payments was deposited in an escrow
account, and the amount was released to Transpetro in September 2016. The Group has not recognized any assets related to
the claims against Transpetro in the statement of financial position as of 31 December 2017, as this is considered a
contingent asset that do not qualify for recognition.
The claim is now in expert analysis phase, as the Court nominated expert is examining the evidence produced by both parties
to support their respective claims.
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Tax claim Brazil							

The previously reported tax claim in Brazil received from Vard Niterói in FY2014, was cancelled during 2017 by the Brazilian
authorities, which have ruled that the original claim was without substance. This decision cannot be appealed any further and
is thus definite. No provision had been made for the tax claim as an unfavorable assessment was deemed to be highly unlikely.
Hence, the decision had no material impact on the financial accounts of the Group.
On 3 March 2017 Vard Promar S.A. received a tax assessment notice regarding non-payment of municipal service taxes (“ISS”)
related to the delivery of vessels EP 01 and EP 02 to Transpetro on 9 July 2015 and 20 June 2016 respectively. The tax
ssessment amounts to BRL 12 million (NOK 31 million). VARD has filed an appeal against the ruling as it is deemed to have no
merit, and no payments are expected to be made before a final conclusion of the case. No provision has been made as of 31
December 2017 based on a legal opinion received concluding that it is more likely than not that VARD will succeed with its
appeal.
		

Clean-up costs							

The Group’s operations are subject to numerous national and supra-national environmental regulations, including removal and
clean-up of environmental contamination. Although there have to date been no indications that the Group has failed to comply
with applicable environmental rules, regulations or permits, current concentration limits for hazardous material will apply to
historical contamination, and any further studies or changes in concentration limits may result in further clean-up operations
or protective measures being imposed in the future. The costs related to such clean-up or protective measures may be
significant and could have a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition and results of operations. Although the
cost related to this can be material, the Group expects that the potential cost related to this can be covered within existing
provisions and normal operations without any material negative impact.							

			

38 Post balance sheet events
No significant post balance sheet events have occured in the period from 31 December 2017 up to the date of issuing these
financial statements.
		

39 Adoption of Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International)
The Singapore Accounting Standards Council has introduced a new Singapore financial reporting framework that is equivalent to
the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). The
new framework is referred to as ‘Singapore Financial Reporting Standards International’ (“SFRS(I)s”) hereinafter.			
						
As required by the listing requirements of the Singapore Exchange, the Group has adopted SFRS(I)s on 1 January 2018 and will
be issuing its first set of financial information prepared under SFRS(I) for the quarter ended 31 March 2018.			
						
In adopting SFRS(I)s, the Group is required to apply all of the specific transition requirements in SFRS(I)s 1 First-time Adoption
of Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International).The current Group accounting policies under the Financial R
 eporting
Standards (“FRSs”) are already aligned with the new SFRS(I)s. The only effects from the adoption of the new SFRS(I)s stemming
from the concurrent application of the new major SFRS(I)s equivalents of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and IFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers. As disclosed in note 3 (T) “New or revised accounting standards and interpretations not
adopted”, the estimated impact arising from the adoption of new SFRS(I)s on the Group’s financial statements is not significant.
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STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
As at 20 March 2018
Class of equity securities
Ordinary shares

Number of equity securities
1,180,000,000

Voting Rights
One vote for each share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS
Size of Shareholdings
1 - 99
100 - 1,000
1,001 - 10,000
10,001 - 1,000,000
1,000,001 and above
Total

Number of Shareholders
9
101
2,061
1,757
21
3,949

%
0.23
2.56
52.19
44.49
0.53
100.00

Number of Shares
235
93,900
13,292,099
95,480,085
1,071,133,681
1,180,000,000

%
0.00
0.01
1.13
8.09
90.77
100.00

%
81.33
-

Deemed Interest
959,638,010
959,638,010
959,638,010

%
81.33
81.33
81.33

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

(As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders)

Fincantieri Oil & Gas S.p.A.
FINCANTIERI S.p.A.*
Fintecna S.p.A. *
Cassa Depositi e Prestiti S.p.A. *

Direct Interest
959,638,010
-

* By virtue of Section 4 of the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore, these entities are deemed to be interested in the shares held by Fincantieri Oil & Gas S.p.A. in the Company. The relationship of the said entities is as follows:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)

FINCANTIERI S.p.A. is the immediate holding company of Fincantieri Oil & Gas S.p.A.
Fintecna S.p.A. holds 71.64% of FINCANTIERI S.p.A.
Cassa Depositi e Prestiti S.p.A. is the immediate holding company of Fintecna S.p.A.
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TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
No.

Name of Shareholders

Number of Shares

%

			
1.

HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD.

963,487,910

81.65

2.
3.

DBS NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED

27,498,000

2.33

CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD.

16,779,476

1.42

4.

DBSN SERVICES PTE. LTD.

13,899,800

1.18

5.

RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE.) LIMITED

11,299,103

0.96

6.

BPSS NOMINEES SINGAPORE (PTE.) LTD.

6,952,022

0.59

7.

MAYBANK KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE LTD.

3,576,030

0.30

8.

YAP MUI CHENG,ANGELA

3,345,900

0.28

9.

KOH WOON PUAY OR TAN CHWEE GUAN

2,534,000

0.21

10.

LEE KIM SONG

2,450,000

0.21

11.

OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LIMITED

2,424,000

0.21

12.

UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES (PRIVATE) LIMITED

2,352,201

0.20

13.

OCBC NOMINEES SINGAPORE PRIVATE LIMITED

1,974,800

0.17

14.

SIA SOK HIA @SIA LOKE KIEW

1,972,000

0.17

15.

CGS-CIMB SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE. LTD.

1,856,300

0.16

16.

UOB KAY HIAN PRIVATE LIMITED

1,781,000

0.15

17.

TAN BOON KENG KENNEDY

1,660,700

0.14

18.

PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD.

1,622,439

0.14

19.

HOW SOW CHUEN

1,400,000

0.12

1,139,000
1,070,004,681

0.10
90.69

20.

HL BANK NOMINEES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD.
TOTAL
			

PERCENTAGE OF SHAREHOLDING IN PUBLIC’S HANDS
Approximately, 18.67% of the Company’s shares are held in the hands of the Public. Accordingly, the Company has complied
with Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST.

VARD ANNUAL REPORT 2017

118

CONTACT INFORMATION

CONTACT INFORMATION
REGISTERED OFFICE

HEADQUARTERS

Vard Holdings Ltd.
Six Battery Road #10-01
Singapore 049909

Vard Group AS
P.O. Box 76
NO-6001 Ålesund, Norway
Tel. +47 70 21 06 00
mail@vard.com

SHIP DESIGN

SHIPBUILDING

Visiting address:
Skansekaia 2
NO-6002 Ålesund, Norway

EQUIPMENT AND SOLUTIONS

ACCOMMODATION

aukra@vard.com

Vard Accommodation AS
Tennfjordvegen 113
6264 Tennfjord, Norway
Tel: +47 70 21 06 00
accommodation@vard.com

Vard Electro Brazil
(Instalações Elétricas) Ltda.
Ilha de Tatuoca, SN, Zona Rural
CEP: 55.590-000 Ipojuca-PE, Brazil
Tel: +55 81 3561-2500
promar@vard.com

Vard Design Liburna Ltd.
Fiorella La Guardie 13
51000 Rijeka, Croatia
Tel: +385 91 3 281 769
design.liburna@vard.com

Vard Braila SA
1A Celulozei Str.
810282 Braila, Romania
Tel: +40 239 607 000
braila@vard.com

Vard Accommodation Tulcea SRL
22, Ing. Dumitru Ivanov Street
820242 Tulcea, Romania
Tel: +40 240 534 542
accommodation.tulcea@vard.com

Vard Electro Canada Inc.
2930 Virtual Way, Suite 180
Vancouver, BC V5M 0A5, Canada
Tel: +1 604 216 3360

Vard Marine Inc.
Vancouver office
2930 Virtual Way, Suite 180
Vancouver, BC V5M 0A5, Canada
Tel: +1 604 216 3360
marine@vard.com
vancouver.marine@vard.com

Vard Brattvaag
Strandgata 74
6270 Brattvåg, Norway
Tel: +47 70 21 06 00
brattvaag@vard.com

AQUACULTURE

DESIGN

Vard Design AS
P.O. Box 76
6001 Ålesund, Norway
Tel: +47 70 21 06 00
design@vard.com

Vard Marine US Inc.
Houston office
1880 South Dairy Ashford
Suite 425,
Houston, TX 77077, USA
Tel: +1 713 981 2012
houston.marine@vard.com
Vard Marine Inc.
Ottawa office
85 Albert Street
Suite 1502
Ottawa, ON K1P 6A4, Canada
Tel: +1 613 238 7979
ottawa.marine@vard.com

ENGINEERING

Vard Engineering Brevik AS
Strømtangvn. 19
3950 Brevik, Norway
Tel: +47 35 51 87 00
engineering.brevik@vard.com
Vard Engineering Constanta SRL
Mamaia Boulevard No. 243 – 245
900540 Constanta, Romania
Tel: +40 241 515 558
engineering.constanta@vard.com
Vard Engineering Gdansk sp.z o.o.
Ul. Trzy Lipy 3
80-172 Gdansk - Poland
Tel: +48 734 432 444
engineering.gdansk@vard.com
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YARDS
Vard Aukra
Nerbøvegen 104
6480 Aukra, Norway
Tel: +47 70 21 06 00

Vard Brevik
P.O. Box 15
3991 Brevik, Norway
Tel: +47 35 51 87 00
brevik@vard.com
Vard Langsten
Fjordvegen 420
6393 Tomrefjord, Norway
Tel: +47 70 21 06 00
langsten@vard.com
Vard Søviknes
Søvikneset 51
6280 Søvik, Norway
Tel: +47 70 21 06 00
soviknes@vard.com
Vard Tulcea SA
22, Ing. Dumitru Ivanov Street
820242 Tulcea, Romania
Tel: +40 240 534 026
tulcea@vard.com
Vard Vung Tau Ltd.
No. 6 St, Dong Xuyen Industrial Zone,
Rach Dua Ward, Vung Tau city,
Ba Ria Vung Tau Province,
Vietnam
Tel: +84 (0)254 3615 600
vungtau@vard.com
Vard Promar SA
AE Zona Industrial Portuária
Ilha de Tatuoca, SN, Ipojuca, PE
CEP: 55.590-000, Brazil
Tel: +55 81 3561-2500
promar@vard.com

Vard Aqua Sunndal AS
Industrivegen 3
6600 Sunndalsøra, Norway
Tel: +47 480 22 600
aqua.sunndal@vard.com
Vard Aqua Chile SA
Avenida Diego Portales 2000
Oficina 33
Puerto Montt, Chile
Tel: +56 65290305
chile@vard.com
Vard Aqua Scotland Ltd.
Kilmory Industrial Estate
Lochgilphead
Argyll PA318RR, United Kingdom
Tel: +44 1546 603989
aqua.scotland@vard.com

ELECTRO

Vard Electro AS
Tennfjordvegen 113
6264 Tennfjord, Norway
Tel: +47 70 21 06 00
electro@vard.com
Vard Electro AS
Brevik office
Strømtangveien 19
3950 Brevik, Norway
electro.brevik@vard.com
Vard Electro Braila SRL
1A, Celulozei Str.
810282 Braila, Romania
Tel: +40 239 607 336
electro.braila@vard.com

Vard Electro Italy SRL
Piazza della Vittoria 15/34
16121 Genova, Italy
electro.italy@vard.com
Vard Electro Tulcea SRL
22, Ing. Dumitru Ivanov Street
Electrical Section
820242 Tulcea, Romania
Tel: +40 240 534 026
electro.tulcea@vard.com
Vard Electrical Installation and
Engineering (India) Pvt. Ltd.
Fourth Floor, Mercy Estate 39/6814,
61/831 M G Road
Ravipuram, Ernakulam
Kochi - 682 015, India
Tel: +91 484 2355 430
electro.india@vard.com

HANDLING SYSTEMS

Seaonics AS
Nedre Strandgt. 29
6004 Ålesund, Norway
Tel: +47 71 39 16 00
mail@seaonics.com

Seaonics Polska Sp. Z o.o
Ul. Trzy Lipy 3
80-172 Gdansk, Poland
Tel: +48 58 739 64 60
poland@seaonics.com

PIPE SYSTEMS AND SERVICES

Vard Piping AS
Terøystranda 14
6280 Søvik, Norway
Tel: +47 70 21 06 00
piping@vard.com

ADDITIONAL ACTIVITIES

SOFTWARE

Vard Singapore Pte. Ltd.
12, Marina View,
#29-03 Asia Square Tower 2
Singapore 018961
Tel: +65 6836 0813
singapore@vard.com

CDP Technologies AS
Nedre Strandgt. 29
6004 Ålesund, Norway
Tel: +47 990 80 900
info@cdptech.com

Vard Shipholding
Singapore Pte. Ltd.
12, Marina View,
#29-03 Asia Square Tower
Singapore 018961
Tel: +65 6836 0813
singapore@vard.com

Industrial Control Design AS
Nedre Strandgt. 29
6004 Ålesund, Norway
Tel: +47 400 02 999
info@icd.no

CDP Technologies Estonia
Mäealuse 2/1, 12618 Tallinn,
Estonia
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